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Chairman’s Statement

EERIE

Dear Shareholders,

Despite the challenges faced in the past year, the Group achieved
satisfactory performance growth. During the Reporting Period, Kangji
Medical achieved a revenue of RMB1,008.6 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 8.9%, primarily attributed to increased
sales of disposable products. The profit attributable to owners of the
parent company reached RMB581.4 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 15.4%.

In 2024, the Group made significant achievements in the nationwide
centralized VBP activities for hemostatic tissue ligation clips and won
the bidding for a full range of ligation clip products, which laid a solid
foundation for the stable development of the Group’s business in the
future. This nationwide centralized VBP is expected to further promote
import substitution process, which will be conducive to further increase
the market share of the Company’s products. The Group’s overseas
business, benefiting from increased sales in the European market,
also maintained a relatively good growth momentum. The Company
will continue to allocate resources to seize the opportunities arising
from centralized procurement in the PRC, and accelerate overseas
product registration and market development, so as to consolidate the
foundation for sustainable development in the medium to long term.

The Group not only maintained its leading foothold in minimally invasive
surgical instruments and consumables, but also made a strategic
deployment in the promising field of laparoscopic surgical robots. The
Group’s strategic investment, Hangzhou Weijing Medical Robot Co.,
Ltd., focuses on the application and promotion of intelligent platform
for minimally invasive surgery. Its independently developed four-arm
laparoscopic surgical robot SR01-200 received approval from the NMPA
in April 2025 and is well positioned for development.
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The Group will continue to accurately grasp market demand by
upholding customer-centric approach, optimizing its product structure
and strengthening academic initiatives, and deepen support, sharing and
dissemination among healthcare professionals by organizing national
and regional academic exchanges, so as to promote the development of
China’s minimally invasive surgery industry.

Looking ahead, the aging population and increasing adoption of
minimally invasive surgical procedures are expected to drive sustained
growth in the minimally invasive surgical instruments and consumables
sector. Meanwhile, China’s accelerating healthcare reforms, including
the expanded centralized VBP initiatives, will benefit the healthy
development of leading domestic brands in medical devices, thereby
promoting R&D innovation and continuously contributing to the
development of the industry.

On behalf of the Board of directors, | would like to extend my sincere
appreciation to our valued shareholders for their trust and support, and
express heartfelt thanks to the management team and all employees for
their dedicated efforts. The Group will actively implement its development
strategies and continuously enhance its business performance and
corporate management to create greater value for shareholders.
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Corporate Information

NREFR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHONG Ming (Chairman)

Ms. SHENTU Yinguang

Mr. YIN Zixin

Non-executive Director

Ms. CAI Li

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. JIANG Feng

Mr. GUO Jian
Mr. CHEN Weibo

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. CHEN Weibo (Chairman)
Mr. JIANG Feng
Ms. CAI Li

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CHEN Weibo (Chairman)
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang
Mr. GUO Jian
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Mr. JIANG Feng
Mr. GUO Jian
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COMMITTEE
Mr. ZHONG Ming (Chairman)

Ms. SHENTU Yinguang
Mr. YIN Zixin

COMPANY SECRETARY
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AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. ZHONG Ming
Mr. YIN Zixin

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Appleby Global Services (Cayman) Limited
71 Fort Street

P.O. Box 500

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1106

Cayman Islands

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

No. 1668 Chunjiang East Road
Tonglu Economic Development Zone
Hangzhou

Zhejiang Province

PRC

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Cleary Gottlieb Steen and Hamilton (Hong Kong)
37/F, Hysan Place

500 Hennessy Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Flat 1007B, 10/F, Harbour Crystal Centre
100 Granville Road, Kowloon
Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

NREFR

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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Wanchai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS

T: +86 571 69900020
E: ir@kangji.com

WEBSITE

www.kangjimedical.com

STOCK CODE
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from/calculated based on

the audited financial statements is set out below:

Financial Highlights
MBERE

AEERBERETBRFENEEAREERS
BoBME (REERERVBRER REZER

REE/B)EIWT ¢

For the year ended December 31,
BZ12A3BLFE

&

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 2020%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
INFLEPA A RETT ARBTT ARETT ARBT
Revenue WA 1,008,610 926,023 786,367 690,263 511,490
Gross profit EH 797,649 741,199 635,247 562,926 431,470
Profit for the year FRFHE 571,277 452,295 461,174 456,789 259,150
Non-HKFRS adjusted net profit  FE(EBHBRE%EL])
for the year 18 R Rt 7 551,654 486,457 476,101 412,058 329,137
Profit attributable to owners of
the parent SRRV EB AR FE 581,438 504,021 478,735 456,789 250,296
Non-HKFRS adjusted net profit R &E%#HA AL
for the year attributable to (BB RELER)
owners of the parent* B FE LR 561,815 538,183 498,711 412,058 320,911
Earnings per share BRER
- Basic (RMB) -HAR(ARE) 49.45 cents  43.08 cents 39.63 cents 37.31 cents  26.27 cents
49.45% 43.0877 39.637 37317 26.277
- Diluted (RMB) g (AR®K) 49.45 cents  42.99 cents 39.63 cents 37.08 cents  25.97 cents
49.45% 42,995 39.63% 37.08% 25.97%
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
Bl AR TT AR®BTrT ARETT ARET:x
Non-current assets FEMBEE 854,645 883,129 861,151 221,954 90,234
Current assets MEBEE 2,063,645 3,380,689 3,128,760 3,168,390 2,930,027
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 28,791 129,148 112,434 13,371 8,204
Current liabilities Vo E=REt 260,604 190,824 153,669 116,572 75,446
Non-controlling interests R S - 294,084 345,810 - -
Total equity ERBE 2,628,895 3943846 3,718,808 3,260,401 2,936,611

*

For details, please see section headed “Management Discussion

and Analysis — Non-HKFRS Measures”.

*
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Financial Highlights
BBBE

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company realized revenue
of RMB1,008.6 million, representing an increase of 8.9% as compared
to 2023. The increase in sales was mainly attributable to the increase in
sales of disposable products.

The Group’s net profit attributable to owners of the parent for the
Reporting Period increased by 15.4% from RMB504.0 million in 2023 to
RMB581.4 million in 2024. The increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in revenue and other income and gains.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend

of RMB24 cents per Share for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the
“2024 Final Dividend”).

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUR MISSION

Our mission is to enable physicians and improve health and wellness
of patients through providing high performing, reliable and accessible
products and services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading medical devices platform specializing in
minimally invasive surgery in China. Our mission is to enable physicians
and improve health and wellness of patients through providing high
performing, reliable and accessible products and services. The Group
has also established a platform for laparoscopic surgical robots through
our investment in Weijing Medical, where the Group’s equity interest
increased from 35% to approximately 41.99% during the Reporting
Period. The Group intends to leverage its extensive sales and distribution
resources, alongside its experiences and capabilities in manufacturing,
clinical trials, and regulatory affairs in China, to support the development
and commercialization of its surgical robots.

In 2024, hospitals experienced delays in the procurement of medical
capital equipment and reusable products in China. However, the
increasing adoption of minimally invasive surgeries and the continued
growth in the volume of such procedures have driven demand for the
Group’s disposable products. During the Reporting Period, the Group
achieved an increase in domestic revenue, primarily driven by increased
sales of key disposable product categories, including disposable trocars,
disposable electrocoagulation forceps, ultrasonic scalpels, staplers and
other disposable products.

In October 2024, the results of a nationwide VBP for hemostatic tissue
ligation clips, led by Fujian province, were announced. This initiative
encompasses a wide range of products and extensive geographical
coverage. The Group’s complete portfolio of ligation clip products,
including polymer ligation clips, titanium clips, absorbable clips, multi-fire
ligation clips, and multi-fire titanium clips, were selected in this bid. We
anticipate that this nationwide VBP will further increase our products’
market penetration, advance import substitution efforts, and enable us
to capture a larger market share. The implementation of this VBP began
in Fujian in February 2025, and by the end of March 2025, more than
10 provinces in total started to implement VBP, with other provinces
expected to follow gradually.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB D AT

During the Reporting Period, the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei 3+N alliance
began the gradual implementation of VBPs for surgical staplers
and ultrasonic scalpels in February 2024. Additionally, the Group
successfully secured a bid for ultrasonic scalpels under the Sichuan-
Chongging alliance’s VBP. We expect the distribution model for these
products to remain unchanged, with implementation already in progress
in Chongaging and Sichuan, launched in September and December 2024,
respectively. We also won the bid for the VBP of disposable trocars and
staplers in Yunnan, and are currently awaiting notifications regarding the
implementation timeline.

In January 2025, we successfully won the bid for the VBP of disposable
trocars in Jilin and the VBP of ultrasonic scalpels in the Guangdong
alliance. In March 2025, we also successfully won the bid for the VBP of
staplers in the Chongqging alliance.

Outside of China, we maintained growth momentum in our export
activities. In 2024, our customer base and geographical reach expanded
significantly, allowing us to engage with over 180 customers across
80 countries and regions, compared to more than 120 customers in
56 countries and regions in 2023. Throughout the Reporting Period,
we focused on enhancing our management of overseas distributors
by refining our distributor network and optimizing our customer
portfolio. Our strategy for portfolio optimization has proven effective,
as new customers demonstrated larger volumes and stronger market
development capabilities, resulting in a gradual increase in orders
during the second half of the year. For the year ended December
31, 2024, the Group achieved an export sales of RMB98.9 million,
representing a 15.1% year-on-year growth from the previous year. The
growth was primarily attributable to increased sales in the European
market. We continued to allocate resources toward the overseas
product registrations, enhancing product diversity in key markets while
expanding our market access. This includes registering existing products
in additional regions and accelerating CE applications for promising
new products. During the Reporting Period, the Group added 57 new
overseas product registrations, mainly in Latin America and Southeast
Asia, partly through partnerships with international customers. We also
prioritized team development by expanding our international sales team
and focusing on attracting high-quality talent, along with providing
ongoing professional skills training for existing members to enhance our
team’s overall competitiveness.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group achieved revenue of
RMB1,008.6 million, representing an increase of 8.9% from the previous
year. The growth in revenue was mainly attributable to the increase
in sales of disposable products. The Group’s net profit attributable
to owners of the parent for the year ended December 31, 2024 has
increased by 15.4% from RMB504.0 million in 2023 to RMB581.4 million
in 2024. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue
and other income and gains.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R&D

During the Reporting Period, the Group added 16 new product
registrations in China, excluding renewals. As of December 31, 2024,
the Group had a total of 108 domestic registrations with the National
Medical Products Administration (NMPA), which included 17 for Class
Ill' medical devices, 56 for Class Il medical devices, and 35 for Class |
medical devices. In the Reporting Period, the Group obtained 34 new
patent authorizations in China while Weijing Medical secured 79 new
patent authorizations on a standalone basis.

The Group remains steadfast in expanding its investment in research and
development, reinforcing its capabilities to sustain its competitive edge
in the medical technology sector. By combining in-house innovation with
strategic partnerships with leading medical institutions, we focus on
advancing minimally invasive surgical solutions. These efforts are driven
by a commitment to resolving critical clinical challenges, addressing
unmet medical needs, and elevating satisfaction among healthcare
professionals and patients. We value the feedback from clinical
practitioners and actively integrate insights from them to refine product
quality, optimize R&D efficiency, and deliver superior user experiences.

During the Reporting Period, the Group introduced the “Dialogue with
Medical Experts” series, fostering direct knowledge exchange between
renowned medical specialists and our engineering teams. These
sessions ensure our product development aligns with real-world surgical
practices and evolving clinical demands. 12 sessions were conducted
in 2024, deepening collaboration across disciplines. Concurrently, the
Group is advancing the R&D projects with premier domestic medical
institutions, including a partnership with The First Affiliated Hospital of
Wenzhou Medical University to co-develop an integrated ultrasonic and
high-frequency electrosurgical platform. These initiatives underscore our
dedication to translating clinical insights into innovative, patient-centered
solutions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group expanded its product portfolio
with significant advancements in closure devices. A key achievement
was receiving the regulatory approval for an absorbable knotless suture,
a Class Ill medical device. This innovative product eliminates manual
knot-tying during suturing, enhancing surgical efficiency and simplifying
complex procedures. Its outstanding biocompatibility allows gradual
absorption post-implantation. While absorbable knotless sutures remain
in early adoption stages in China’s import-dominated market, the Group
foresees substantial growth opportunities for domestic alternatives.
Another milestone was the approval of multi-fire ligation clips, also a
Class lll device, which enable continuous vessel and tissue ligation
during laparoscopic surgery. This reduces the need for repeated
instrument insertion and withdrawal, streamlining procedural workflows.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB D AT

The Group also enriched its comprehensive hysteroscopic solutions
with two additions, which are a rigid hysteroscope and a disposable
electronic hysteroscope, providing surgeons with advanced tools for
gynecological diagnostics and treatments. Additionally, the Group
expanded its energy-based surgical portfolio with plasma energy
platform and electrode, complementing its existing offerings such as
electrocoagulation forceps and ultrasonic scalpels. The plasma electrode
technology minimizes thermal tissue damage while maintaining surgical
precision, making it particularly suited for delicate procedures. This
product’s primary applications align with the Group’s focus on urology
and gynecology where the technology demonstrates significant clinical
value and market potential.

In June 2024, the Group’s new R&D building at its Hangzhou
headquarters became operational. Equipped with upgraded facilities,
it supports the Group’s innovation and product development goals.
The modern workspace enhances R&D capabilities, attracts skilled
talent, and provides flexible space for specialized labs, including new
equipment for IEC and high-frequency signal testing. Additionally, a
newly constructed animal experiment center further boosts product
development efficiency and quality.

Weijing Medical’s four-arm surgical robotic system has completed
multi-specialty human clinical trials in March 2024 and the registration
application has been submitted to the NMPA during the Reporting
Period. Regulatory approval is expected in the second quarter of 2025.
In terms of its single-port surgical robotic system, the design has been
finalized, with type testing and animal trials scheduled for completion
in 2025, aiming to launch human clinical trials by the end of the year.
In 2024, Weijing Medical initiated pre-commercialization preparations
by hosting distributor briefings, conducting surgeon demonstrations,
and participating in key industry events such as the Chinese Society of
Pancreatology Annual Meeting, Chinese College of Surgeons Annual
Conference, and World Robot Conference. It also collaborated with
leading regional hospitals to implement standardized training programs
for its robotic systems, fostering knowledge exchange in laparoscopic
techniques and expanding access to advanced medical resources.
During the Reporting Period, Weijing Medical secured a round of equity
investment from an investment platform of Zhejiang Fuzhe Technology
Limited (47/T & M B2 A R A 7)), a subsidiary of Zhejiang State-owned
Capital Management Limited (# /T & Bl & & A& & A BR 2 7l), which
provides resources to further advance Weijing Medical’s R&D and
commercialization efforts. Weijing Medical also entered into a strategic
partnership with the Tonglu Economic Development Zone to establish a
mass production facility for surgical robotic systems in Tonglu County of
Hangzhou, expecting to bolster its product development and production
capacity.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Sales and Distribution

In 2024, amid the rapid expansion of VBP policies and continued import
substitution trend, we carefully aligned our strategies with market
needs. Staying focus on our customer-centric approach, we refined the
regional management practices and continued supporting academic
initiatives to advance new surgical techniques in China. A key priority
was promoting single-port laparoscopic surgery. We organized hands-
on training, surgical video competitions, and specialty-specific seminars
for gynecology, hepatobiliary, gastrointestinal, and breast surgery.
Additionally, to foster knowledge sharing, we hosted workshops, live
surgeries, and discussions for healthcare professionals nationwide.

In terms of distributor partnerships improvement, we restructured
regional and product-line teams to enhance efficiency and
responsiveness. By strengthening communication and upgrading training
programs, we helped distributors better understand our products’
features and applications, enabling them to provide stronger support to
end users. These steps aim to strengthen sales performance and ensure
progress toward annual goals.

Forward Outlook

Looking ahead, we maintain strong confidence in the Chinese market.
Aging population and the increasing adoption of minimally invasive
surgical procedures are expected to drive sustained growth in the
minimally invasive surgical instruments and consumables sector.
Meanwhile, China’s accelerating healthcare reforms, including the
expanded VBP initiatives, benefit the established domestic leaders in
the medical device industry. To reinforce our market leadership, the
Group will focus on fueling R&D innovation through deeper clinician-
engineer collaborations and intensify the support of academic promotion
to advance minimally invasive surgery adoption. These strategies are
designed to sharpen our competitive advantage and grow our domestic
market share. Internationally, we are strengthening our overseas
commercial network to strategically position the company for long-term
growth opportunities across global markets.

EEER WD T

SHERKHE

2024F - EETHFERBREREBERIEDE
RBEFENES T BRABELETSFS
BRUATFPADL  BLERAETEEN  HEMN
REMHEE N E AR AWM ER - &=
HEEBILERERTHHRE BREH  FE-
EBRIBRIBFARERZIN  FHRARER
EMERTNE AR BERR2EENED
e FWERREMIAE  RMEBERREE
R FB L= -

EEHBAERTE  RPASARRRE DR
B AR T E AR - BB BB RS RIE
%%?H& B ) SH R AN TR R EE am A 1 B AR
CREHAPREEIXE - LBEE
%ﬁﬂ:ﬁﬁ’%%ﬁ BREEBRRENX -

AIERE

RERR  RABPEMSRMELD - ADEH
b R AT 172 38 R IR TS SR B A Al T 1T B 4 %
FEM BEITEE R - EULR - B INEE RN
2 (RAERETTERBEHER) BEMNREER
BRMEBRLE - REEMBELMML  RNEE
H B BRI B T & (EHEE AT 3 A% - 0 A0 KHA

S FT BN BN NE - MR tEFE
ZUBABATSNE - EEBECHERIE K
AAIEZNTEBIIBERS  BRAOERDIRD

% MRERHERESE

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE

13:



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEN WD T

FINANCIAL REVIEW B ¥ B B8

The following discussions are based on the financial information and W THmIBEERAREEMEHATH T EER
notes set out in other sections of this report and should be read in KM sFIf fEEE > —HfFE -

conjunction with them.

Revenue WA

For the year ended December 31,

BZE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023 Changes
202445 20234 &g
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 %
AR®T R ARBETTT %
Disposable products —RHEEM
Disposable trocars —REEE TR 430,418 394,441 9.1
Ligation clips 4B 234,940 228,060 3.0
Disposable electrocoagulation forceps ~— — & 14 T 5% §H 139,905 122,552 14.2
Ultrasonic scalpels BEYE Em 52,352 38,000 37.8
Staplers M4 8 9,017 2,039 342.2
Other disposable products® Ef— R E RS 32,129 19,855 61.8
Sub-total NEF 898,761 804,947 11.7
Reusable products EEMER
4K endoscopic camera systems AKNBEREERER 24,534 32,366 (24.2)
Other reusable products® HEEEEER? 85,315 88,710 (3.8)
Sub-total INET 109,849 121,076 (9.9)
Total ot 1,008,610 926,023 8.9
Notes: Bt
(1) Other disposable products primarily include, among others, (1) E—AEERETER LR B iE) —

disposable suction and irrigation sets and retrieval bags.

(2) Other reusable products primarily include reusable trocars  (2)
and reusable forceps.

(3) Revenue from sales of staplers and titanium clips was (3)
reported under other disposable products category in prior
year. Comparative figures of such revenue have been re-
presented to conform with current year’s presentation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s revenue amounted to RMB1,008.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, representing an increase of 8.9% as
compared to RMB926.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.
The increase in revenue was primarily attributable to the increase in
sales of disposable products including disposable trocars, disposable
electrocoagulation forceps, ultrasonic scalpels, staplers and other
disposable products.

Disposable Products

The Group’s disposable products include disposable trocars, ligation
clips, disposable electrocoagulation forceps, ultrasonic scalpels,
staplers and other disposable products. The Group’s disposable
products recorded revenue of RMB898.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, representing an increase of 11.7% as compared to
RMB804.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Such increase
was attributable to the Group’s main disposable products including
disposable trocars, ligation clips and electrocoagulation forceps, as well
as newer products such as ultrasonic scalpels and staplers. During the
Reporting Period, sales of disposable products accounted for 89.1%
of the Group’s total revenue as compared to 86.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Disposable trocars recorded revenue of RMB430.4 million for the
Reporting Period, representing an increase of 9.1% as compared
with RMB394.4 million in 2023. Disposable trocars accounted for
approximately 42.7% of the Group’s total revenue during the Reporting
Period as compared to approximately 42.6% in 20283. During the
Reporting Period, sales of disposable trocars attributable to VBP regions
including Shandong, Fujian, Hunan, Hebei and Guangdong provinces
recorded better growth in 2024.

Ligation clips recorded revenue of RMB234.9 million for the Reporting
Period, representing an increase of 3.0% as compared with RMB228.1
million in 20283. Ligation clips accounted for approximately 23.3% of the
Group’s total revenue during the Reporting Period. The slight growth
in the sales of ligation clips was affected by the Fujian-led nationwide
VBP concluded in the second half of 2024. As the outcome of such
nationwide VBP of ligation clips is favourable to the Group, we expect
such growth will be resumed in 2025.

EEER WD T
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430.4H BT ' B2023F M A R#394.45 B o1
N91% o« RIBEHR » — XA EEEFRBRIGARE
B 48U A 4942.7% » 20234 Rl & 4942.6% ° 7
WEHA EPREEREMERE (2FEILER B8 -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Disposable electrocoagulation forceps recorded revenue of RMB139.9
million for the Reporting Period, which accounted for approximately
13.9% of the Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Period as
compared to 13.2% in 2023. Disposable electrocoagulation forceps
continued to experience high growth in demand and recorded sales
growth of 14.2% for the Reporting Period. As the use of disposable
electrocoagulation forceps in minimally invasive surgery is still at a lower
level, we consider that disposable electrocoagulation forceps still have
high potential for sales growth.

Sales of the Group’s newer disposable products such as ultrasonic
scalpels and staplers were boosted by the effort in strengthening
market development and seizing the demand from import substitution
and VBPs. During the Reporting Period, sales of ultrasonic scalpels
amounted to RMB52.4 million, representing an increase of 37.8% as
compared to RMB38.0 million in 2023.

Reusable Products

The Group’s reusable products recorded revenue of RMB109.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024, representing a decrease of 9.3%
as compared with RMB121.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2028. Such decrease was mainly due to the cyclical purchasing needs
of 4K endoscopic camera systems and reusable forceps.

Sales Channel

Revenue from domestic market increased by 8.3% as compared
to that of 2023. The Group’s business models in domestic market
include distributor model and non-distributor model (logistics partners
+ academic promotion), which is mainly used in the VBP provinces of
trocars.

For overseas markets, the Group’s customers mainly include overseas
ODM customers and overseas distributors. Revenue from overseas
markets was approximately RMB98.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, representing an increase of 15.1% from the
previous year. Growth of export sales was strong during the Reporting
Period due to the Group’s effort in expanding its customer bases in Asia
and Europe. Revenue from overseas markets accounted for 9.8% of the
Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Period as compared to 9.3% in
the previous year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The following table sets forth the Group’s revenue by geographic market
and sales channel for the periods indicated:

2024 2023 Changes
2024 % 20234 o
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 %
AR T AREFTT %
Domestic Iy
— Distributors — K IEE 800,363 752,480 6.4
- Hospitals and other customers(" —BRREMEFO 109,348 87,586 24.8
Sub-total NEF 909,711 840,066 8.3
Overseas 8o
— ODM customers —ODMEF 72,717 68,739 5.8
- Distributors — R 26,182 17,218 52.1
Sub-total NEF 98,899 85,957 15.1
Total @t 1,008,610 926,023 8.9
Note: B &E -
(1) Other customers include sales of disposable trocars under (1) HhEPEREETh T8 RKBEEHHE

TREJINARAMARBZNE TS RFHER

BED WA

For the year ended December 31,
B Z12A31BLEE

non-distributor (logistics partner + academic promotion

partner) model in the VBP provinces.

HE (MR8

firse R ) B

ERE—REEE FREHE
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales during the Reporting Period mainly consisted of raw
materials, direct labor cost and manufacturing costs.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group’s cost of sales was
RMB211.0 million, representing an increase of 14.1% as compared with
RMB184.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase
in cost of sales was generally in line with the Group’s revenue.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales
by nature for the periods indicated:

SHEMA

RBREMA HEREAZZEBRERME - EEA
ITRAREEKRSE -

HE2024F12A31A L FE - REBMEEK A
ABARE211.08 & WA £2023F12H31H
IEFEMNARKI84.8E ELILMN14.1% © SHEK
AN N B AR R B U A K ERAB TS o

TREIRARPEARERZEE S D HERK
REAAR

For the year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024F 20234

Amount % of Total Amount % of Total

Ih# 1 48 58

=8 B TH Bkt

RMB’ 000 (except percentages)

ARBT T (BDHLER)
Raw materials cost R R RC AR 105,623 50.0% 94,363 51.1%
Direct labor costs BEALKA 54,370 25.8% 45,208 24.5%
Manufacturing costs(™ A EE R AR 50,968 24.2% 45,253 24.4%
Total 5T 210,961 100.0% 184,824 100.0%
Note: B
(1) Manufacturing costs primarily include utilities costs, overhead (1) EERATZREAHZBRAE - B2

expenses and depreciation of manufacturing equipment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by 7.6% to RMB797.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2024 from RMB741.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, due to an increase in sales.

The Group’s gross profit margin was 79.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2024, which remained stable as compared to the
gross profit margin at 80.0% for the year ended December 31, 2028.
Specifically, the contribution from newer products such as ultrasonic
scalpels and staplers increased during the Reporting Period, whereby
these products have a lower gross profit margin than that of the other
existing disposable products due to characteristics of these types of
products.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and gross
profit margin by product type for the periods indicated:

EEER WD T

ENRENR

AR HERBIEN  NREBHEF HEE2023F12
AB1BILEEMARKEIAN2CEE TEM7T.6%E
H ZEZ2024F12A31H L FEMARKTII7T6EHE
7750

B E20245F12A31HIEFE AEENEFE AR
79.1% @ HLE 2023412831 H IF 4 [Z #980.0%
AhHERBE -AEmME  FER (WBBEPE
IEMmI kY& ) RBEHANN IR BTSN -
ERRAUHSERBENSE  HEMREHREM
BE—RMHERBIK-

TERBIRFTABEESBRESMENRE
AR

For the year ended December 31,

HZE12A31HLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Gross Gross
Gross Profit Gross Profit
Profit Margin Profit Margin
E¥ ER=E E7 VRS
RMB’ 000 (except percentages)
ARBTT (BDHERD)
Disposable products — IR M E @ 734,808 81.8% 671,710 83.4%
Reusable products SEREER 62,841 57.2% 69,489 57.4%
Total BEt 797,649 79.1% 741,199 80.0%
Other Income and Gains Hfth It A & Wz

Other income and gains for the year ended December 31, 2024 was
RMB182.2 million, while for the year ended December 31, 2023, it was
RMB155.4 million. The increase was primarily due to the gain arising
from the deconsolidation of Weijing Medical of RMB27.3 million in March
2024 which was non-recurring in nature as further explained in the
section headed “Investment in Weijing Medical” below.

HE2024F12A31H L FE - HMARKE A
AR®182.28 8 T + il & £20236F12H31H 1t
FERAREIS54BEB L - EESNEZRHN
2024F3ABUEEHERBEEEN K ARK
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were RMB78.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, representing an increase of 12.0% as
compared with RMB69.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.
The increase was primarily due to (i) the increase in staff costs for sales
personnel along with the expansion of sales and marketing team; and
(i) the increase in marketing-related expenses such as exhibitions and
academic promotional activities.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses amounted to RMB97.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, representing a decrease of 2.9% as
compared with RMB100.3 million for the year ended December 31,
20283. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the administrative
expenses incurred by Weijing Medical which was consolidated by the
Group, which was partially offset by the increase in staff costs for
administrative personnel.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the year ended December
31, 2024 was RMB82.1 million, representing a decrease of 35.6% as
compared with RMB127.6 million for the year ended December 31,
20283. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the research
and development expenses incurred by Weijing Medical which was
consolidated by the Group, and was partially offset by the increase in
research and development expenses at the Group’s headquarters due
to the increase in R&D department headcount and project portfolio.

Other Expenses
Other expenses primarily consist of donation and foreign exchange loss.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s other expenses was RMB15.1

million, which was primarily attributable to foreign exchange loss arising
from the currency fluctuation of USD against RMB.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Investment in Weijing Medical

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated January
18, 2022 and March 20, 2024 in relation to the equity investment
and deconsolidation of Weijing Medical. On March 20, 2024, the
shareholders of Weijing Medical had approved certain amendments
to the articles of association and the change in board composition of
Weijing Medical.

As a result, Kangji Hong Kong ceased to be able to appoint a majority
of members on the Weijing Medical Board and lost control over Weijing
Medical. Upon the aforementioned change in board composition
becoming effective, Weijing Medical had ceased to be a subsidiary of
the Company and the financial results of Weijing Medical was no longer
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
As at the completion date of Weijing Medical’s deconsolidation, the
Group recorded a gain of RMB27.3 million, which was calculated based
on the difference between the fair value of the Group’s retained interest
in Weijing Medical, as estimated with the assistance of an independent
professional valuer, and the Group’s share of the carrying value of the
assets and liabilities of Weijing Medical. Weijing Medical was accounted
for as an investment in an associate in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company since then.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made certain follow-on
acquisitions of equity interests in Weijing Medical for an aggregate cash
consideration of RMB73.5 million from the then existing shareholders
of Weijing Medical, who are independent third parties of the Company
to the best of the Directors’ knowledge and belief. In December 2024,
Weijing Medical completed the equity financing where a third party
investor subscribed for approximately 5.7% equity interests in Weijing
Medical in a consideration of RMB90 million. Upon the completion of
the aforementioned acquisitions and subscription of equity interest, as
at December 31, 2024, the Group held as to (i) approximately 41.99%
equity interest in Weijing Medical and (ii) approximately 23% equity
interest in its associate, which in turn held as to approximately 8% equity
interest in Weijing Medical. Furthermore, the Group paid RMB188 million
to Weijing Medical during the Reporting Period to settle all the remaining
contingent consideration upon fulfillment of the conditions satisfied by
Weijing Medical as stipulated in the relevant investment agreements.
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As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s carrying value in relation to its
investment in Weijing Medical was approximately RMB377.8 million,
representing approximately 12.9% of the Group’s total assets. Therefore,
the investment in Weijing Medical is considered the Group’s significant
investment. No market fair value was available for this private investment
as at December 31, 2024.

The principal activities of Weijing Medical is the research and
development of, and production of surgical robotic products and
instruments for laparoscopic surgery in China. The Group treated its
holding of equity interests in Weijing Medical as a long-term investment
since February 2022 which is in line with the principal businesses and
strategic footprint and medium to long term growth of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, Weijing Medical remained in the product
development phase. Consequently, it generated no revenue and
incurred a net loss for the year. The Group recognised a share of Weijing
Medical’s loss amounting to RMB21.9 million proportionate to its share
of equity interest in Weijing Medical, for the period from the completion
date of Weijing Medical’s deconsolidation to December 31, 2024. No
dividends were distributed by Weijing Medical during the Reporting
Period.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses were RMB113.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, representing a decrease of 16.8% as compared
with RMB136.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The
decrease in income tax expenses was primarily due to the decrease
in dividend withholding tax in relation to the one-off special dividend
declared in prior year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Non-HKFRS Measures

To supplement the Group’s audited consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income which is presented in accordance
with HKFRS, we also use adjusted net profit and adjusted earnings per
share as non-HKFRS measures, which are not required by, or presented
in accordance with, HKFRS. We believe that the presentation of non-
HKFRS measures when shown in conjunction with the corresponding
HKFRS measures provides useful information to investors and
management in facilitating a comparison of the Group’s ongoing
operating performance from period to period by eliminating potential
impacts of certain non-operational or one-off expenses as detailed
below. Such non-HKFRS measures allow investors to consider metrics
used by management in evaluating the Group’s performance.

The following table shows the Group’s adjusted net profit for the
Reporting Period and its reconciliation to profit for the years indicated:
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For the year ended December 31,

HZ12A31HLLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234

RMB’000
ARETT
Profit for the year attributable to BATRBEEAESFERARE 581,438 504,021
owners of parent
Add/(Less): bu/ GR) 57,444 52,945
Fair value gains on financial assets at UARhBEFEEHEEHT AR (5,243) (5,560)
fair value through profit or loss HERNEREENAREE
Wz
Foreign exchange difference ] 12,981 3,095
Investment income from short-term HHSREMRMNIZE R (6,762) (58)
financial products
Share-based payment expenses LARR D BEEA N KA 6,654 8,623
Gain on deconsolidation of Weijing Medical BUEG fEB R RN W (27,253)
PRC withholding tax associated with AR S AR R A B TR F0 - 28,062
special dividend
Non-HKFRS adjusted net profit for the year BAREE AELIECERBTFK 561,815 538,183
attributable to owners of parent WEER)LAEFERNLF
Non-HKFRS adjusted earnings per share F(EBUBRELER)KCRE
BREF
_ Basic (RMB) —EAR(ARYE) 47.78 cents 46.00 cents
47.78% 46.009
— Diluted (RMB) —#E(ARE) 47.78 cents 45.90 cents
47.78% 45.90%
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Notes:

Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is non-operational in nature which mainly arises
from the change in fair value of the Group’s unlisted equity
investments for the periods, the amount of which may not
directly correlate with the underlying performance of the
Group’s business operations.

Foreign exchange difference is non-operational in nature
which mainly arises from the currency fluctuation of USD
against RMB for the periods, the amount of which may not
directly correlate with the underlying performance of the
Group’s business operations.

Investment income from short-term financial products
purchased mainly for hedging foreign currency fluctuations is
non-operational in nature which is affected by the currency
fluctuation of USD against RMB for the periods, the amount
of which may not directly correlate with the underlying
performance of the Group’s business operations.

Share-based payment expenses are non-operational expenses
arising from granting RSUs and pre-IPO share options to the
Group’s senior management and employees, the amount
of which may not directly correlate with the underlying
performance of the Group’s business operations, and is also
affected by non-operating performance related factors that
are not closely or directly related to the Group’s business
activities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(5) Gain on deconsolidation of Weijing Medical was non-recurring
in nature, the amount of which may not directly correlate
with the underlying performance of the Group’s business
operations.

(6) PRC withholding tax associated with special dividend is a
one-off expense in relation to the 2023 Special Dividend to
be paid in celebration of the 20th anniversary of the Group’s
establishment and in recognition of the Shareholders’ long-
term support.

The use of the non-HKFRS measures has limitations as an analytical
tool, and it should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute
for or superior to analysis of, the Group’s results of operations or
financial condition as reported under HKFRS. In addition, the non-
HKFRS financial measures may be defined differently from similar terms
used by other companies and therefore may not be comparable to
similar measures presented by other companies.

Turnover Period

The Group’s inventory turnover days remained stable at 201 days in the
Reporting Period as compared to that of 217 days for the year of 2023.

The Group’s trade receivable turnover days increased to 93 days in the
Reporting Period as compared to that of 80 days for the year of 2023
due to the increase in short-term trade receivables at the year end of
2024 arising from a higher proportion of sales contributed in the second
half of 2024.

The Group’s trade payable turnover days increased to 65 days in the
Reporting Period as compared to 54 days for the year of 2023 due
to the increase in trade payables at the year end of 2024 arising from
better credit control of outstanding supplier balances.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the Reporting Period, the Group financed its operations and
other capital expenditure requirements primarily through cash generated
from operations and proceeds from the Company'’s initial public offering
on the Stock Exchange on June 29, 2020.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of RMB1,472.9 million (including RMB295.3 million recorded in assets
classified as held for sale), as compared with RMB2,973.5 million
(including RMB296.9 million recorded in assets classified as held for
sale) as of December 31, 2023; and short term financial products of
RMB115.7 million (recorded in financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss), as compared to RMB11.4 million as of December 31, 2023.
During the Reporting Period, the decrease in cash and cash equivalents
of RMB1,500.6 million was primarily due to the payment of dividend to
Shareholders.

As at December 31, 2024, most of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents were denominated in RMB, USD and HKD.

Net Current Assets

The Group had net current assets of RMB1,803.0 million as of
December 31, 2024, representing a decrease of RMB1,386.9 million
as compared with RMB3,189.9 million as of December 31, 2023. The
decrease in net current assets was primarily due to the declaration and
distribution of final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2023 and
special dividend in aggregate amount of RMB1,663.9 million paid to the
Shareholders in July 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operations were primarily
based in the mainland China. Assets, liabilities and transactions in the
PRC are mainly denominated in RMB, while certain of the Group’s
overseas assets and transactions are denominated in USD or HKD. The
Group is exposed to foreign currency risks, primarily including account
receivables, account payables and cash balances that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e., a currency other than the functional currency
of respective subsidiaries. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group recorded an exchange loss of RMB13.0 million, as compared
to RMB3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily
attributable to the exchange rate movements of USD against RMB.

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group’s total capital
expenditure amounted to approximately RMB65.1 million, which was
primarily used in construction of buildings and purchase of machinery
and equipment. The Group’s capital expenditure for the year ended
December 31, 2023 was approximately RMB82.5 million.

The following table sets forth the Group’s net capital expenditures as at
the dates indicated:
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For the year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000

ARET T
Plant and machinery BB K i 23 14,379 8,250
Construction in progress EEIR 23,605 50,505
Furniture and fixtures RIEAFIEE B 9,779 3,348
Motor vehicles WEhE 130 1,312
Buildings EgF 16,680 15,825
Leasehold improvements HEWMERE 194 2,141
Intangible assets mREE - 241
Land use rights 4 b 55 R 4 287 854
Total FEE 65,054 82,476
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Charge of Assets/Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any charge of assets
or pledge of assets.

Borrowings

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding bank
loans and other borrowings. We monitor capital using a gearing ratio,
which is debt divided by total assets. Debt includes trade payables,
other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities. As of December 31,
2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was 6.7% (as of December 31,
2023: 3.8%).

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding
contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals and Significant
Investments

Please see the section headed “Investment in Weijing Medical” above for
further details in respect of the Group’s significant investment of Weijing
Medical during the Reporting Period.

Save for the aforementioned, the Group did not hold any significant
investments, or have any other material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated December
29, 2023 in relation to the disposal of Hangzhou Kangji Qipu Medical
Instrument Co., Ltd. by Hangzhou Kangji. By way of update, during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the purchaser has
paid the Company a non-refundable sum of RMB50 million as part of the
consideration pursuant to the terms of the equity transfer agreement for
this disposal. As additional time is needed by the purchaser to settle the
remaining consideration, the completion is anticipated in the first half of
2025.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

EEER EEER

B Z22024F12A31H - AEE Y S S E (T
A EE °

&=

H E2024F12A318 A EBE T ET M REE
BITERREMER - FREXBBELEX (B
BRINEBERE) B8 BEBRRBEESIEMAR
B oHMEMNRELRERBEEUARHEEAE -H
F2024F12A31H  AEBEXRBELEAEE.7%
(B, £2023%F12831H : 3.8%) °

HZREE

H E2024F12A318 » AL E I E (T R EE K
REME -

EXRBRHEBUAREARE

BRERBESHALREEREREENERKRED
E—FHB FE2HULXRAEREENRE] —

BEXHRBES  RBEHR - ARELES
BEMEARA  EEM R E AR S
HBAR BEAARAELE-

IR A AR A H A2023F 12 A20B A E -
WA A BN EE L EHangzhou Kangji Qipu
Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. - IBEZEHFHEHE - 1
REHAREEAHREAS  EFERERES
FEREEEAREEEETENARRA AT RE
SEARB0BEE L WEAREN—XD - H
REFZERHIINGELEERTRE  THEFE
FF2025F ¥ F - FRA[EE



Management Discussion and Analysis

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

The Group intends to utilize the net proceeds raised from the Global
Offering to pursue strategic investment and to fund acquisition of
capital assets for the Group’s expansion in the manner set out in the
Prospectus and further explained in section headed “Use of Proceeds
from the Global Offering” under the “Report of the Directors”. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any plan for
material investments and capital assets.

Employee and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had 1,007 employees (December
31, 2023: 1,003 employees). Total staff remuneration expenses including
remuneration of the Directors and share-based payment expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2024 amounted to RMB173.4 million (for
the year ended December 31, 2023: RMB163.1 million).

The Remuneration Committee of the Company is responsible
for reviewing the Company’s emolument policy and structure for
all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Company. The remuneration of Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to the salaries of comparable companies
and their experience, duties and performance. The remuneration of
other employees is determined with reference to performance, skKills,
qualifications and experience of the staff concerned and in accordance
with the prevailing industry practice.

In recognition of the contributions of the Directors, senior management
and employees and to incentivize them to further promote the Group’s
development, the Company adopted the pre-IPO share option plan and
the RSU plan adopted on May 6, 2020. During the Reporting Period,
(i) 1,000,000 RSUs under the RSU plan were granted to the Group’s
senior management, (ii) a total of 16,860,000 RSUs were exercised
by the grantees and (iii) a total of 7,425,000 RSUs were cancelled. As
of December 31, 2024, a total of 3,525,000 RSUs previously granted
remained outstanding under the RSU plan.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHONG Ming ($218), aged 49, is one of the founders of the Group.
He was appointed as a Director on February 12, 2020 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on March 7, 2020. Mr. Zhong has
also served as the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer
of the Company. Mr. Zhong is mainly responsible for overall management
of the business, strategy and corporate development of the Group.

Mr. Zhong has been working in the Group for more than 20 years. Since
he founded the Group together with Ms. Shentu in August 2004, he has
held the positions of the general manager and the chairman of the board
at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr. Zhong also serves as an executive director of
Hangzhou Kangyin Investment Ltd.* (“Kangyin Investment”, 47 /! 5z iR
& EE AR QA since June 2015. Mr. Zhong has served as a vice
president at Surgery Medical Equipment Branch of China Association
of Medical Equipment (+ B B2 Hip eI EZ2EEHED ) since July
2016; and a director at Hangzhou Gongjian Intellectual Property Service
Center Co., Ltd. (f )1 2 2 &0 33 2= # AR 7%+ 0 B BR 2 A]) from November
2021 to December 2024; and a director at Weijing Medical since March
2024.

Prior to establishing Hangzhou Kangji with Ms. Shentu, Mr. Zhong was
primarily engaged in selling and distribution of MISIA produced by other
manufacturers. In December 2001, Mr. Zhong established a company
called Tonglu Kangpu Medical Device Co., Ltd. (“Tonglu Kangpu”, #d
JEBE & B 22 A R 2 a)) in the PRC, the principal business of which
was to sell and distribute MISIA. Tonglu Kangpu was held by Mr. Zhong
and Mr. Shentu Shaojian (52 & 48 i, father of Ms. Shentu) as to 60%
and 40%, respectively, and was voluntarily dissolved in November 2004
shortly after establishment of Hangzhou Kangji.
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Mr. Zhong received his bachelor’s degree in business administration
(part-time) from China University of Geosciences (1 B i & K &) in
the PRC in January 2006; an executive master’s degree in business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (&)L
%5 2B7) in October 2022; and an executive master’s degree in business
administration from Tsinghua University (/& 2 KX £) in December 2024,
Mr. Zhong was awarded Outstanding T-Merchants (£ & 17 /) by
Conference of T-Merchants (ffl %X &) held by The People’s Government
of Tonglu County (1 & & A R T) in 2016, the Outstanding Hangzhou
Entrepreneur (£ H#17) by World Hangzhou Entrepreneur Convention (it
S A &) held by The People’s Government of Hangzhou City (1 /1
mARBME) in 2018, and Model Worker of Hangzhou City (11 71 45 8
18 &) jointly by Hangzhou Municipal Committee of the Communist Party
of China (B £ E E M /N 1 & 8 &) and The People’s Government of
Hangzhou City (71N T A R BUF) in April 2022.

Mr. Zhong is the spouse of Ms. Shentu, the executive Director.

Ms. SHENTU Yinguang (B B R %), aged 45, is one of the founders
of the Group. She was appointed as an executive Director on March 7,
2020. Ms. Shentu has also served as the vice general manager of the
Company. Ms. Shentu is mainly responsible for overall management of
the business, strategy and corporate development of the Group.

Ms. Shentu has been working in the Group for more than 20 years. Since
the inception of the Group in August 2004, Ms. Shentu has held the
positions of the vice general manager and the vice chairman of the board
at Hangzhou Kangji. Ms. Shentu also serves as a supervisor of Kangyin
Investment since June 2015.Ms. Shentu received her college degree in
accounting (part-time) from China University of Geosciences (1 B i &
KE) in the PRC in August 2005. Ms. Shentu was awarded the Top Ten
Innovation Women in Zhejiang (4 JT + K & %1 22 ££) by Zhejiang High-
tech Enterprise Association (41T 4 = #1217 1 % 15 &), Zhejiang Women
Entrepreneur Association (1T %& Z (& %¥ R &), Zhejiang Scientific and
Technological Innovation Entrepreneur Promotion Association (#7/T &
LB ¥ 8 75 {2 # &), Zhejiang Technological and Innovative Enterprise
Association (47L& B Al (> %1% &) and Sci-tech and Finance Times
(BRI £ @ #R) in 2019, the Tonglu Entrepreneur of the Year (4 & i /&
2 R) by The People’s Government of Tonglu County (4 & & A & EUT)
in December 2019, and the Outstanding Hangzhou Entrepreneur Award
(/. = #1735 %) by Hangzhou Internationalization Innovation Forum (471 /1
B B2 1k &l #7 5 18) jointly held by Hang Zhou Culture Radio Television
Group (/1 X & £ @), Hangzhou Federation of industry and Commerce
(BN T TG ¥ B & €), Hangzhou Municipal Bureau of Commerce (71
JN ™ 7% 7% /H) and several other governmental entities in January 2020.
Ms. Shentu has also been a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Tonglu County (il & 5 K 1) since January
2007.
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Ms. Shentu is the spouse of Mr. Zhong, the executive Director, Chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.

Mr. YIN Zixin (B %), aged 39, was appointed as an executive Director
on April 28, 2022. Mr. Yin has also served as a vice general manager at
Hangzhou Kangji. He was one of the joint company secretaries for the
period from March 7, 2020 to May 3, 2022. Mr. Yin joined the Group in
September 2016 as a general manager assistant and has acted as the
secretary to the board since November 2016 at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr.
Yin has been a director at Hangzhou Kangji since August 2020. He was
a director at Weijing Medical from February 2022 to March 2024. Mr. Yin
is mainly responsible for investor relationships, investment and corporate
governance matters of the Group.

Before joining the Group, from July 2008 to October 2010, Mr. Yin
served as a department manager at Hangzhou Yingce Enterprise
Management and Consultation Co., Ltd. (MM AR DT EERZRNER
‘A Al]), where he was primarily responsible for product and business
development. From November 2010 to August 2016, Mr. Yin worked as
an investment manager and assistant to the chairman of the board at
Wanma United Holding Group Co., Ltd. (B 5 ¥ AR EE B R A 7)),
where he was primarily responsible for investment and M&A.

Mr. Yin received his bachelor’s degree in economics and management

from Zhejiang University of Finance & Economics (4T Bf ££ K £2) in the
PRC in June 2008.
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Non-Executive Directors

Ms. CAI Li (¥ 1f]), aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on March 13, 2020. Ms. Cai is primarily responsible for
participating in decision making of important matters of the Group.

From 2007 through 2008, Ms. Cai worked as a research analyst at
Credit Suisse AG (New York), where she was responsible for equity
research for large cap of medical supplies and devices companies. From
March 2009 to July 2011, Ms. Cai worked as an investment associate
at HAO Capital (Haotian Jinsheng Investment Management (Beijing)
Limited), focusing on growth stage healthcare investments. Ms. Cai
joined TPG Capital, a leading global alternative asset firm, in August
2011 and with her latest position being a BU partner where she was
responsible for investments of TPG Capital Asia in greater China region.

From December 2015 to November 2021, Ms. Cai served as a director
at Zhejiang Choisun Tea Development Co., Ltd. (/T A 58 % R AL 1
B R A 7)), whose shares were once traded on the NEEQ (stock code:
837518). From September 2020 to November 2022, Ms. Cai served as
a non-executive director at Shanghai Bio-heart Biological Technology
Co., Ltd. (E/B8 B LZE YR MR %D A R A7), whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 02185). From October 2020 to
November 2023, Ms. Cai served as a non-executive director at Zhaoke
Ophthalmology Limited whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 06622).
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Ms. Cai also concurrently holds the following positions outside the

Group:

a supervisor at Shanghai Deyu Deqi Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd. (E/8EEESRPEEEZERER A F) since
November 2016;

a non-executive director at Novotech Health Holdings Pte.
Ltd. (FE R I R B B R B IR A Al) since May 2021 and a
director of member companies of Novotech Health Holdings
Pte. Ltd. invested by TPG Capital, including a director at
PPC Holding Company since August 2017, PPC Intermediate
Holding Company since August 2017, Novotel Pharmaceutical
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (6 BZE &R (LE) BRAA)
since October 2017, PPC China Corporation Limited (/& & F£
A B TR A R A 7)) since November 2017, PPC China Clinical
Research Corporation Limited (/& BEABERFEBER A
A]) since February 2018, Jiasheng (Shanghai) Pharmaceutical
Consulting Co., Ltd. (FF4 (L£8) B & ZE® B R Q7)) since
September 2017, APLUS Pharmaceutical Consulting (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. (kB 82553/ (L8) AR 2 7)) since August 2017,
Bailixing (Xiamen) Equity Investment Co., Ltd. (B 3 8 (EF9) i
1% & B R A Al) since August 2017, Acrostar Pharmaservices
Corporation (% /M 37 JIf Bz 2 %& %2 £} £ B R A &) since August
2017, Acrostar Site Management Co., Ltd. (f 5 37 JIE 5 1 28 22 R}
BB BR A 7)) since January 2019, Novotech Aus Holdco Pty Ltd
since July 2020, Novotech Holdings Pty Ltd since July 2020 and
Novotech (Australia) Pty Ltd since July 2020, respectively;

a non-executive director at Dingdang Health Technology Group
Ltd. ("] & 2 R S B A R A 7)) since May 2021 whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 09886);

a non-executive director at Chongho Bridge Limited (Ff1 2= 4
& A 7)) since December 2023; and

a non-executive director at Duxiaoman (Cayman) Limited (& /)N
4+ 8 (F12) AR A 7)) since February 2025.

Ms. Cai received her bachelor’s degree in biomedical engineering and
economics from Yale University in the U.S. in May 2007.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Feng (% &), aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on March 7, 2020 with effect from June 4,
2020. Mr. Jiang is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Jiang has 35 years of experience in medical and medical device
industry. From 1985 to 2010, Mr. Jiang successively worked as a
clinician and served managerial positions at several Hospitals and
pharmaceutical companies. From December 2010 to August 2016, Mr.
Jiang served as an independent director at Dirui Industrial Co., Ltd. (i#
ImBERB M B R A A, formerly known as & % i ¥ 5 & B R D
B BR A 7)), a medical technology company whose shares are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300396). From May 2014
to September 2017, Mr. Jiang served as an independent director at
Guanhao Biotech Co., Ltd. (@ 2 £ ¥ B K & 1% B BR 2 7l), a biotech
company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 300238). From July 2005 to March 2017, Mr. Jiang also
served as the head of China Medical Device Information Magazine (&
B 8 & 2R {2 B ) i b 4t). From June 2015 to February 2017, Mr. Jiang
worked as a non-executive director at Kaisa Health Group Holdings
Limited (fEJK ¥ 2 FE & B IE R A R A &), formerly known as 3 Il 88 2%}
AR AF]), a company specialized in dental medical products with its
shares being listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0876). From
March 2016 to April 2019, Mr. Jiang served as an independent director
at Zhongzhu Healthcare Holding Co., Ltd. (& Bk & B 42 I () B BR A 7)),
whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600568). Mr. Jiang also served as an independent director at a medical
consumables company, Guangdong Baihe Medical Technology Co., Ltd.
(BERE & BERERKRS A RAR A until March 2016.

Mr. Jiang is concurrently serving positions in the following entities
outside the Group:

o an independent director since January 2022 at Eyebright Medical
Technology (Beijing) Inc. (B8 1E (bt 1) BERHERMDBRAR]),
an ophthalmic medical device company whose shares are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688050);

o a non-executive director since April 2014 at Lifetech Scientific
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (5E &£ OFII) B R A 7l), a medical
device company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 01302);

o an executive director since November 2010 at Yixu Investment
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BB EEE (4t R) AR
‘A A]), a company primarily engaged in investment and asset
management;
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o an executive director since January 2012 at Beijing Yimingxin
Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. (dt REE S EIIE & B 12
AR A |]), a company primarily engaged in investment and asset
management;

o an executive director since July 2020 at Frontier (Suzhou)
Medical Technology Innovation Service Co., Ltd. (i (B ) &

BRMAF RS ERAR),

o the chairman since June 2021 at Weiyi Venture Capital (Suzhou)
Co., Limited (M2 A& & (& M) BR A Al), a company
primarily engaged in early-stage investment projects of innovative
medical devices;

o an executive director since December 2017 at Suzhou Innomd
Medical Technology Service Co., Ltd. (B M E#H B2 2R &
R A R A &), a company primarily engaged in provision of

integrated solutions in respect of medical devices;

. a director since October 2017 at Xian GoldMag Nano
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (AL &M AWK EWFIMBR R A), a
company primarily engaged in development of nanomedicine;
and

o a director since December 2017 at Diabesen (Beijing) Technology

Co., Ltd. (& B & (AL R) BHE AR 2 7).

Mr. Jiang also served as the president from March 2003 to January
2010 and later an executive vice president at China Association for
Medical Devices Industry (4 Bl & /& 28 # 17 % 1% &), the president since
June 2009 at China Strategic Alliance of Medical Device Industry (#
B B8 & 33 M EE 3 B 10 Bl BT BLBS B B2), a deputy director of Biomedical
Engineering Education Steering Committee of the Ministry of Education
HEBEYEETREEHZIEEZR B ) since March 2018, and a
director of Chinese Society of Biomedical Engineering (F B A &£ T
F2 29) since December 2012.

Mr. Jiang received his master’s degree in respiratory medicine in July
1992 and doctor’s degree in cardiothoracic surgery in July 1995 from
Air Force Medical University (28 & & % K 2, formerly known as 55 /0 & &
KE) in the PRC. Mr. Jiang also obtained his second master’s degree in
business administration in Tsinghua University (/& 2 A £) in the PRC in
July 2006.
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Mr. GUO Jian (28%), aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on March 7, 2020 with effect from June 4, 2020. Mr.
Guo is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Guo is currently a practising lawyer of JZMC Law Office Shanghai
(L% Z 28 £ 7% FT) since February 2022. From 1985 to 2021, Mr.
Guo had been employed as a teaching faculty by Law School of Fudan
University (8 B X 2), and was a professor of Law School of Fudan
University before Mr. Guo retired in 2021. From September 2017
to September 2020, Mr. Guo worked as an independent director at
Zhejiang Changsheng Sliding Bearing Co. Ltd. (i /T & 2% /& & & 7% B 17
B R A7), a sliding bearings manufacturing company whose shares are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300718). Since
April 2016, Mr. Guo has been working as an independent director of
Ailex Technology Group Co., Ltd (B 18RI & B M%7 AR A 7], formerly
known as Shanghai Ailex Technology Co., Ltd.), a medical technology
company whose shares were listed on the NEEQ (stock code: 834099).

Mr. Guo received his bachelor’s degree in history from East China
Normal University (% % A0 € KX £2) in the PRC in January 1982 and
master’s degree in history of law from Fudan University (f B X 2) in the
PRC in September 1985.

Mr. CHEN Weibo (BR#&]), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on March 7, 2020 with effect from June 4,
2020. Mr. Chen is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Chen has more than 20 years of experience in accounting and
financial management. From September 1995 to May 2006, Mr.
Chen served as an accountant at overseas department of Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Company Limited (#1/T & 2RI EEH
AR A &]). Mr. Chen was employed by Sanchuan Holding Group Limited
(=) #E=R% =B AR A 7, formerly known as = JI[#Z I B R A & or HiLeHh
A=JII’KEEE B R A 7)) and served as a manager of audit department
from July 2006 to June 2007 and the chief financial officer from July
2007 to August 2009. From September 2009 to June 2016, Mr. Chen
served as a teacher at Hangzhou Wanxiang Polyteaching College (47 /M)
& A B % BT EBR) and later re-joined the overseas division of Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Company Limited (#T/L & Z R E £ E
HBR A F]) as a deputy manager of overseas finance department. From
April 2019 to November 2021, Mr. Chen served as a joint secretary to
the board at Sunlight Technology Holdings Limited (7% & &t £ 4% i A R
‘A Al), a material technology company whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1950).
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Mr. Chen has been serving a secretary to the board at Zhejiang Sunlight
Material Technology Co., Ltd. (#/T% & 7+ £t £ 5 R 2 7)) since July
2016; and an independent director of Zhejiang Natural Outdoor Goods
Inc. (FTKEAF SN R BBR A 7)) whose shares are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 605080) since June 2024.

Mr. Chen received his bachelor’s degree in accounting from Zhejiang
University of Finance & Economics (# /T B &8 K &, formerly known as
T BF 48 2B7) in the PRC in July 1995. Mr. Chen was conferred the
qualification of senior accountant by the Zhejiang Province Human
Resources and Social Security Department (T4 A 1 &R € (R
F% B2) in April 2009. Mr. Chen has also been a non-practicing member of
the Zhejiang Institute of Certified Public Accountants (/T & & ft & 5t
R #% @) since December 2009. Mr. Chen obtained his ACCA Advanced
Diploma in Accounting and Business from the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in June 2017.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHONG Ming ($218), aged 49, was appointed as the chief executive
officer on August 24, 2004. Mr. Zhong is responsible for overall
management of the business of the Group. See above for his biography.

Ms. SHENTU Yinguang (F B R 3¢), aged 45, was appointed as a vice
general manager on November 8, 2016. Ms. Shentu is responsible for
human resources and administration of the Group. See above for her
biography.

Mr. YIN Zixin (F B ), aged 39, was appointed as a vice general
manager on March 7, 2020. Mr. Yin is mainly responsible for investor
relationships, investment and corporate governance matters of the
Group. See above for his biography.

Ms. HU Yanyu (# %), aged 48, was appointed as the chief financial
officer on September 15, 2023. Ms. Hu is primarily responsible for the
management of financial affairs and investor relations of the Group.

Ms. Hu has more than 15 years of ample experience in enterprise value
management, financial management and investment management. She
worked at Sunny Optical Technology (Group) Company Limited (stock
code: 2382), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, as the director
of investors’ relation from January 2008 to November 2013, and as the
secretary to the board of directors and a joint company secretary from
November 2010 to November 2013. Ms. Hu was a managing director of
Shenzhen Eastern Marathon Investment Management Company Limited*
(RINT R 7T FRNKREEEGR A F) from March 2017 to May 2019,
and she subsequently worked in the field of private investment fund
management.
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Ms. Hu obtained her master’s degree in business administration from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in April 2008 and a
bachelor’s degree in business administration from Zhejiang University in
July 2003. She has also obtained the qualification of economist issued
by Personnel Bureau of Hangzhou in 2008.

Mr. CHENG Da (i), aged 47, was appointed as a vice general
manager on March 1, 2011. Mr. Cheng joined the Group in March 2011
and has worked as a vice general manager at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr.
Cheng is primarily responsible for product registration and international
business of the Group.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Cheng served as a department head at
Terumo Medical Products (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. GEB /X BEE @ (M
M) A BR A A]) from July 2001 to February 2006, where he was mainly
responsible for technology management and product development.
From March 2006 to February 2011, Mr. Cheng served as a vice general
manager at Hangzhou Fushan Medical Appliances Co., Ltd. (fi /I & &
BB A R A A, where he was primarily responsible for establishing
and maintaining company quality control system and managing
technology and quality department.

Mr. Cheng received his bachelor’s degree in chemistry from Nankai
University (7 B X &) in the PRC in June 2001.

Mr. YUE Jigiang (& & #8), aged 45, was appointed as a vice general
manager on May 16, 2009. Mr. Yue joined the Group in May 2009 and
has worked as a vice general manager at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr. Yue is
mainly responsible for research and development of the Group.

From September 2002 to February 2004, Mr. Yue served as a manager
at Hangzhou Kangyou Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (1)l B & & &
& B BR A 8)), where he was primarily responsible for research and
development. From December 2004 to April 2009, Mr. Yue served as a
manager at Hangzhou Optcla Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (fu /1 ¢ £ &8
& 23 W B BR A 7)), where he was primarily responsible for research and
development.

Mr. Yue received his college degree in machine manufacturing from
Huabei Mechanical and Electrical Secondary School (3£ 1t # & £ ) in
the PRC in June 2001.
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Mr. TANG Wenpeng (B X f§), aged 50, was appointed as a vice
general manager on March 5, 2018. Mr. Tang joined the Group in March
2017 and has worked as a vice general manager and manager of quality
control department at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr. Tang is mainly responsible
for production and quality control of the Group.

Mr. Tang served as a department head at Terumo Medical Product
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (R X & & E M (F1/N) BR 2 al), where he was
primarily responsible for quality control, from April 2000 to September
2009. From October 2009 to March 2017, Mr. Tang served as a vice
general manager at Jiangxi Fenglin Medical Device Co., Ltd. (/L 74 2 f&

B2 FH 22 5 BR A A), where he was mainly responsible for production and
quality control.

Mr. Tang received his bachelor’s degree in polymer materials from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University (£ /8 22 i X ) in the PRC in July 1996.

Mr. CAl Weimin (£ % R), aged 56, joined the Group in November 2024
as a vice general manager and head of domestic sales and marketing.
Mr. Cai began his career as a radiologist at Shanghai First People’s
Hospital, and then moved to work in sales in the medical industry
serving several global top healthcare device companies. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Cai worked in the China business units of GE Healthcare,
Medtronic, Stryker and Philips and served a series of sales positions,
including sales manager, marketing director and general manager of
sales and marketing, mainly responsible for leading sales team and
product promotion and marketing work.

Mr. Cai graduated from Shanghai Second Medical University (- /&5
— B &), the predecessor of Shanghai Jiao Tong University School
of Medicine (/8% 8 K B 8 Ef7), with a bachelor’s degree in clinical
medicine in 1993.
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Directors and Senior Management

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. WAN Siu Keung (& Jk58), aged 41, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on May 3, 2022. He joined the Group
in September 2020 as a senior finance manager and he has been
appointed as a director and the company secretary of Kangji Hong Kong
in January 2022 and December 2020 respectively.

Mr. Wan has over 18 years of experience in the fields of auditing,
financial management and corporate secretary. Mr. Wan worked in
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from 2006 to 2014 and his last position
was an audit manager. Mr. Wan subsequently worked in the finance
department of Jiayuan International Group Ltd (delisted, previous stock
code: 2768) from April 2014 to October 2016 and served as a financial
controller of Synertone Communication Corporation (stock code: 1613)
from October 2016 to May 2020.

Mr. Wan obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting and finance from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in May 2006. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wan has also obtained the certifications as a chartered financial
analyst (“CFA”) of the CFA Institute and a certified ESG analyst of The
European Federation of Financial Analysts Societies.
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ Report together with
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February 12,
2020, as an exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman
Companies Law. With the approval from the Registrar of Companies in
Hong Kong on April 3, 2020, the Company started to operate business
under the name of “Kangji Medical Holdings Limited B £ & /7 I % B R A
A]” in Hong Kong.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
June 29, 2020 with stock code 9997.

A list of principal subsidiaries of the Company, together with the details
of their places of incorporation and business, principal activities and
issued shares or registered share capital, is set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are to design, develop,
manufacture and sell a comprehensive suite of MISIA that are focused
on the surgical specialties of OBGYN, urology, general surgery and
thoracic surgery. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Company’s principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS

A review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period is
provided in the section headed “Business Review” under “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the Reporting Period is provided in the
section headed “Financial Review” under “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE GROUP

Market Risks

In recent years, the healthcare regulatory framework in China has
undergone significant changes, including, with respect to quality
control, supply, pricing and tender process for medical devices. The
medical device’s centralized procurement or volume based process and
execution of other regulatory policies at national or regional level may
put pressure on the end market prices of our products and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
There have been and may continue to be proposals or legislative or
administrative reforms in order to control healthcare costs by limiting the
scope of reimbursement schemes and/or the amount of reimbursement
for medical devices. If such policies affect our products, we will analyze
each situation based on key factors such as potential decline in retail
price, ex-factory price, market share, distributor network and coverage
of the local markets, in order to decide on the best sales course of
action for the Company to take advantage of opportunities and mitigate
potential impact on our business.

Any potential outbreak of pandemic in China or elsewhere in the world
may adversely affect our business as patients may delay their elective
surgical appointments or plans; and there may be disruption or delay to
the supply chain of the Group including the procurement of raw materials
and shipment of finished products.

Financial Risks

The Group’s principal business operations are exposed to a variety
of financial risks including but not limited to credit risk, currency
risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risks. The Group’s financial risk
management objectives and policies are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Reporting Period,

(i) the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 6.2% (2023: 10.1%)
of its total purchases, and the five largest suppliers accounted
for 20.1% of its total purchases (2023: 25.9%); and

(if) the Group’s largest customer accounted for 15.1% (2023:
13.83%) of its total sales, and the five largest customers
accounted for 24.9% of its total sales (2023: 22.2%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders
of the Company as at December 31, 2024 amounted to RMB2,002.4
million (2023: RMB3,220.4 million)

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not record any bank and other
interest-bearing borrowings.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
and RSU Plan” below, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period
or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
Directors’ Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHONG Ming (Chairman of the Board)
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang

Mr. YIN Zixin

Non-executive Director

Ms. CAI Li

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. JIANG Feng

Mr. GUO Jian
Mr. CHEN Weibo

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Details of Directors are set out in “Director and Senior Management”
of this annual report. Save as disclosed in that section, up to the date
of this annual report, there were no changes to information which are
required to be disclosed by Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e)
and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Except for Mr. YIN Zixin, each of the executive Directors has entered into
a three-year service contract with the Company and effective from their
respective appointment dates and subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meetings of the Company. The appointment
of Mr. YIN Zixin was effective from his appointment date to the date of
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment, and
thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company. Each of the non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company which commenced from their respective
appointment dates for an initial term of three years.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Company or any member of the Group
which is not determinable by the employer within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

COMPETING INTEREST AND OTHER INTEREST

Save for their respective interests in the Group, none of the Directors,
and the Controlling Shareholders were interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group
during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, no Directors had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries was a party.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not entered into any other
contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholders or any of their
respective subsidiaries (other than the service contracts of Directors and
senior management).

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions for the year ended December 31,
2024 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
None of such related party transactions constitute connected transaction
nor continuing connected transaction of the Group which has to be
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the
Company has complied with the requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors or
other individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

A review of the employees and remuneration policies of the Group during
the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 29 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is the Group’s corporate and social responsibility in promoting a
sustainable and environmental-friendly environment. The Group strive
to minimize its environmental impact and to build the corporation in a
sustainable way.

The Group is subject to environmental protection and occupational
health and safety laws and regulations in China. In 2024, the Group
complied with the relevant environmental and occupational health and
safety laws and regulations in China and the Group did not have any
incidents or complaints, which had a material and adverse effect on the
Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

The ESG report of the Company prepared in accordance with Appendix
C2 of the Listing Rules is set out on pages 86 to 177 of this annual
report.

THE GROUP’S FACILITIES

The corporate headquarters of the Group are located in Tonglu, Zhejiang
province. All of the Group’s manufacturing facilities during the Reporting
Period are located in Zhejiang province in the PRC.

The Group has solid manufacturing capabilities supported by an
experienced production team, automated manufacturing processes and
a cost-effective supply chain. The total gross floor area of the Group’s
manufacturing facilities amounted to 43,189.04 square meters (“sg.m.”).

As of December 31, 2024, the Group owned the land use right of five
parcels of land with a total site area of approximately 90,166 sg.m. and
buildings with a total gross floor area of approximately 77,113.23 sqg.m.
The Group’s buildings are primarily used as office buildings, R&D and
manufacturing facilities.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group leased properties at various
locations including Beijing, Shanghai, Hangzhou and Hong Kong with a
total gross floor area of approximately 6,571.48 sq.m., which have been
used as office premises.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

BREBRRERR

AEEBERKAFEZERIRERFERED
TERHEEMR - AEBR IR BRER
RE - BEXERAFELR -

FaERrR=E

AEESITPRRERENBERRELT2AEE
MEIHIR o R2024%F  AEEEBTHEIEERE
PHBRERFELT2ZEFER BAEETEES
AREREENER BHERNRCEEEESE
BEARATHFENBWRIEEF -

A B MESGHR & Jh iR & £ 48 A1) MY 8xC24R
2 R ARFIRESE177TE ©

A EE R

AEERAEHURIIENE REHR -
AEBESHEEREHLNEHIE -

AEEHEER ZIKREENEEERK 831k
i%m&&ﬂﬁkzﬁxﬁmﬂ‘ﬂ FEERM T ENR
REEE N AEELEERRNEEEMER
43,189.O4$7§7k(F3F?‘57|<J)

HZE2024F12A31H AEEF B BIGHEREL
90,166 SR AR LAy Tt A #E - AR
BEEMBELT7,113.23F HAKMEF - AEBH
BFETHERAE  WHBEMEERE -

H E2024F12A318  AEBETREME (B
dR-E8 MMNERES HELRERRLA
6,571.48F H RN Z B  ZEWMEC BIEN
N1



Report of the Directors
ESERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EERBEITHAERKRY - HE
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS INSHARES, B REEZITHEENERZRAXA
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the EHEAREBH  BEESHM AN EFENAQ A
interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of &STHRABRARQ A= H M FEEE (F&
the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the i(éﬁ%&ﬁﬂfﬂﬂﬁW%XVﬁ%) BIRR fn - IR 1D

Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning  sE# & T # G W@ IR E(ES KBS E0)) EXV
of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the %%7&8“* ARG AR E) R B3 AT R i ROK
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of B (BEBE(ESLPESEN)MEHRTEE Ek
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they %E{’ET?&EE!’HE SRKE)  KOIREBE(EHFRPE

were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or &) £ 3521% iR & 78 & 50 1A 5% 16 1) By 3t & Eﬂﬂﬁ’]
(b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register #z MK A  HC)BRIBUZESFRDYAME AR
referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock KB ZFETRIEZRE AR T ¢

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Interest in the Company RAEATHWER

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in the

Name of Director/Chief total issued share
Executive Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares capital (%)
BERBAFS L
EE BETBAEHRS B REmEE R 65 4 & (%)
Mr. ZHONG Ming Beneficiary of a trust Nete? 408,500,000 (L) 33.79 (L)
EIS k£ EFEX am A (HE2)
Interest of spouse MNote 4 231,500,000 (L) 19.15 (L)
TR {8 e 2% (i)
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang Beneficiary of a trust Noted 231,500,000 (L) 19.15 (L)
RERYZT = 5T = 2k A (HES)
Interest of spouse Nete 4 408,500,000 (L) 33.79 (L)
fic 48 e 21 (W)
Mr. YIN Zixin Beneficial owner Mot 9 4,125,000 (L) 0.34 (L)
FEELE EmEAa A
Notes: Bt E -

(1) The letter “L” denotes the directors’ long position in the (1) FRILIEEERROFTPHIETE -
Shares.
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(2) Fortune Spring ZM B Limited is owned by Fortune Spring ZM
AA Limited and Fortune Spring ZM A Limited as to 99.9% and
0.1%, respectively. Fortune Spring ZM AA Limited is wholly
owned by the Fortune Spring ZM Trust, for which Butterfield
Trust (Asia) Limited serves as the trustee and Mr. Zhong Ming
acts as the settlor and protector.

(3) Fortune Spring YG B Limited is owned by YG AA Limited
and Fortune Spring YG A Limited as to 99.8% and 0.2%,
respectively. YG AA Limited is wholly owned by The YG Trust,
for which BOS Trustee Limited serves as the trustee, and Ms.
Shentu Yinguang acts as the settlor and Mr. Zhong acts as
the protector.

(4) Mr. Zhong Ming and Ms. Shentu Yinguang are spouses, and
therefore are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
each other under the SFO.

(5) Mr. Yin is interested in respect of 4,125,000 underlying Shares
upon exercise of the RSUs granted to him in accordance with
the RSU Plan.

Save as disclosed above, as of date of this report, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company has or is deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which will be required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO);
or which will be required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which will be required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

2) Fortune Spring ZM B Limited#Fortune
Spring ZM AA Limited & Fortune Spring
ZMA Limited? 5l % 599.9% 5 0.1%H]
2= ° Fortune Spring ZM AA Limited
Fortune Spring ZM TrustZ2 & A & &
It + Butterfield Trust (Asia) Limited 5%
A EBEEEEREZRARRKREA -

(3) Fortune Spring YG B LimitedFEAYG AA
Limited &zFortune Spring YG A Limited
DR BE99.8% M0.2%MEZ - YG AA
LimitediThe YG Trust2&#H © Hit -
BOS Trustee Limited5 % 5E A - EEJ%?E
RETEREZEARELEIERRE

(4) BREERPAERELLTR/RE @R
BC(EHF LB BERA /N EM
FRANBORES#EER -

(5) FEERRE R R G B G5 &R
B % % 4,125,0008% 48 B4 i 10 #9 R 1
B BT BIETER PR ER -

BREXHBEEEN BEARSAH  BEALQ
ﬂ%%i?%’ﬁﬂ(}\%iﬁAZK’AﬁTiﬁiEE{WHHﬁ%%
B (E& B EHRBEED)EXVE) D -

RA R 1D Sk (B EP%EH&%&%E%%HEH*E}F<

FRHE |*1§\J>> v%%m&s’h ZERSIR= NN
REE R TR S BOA B (BIERE (E %%&Hméﬂx
BIY ERE AR E 1’5%@#%%9’3%\ S 5- D

AERRAR TffETF<"*ﬁ&ﬁﬁiﬂlﬂ§ﬂ>%35zﬂx
FENECMOEZIORAE  HREBEGEESTAD
AMEARNBI R ZPTOERRIRE -



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As of date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
followings are the persons, other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares which would be required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV
of the SFO:

Name of shareholder

RREH

Butterfield Trust (Asia) Limited
Butterfield Trust (Asia) Limited
BOS Trustee Limited

BOS Trustee Limited

Fortune Spring ZM B Limited
Fortune Spring ZM B Limited
Fortune Spring YG B Limited
Fortune Spring YG B Limited
Keyhole Holding Limited
Keyhole Holding Limited

Notes:

(1

)

Capacity/Nature of interest

g EErE

Trustee of a trust Nete?
2L A A (W2
Trustee of a trust Moted
{EEL 5T A (WD)
Beneficial owner MNote2
TR A WD)
Beneficial owner MNoted
BN A A WS
Beneficial owner Note 9
TG A MWD

The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

Fortune Spring ZM B Limited is owned by Fortune Spring ZM
AA Limited and Fortune Spring ZM A Limited as to 99.9% and
0.1%, respectively. Fortune Spring ZM AA Limited is wholly
owned by the Fortune Spring ZM Trust, for which Butterfield
Trust (Asia) Limited serves as the trustee and Mr. Zhong Ming
acts as the settlor and protector.

Fortune Spring YG B Limited is owned by YG AA Limited
and Fortune Spring YG A Limited as to 99.8% and 0.2%,
respectively. YG AA Limited is wholly owned by The YG Trust,
for which BOS Trustee Limited serves as the trustee, and Ms.
Shentu Yinguang acts as the settlor and Mr. Zhong acts as
the protector.
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HETENEARARARBRIAMHESZIORE + 5k
BHREN AR RRE(GES KSR EXVE
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Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares shareholding (%)
BERBAEI T

i gvigy -t (%)
408,500,000 (L) 33.79 (L)
231,500,000 (L) 19.15 (L)
408,500,000 (L) 33.79 (L)
231,500,000 (L) 19.15 (L)
216,190,500 (L) 17.88 (L)

(1) FEILIERRDFPHLTE -

(2) Fortune Spring ZM B Limited@Fortune
Spring ZM AA Limited &2 Fortune Spring
ZMA Limited% 5l # 599.9% & 0.1%H]
% o Fortune Spring ZM AA Limited
Fortune Spring ZM TrustZ2 &% A& © &
It + Butterfield Trust (Asia) Limited &%
A BEEEERETARREA -

(8) Fortune Spring YG B LimitedlEBYG AA
Limited & Fortune Spring YG A Limited
2RI H99.8% K%0.2% K o YG AA
LimitedfiThe YG Trust2 &85 © #Hit -
BOS Trustee Limited &= 5L A © HE R
KT TERETARELEERREA ©
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(4) Each of TPG Keyhole, L.P. (as sole shareholder of Keyhole
Holding Limited), TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P. (as a general
partner of TPG Keyhole, L.P.), TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors,
Inc. (as a general partner of TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P.), TPG
Operating Group Ill, L.P. (as the sole shareholder of TPG
Asia GenPar VII Advisors, Inc.), TPG Holdings IlI-A, L.P. (as
a general partner of TPG Operating Group IIl, L.P.), TPG
Holdings IlI-A, LLC (as a general partner of TPG Holdings
I-A, L.P.), TPG Operating Group Il, L.P. (as the sole
shareholder of TPG Holdings llI-A, LLC), TPG Holdings II-A,
LLC (as a general partner of TPG Operating Group I, L.P.),
TPG GPCo, LLC (as the sole member of TPG Holdings II-
A, LLC), TPG Inc. (as the sole member of TPG GPCo, LLC),
TPG Group Holdings (SBS), L.P. (holds 75.02% interest in
TPG Inc.), TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC (as the
general partner of TPG Group Holdings (SBS), L.P.) and TPG
GP A, LLC (as the sole member of TPG Group Holdings (SBS)
Advisors, LLC) is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Keyhole Holding Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as of date of this report, the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company are not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would
be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which will be required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above, at no time during the year ended December
31, 2024 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of the Shares in, or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

H E2024F12A31H LFE A QAR B AT
BE Bl & 7,907,500 % 0 - BR(EAL47.28
BT (TEREELBARTER)(2023F « 4y
18.8E&H L) ' BN T4.968LE7.088 T °
7,988,0000% i% 7 1 & £2024F12 A1 B It F &
B -BERAE BROBEFEARARRER
EMBRENZRBEAARNEREEFERL

The Company repurchased a total of 7,907,500 Shares on the Stock
Exchange at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$47.2
million (excluding brokerage fees and taxes) during the year ended
December 31, 2024 (2023: approximately HK$18.8 million) at price
ranging from HK$4.96 to HK$7.08. 7,988,000 Shares were cancelled
during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Directors believe that
the share repurchases were in the best interests of the Company and its

shareholders and would lead to an enhancement of the net assets value

per share and/or earnings per share of the Company. The particulars of
the share repurchase are as follows:

FERBAES - ROBLFBEAT

Aggregate

Number Highest Lowest amount of

of shares purchase price purchase price purchase price

repurchased per share (HK$) per share (HKS) (HKS)

eEm BEeESRERHG BESREHG BEEARE

R4 E BEEGER) BEE(GER) (&)

January 2, 2024 202441 H2H 165,000 6.92 6.77 1,180,085.00
January 3, 2024 2024F1H3H 200,000 6.92 6.81 1,378,480.00
January 4, 2024 2024F1H4R 100,000 6.93 6.86 691,230.00
January 5, 2024 202441 A5H 100,000 6.79 6.73 677,220.00
January 8, 2024 202441 A8H 100,000 6.72 6.67 670,130.00
January 9, 2024 2024451 H9H 100,000 6.80 6.72 678,330.00
January 10, 2024 202441 HF10H 50,000 7.08 6.79 345,305.00
January 11, 2024 20241 R11H 100,000 7.05 6.96 702,520.00
January 12, 2024 20241 H12H 100,000 6.92 6.84 689,440.00
January 15, 2024 202441 H15H 100,000 6.92 6.86 690,480.00
January 16, 2024 202441 H16H 100,000 6.72 6.68 669,370.00
January 17, 2024 202441 R17H 150,000 6.43 6.37 961,155.00
January 18, 2024 2024F1H18H 125,500 6.61 6.52 824,447 .15
May 30, 2024 202445 H30H 250,000 6.17 6.06 1,625,125.00
May 31, 2024 20244 5H31H 300,000 6.14 6.01 1,818,540.00
June 3, 2024 20246 H3H 250,000 6.12 6.05 1,619,625.00
June 4, 2024 20246 H4H 250,000 6.08 5.93 1,605,625.00
June 5, 2024 202446 H5H 300,000 6.08 5.97 1,803,960.00
June 6, 2024 20246 H6H 300,000 5.97 5.88 1,774,080.00
June 7, 2024 2024%6HA7H 350,000 5.93 5.76 2,041,585.00
June 11, 2024 20246 H11H 300,000 5.89 5.64 1,758,500.00
June 12, 2024 2024%6H12H 169,000 5.84 5.81 985,557.30
June 13, 2024 2024F6H13H 100,000 5.90 5.87 588,290.00
June 14, 2024 20246 H14H 100,000 5.91 5.83 589,620.00
June 17, 2024 20246 H17H 150,000 5.95 5.86 885,330.00
June 18, 2024 2024%F6H18H 150,000 5.88 5.81 877,860.00
June 20, 2024 202496 A20H 250,000 5.85 5.75 1,446,725.00
June 21, 2024 20246 H21H 300,000 5.76 5.69 1,719,930.00
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June 24, 2024

June 25, 2024

June 27, 2024

June 28, 2024

July 2, 2024

July 3, 2024

July 4, 2024

July 5, 2024

July 8, 2024

July 10, 2024

July 12, 2024

July 15, 2024

July 16, 2024

July 18, 2024
September 11, 2024
September 12, 2024
September 13, 2024
September 16, 2024
September 17, 2024
September 19, 2024
September 20, 2024
September 23, 2024
September 25, 2024
October 16, 2024
October 17, 2024
October 18, 2024
November 1, 2024
November 22, 2024
November 25, 2024
November 26, 2024
December 31, 2024

Total
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2024F6A24H
2024%6 A25H
20246 H27H
2024%6 H28H
2024F7H2H
2024%7H3H
2024%7H48
20247 A5H
20247 A8H
2024F7A10H
2024%7H12H
202497 H15H
2024F7H16H
202447 H18H
2024F9H11H
2024%F9AH12H
2024%9H13H
2024F9A16H
2024F9A17H
2024F9A19H
202499 H20H
202499 H23H
202499 H25H
2024F10A16H
2024F10A817H
2024%F10A18H
202411 A1H
2024411 A22H
2024411 A25H
202411 A26H
202412 A31H

M5t

Aggregate
Number Highest Lowest amount of
of shares purchase price purchase price purchase price
repurchased per share (HK$) per share (HK$) (HK$)
EiEE BEEE8RRG BESRRHG BEEARE
R4 B E BEE(ERT) BEEGER) (#7T)
200,000 5.72 5.62 1,134,400.00
100,000 5.65 5.60 563,450.00
100,000 5.59 5.56 557,940.00
100,000 5.60 Y51 559,050.00
75,000 5.53 KN 414,577.50
50,000 5.64 5.58 280,460.00
75,000 5.63 5.56 419,332.50
50,000 5.67 51577 281,375.00
100,000 5.58 5.46 551,570.00
50,000 5.67 5.62 282,300.00
50,000 5.77 5.72 287,785.00
50,000 5.72 5.66 284,230.00
50,000 5.63 BB 280,025.00
50,000 5.65 5.60 281,420.00
250,000 5.06 4.96 1,254,950.00
150,000 5.27 5.11 783,210.00
50,000 5.38 5.32 268,060.00
30,000 5.34 5.28 159,219.00
30,000 5.34 5.26 159,519.00
60,000 5.28 517 315,108.00
20,000 B3 5.24 106,426.00
40,000 5.22 5.18 208,092.00
90,000 BB 5.38 489,528.00
150,000 5.86 5.70 866,040.00
100,000 5.82 5.66 5783,670.00
25,000 5.81 BB 144,340.00
50,000 5.90 5.79 293,005.00
250,000 5.75 B.B1 1,398,200.00
100,000 ENZS 5.56 564,720.00
3,000 5.82 5.82 17,460.00
400,000 6.27 6.17 2,495,800.00
7,907,500 47,218,806.45
B EXFREESI  BLE20245F12H31R L

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed interest in any of the Company’s listed
Shares (including sale of treasury shares) during the year ended
December 31, 2024. As at December 31, 2024, the Company did not
hold any treasury shares.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION PLAN AND RSU PLAN

On May 6, 2020, the Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
and the RSU Plan, pursuant to which the Company may grant options to
subscribe for the Shares and issue certain units of Shares with restrictive
rights to eligible participants subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated therein.

The terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are not subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, whereas the RSU Plan
constitutes a share scheme involving existing Shares under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules with effect from January 1, 2023. The Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan and the RSU Plan were adopted to attract and retain
the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility,
to provide additional incentives to selected employees, Directors and
consultants and to promote the success of the Company’s business by
offering these individuals an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest
in the Company.

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan approved and adopted pursuant to the written
resolutions of Shareholders of the Company dated May 6, 2020.
The terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are not subject to
the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

(i) Purpose of the Option Plan

The purpose of the Option Plan is to attract and retain
the best available personnel for positions of substantial
responsibility, to provide additional incentives to selected
employees, Directors and consultants and to promote
the success of the Company’s business by offering these
individuals an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest
in the Company or to increase this interest, by granting
them options to purchase Shares (the “Options”, and
each of them, an “Option”).

(i) Who May Join

The participants of the Option Plan (the “Participants”)
are the employees, Directors and consultants of the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries as selected by
the administrator (the “Administrator”) at its discretion.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Maximum Number of Shares

The maximum number of underlying Shares that may be
granted and sold under the Option Plan is 4,120,000 with
a par value of US$0.00001 each. The number of Shares
that are subject to Options outstanding under the Option
Plan at any time shall not exceed the aggregate number
of Shares that then remain available for issuance under
the Option Plan.

Term of the Option Plan and the Options

The Option Plan will expire on, and no Option may be
granted pursuant to the Option Plan thereafter, the sixth
anniversary of the date that the Option Plan is adopted
and approved by the Shareholders of the Company and
the remaining life of the Option Plan is around one year.
In addition, the term of any Option granted under the
Option Plan shall not exceed six years. All the granted
but unexercised Options shall expire on the sixth
anniversary of the grant date.

Exercise Price and Payment

The exercise price per Option shall be determined by the
Administrator and set forth in the Option Agreement and
subject to the rules or requirements of any applicable
securities exchange (if any) which may be a fixed or
variable price related to the fair market value of the
Shares.

The Administrator shall determine the methods of
payments by any Participant with respect to the exercise
price of any Option granted under the Option Plan,
including without limitation: (i) cash, check or cash
equivalent; (ii) at the discretion of the Administrator and
to the extent permitted by applicable laws, consideration
received by the Company under a formal cashless
exercise program adopted by the Company in connection
with the Option Plan; (iii) wire transfer; or (iv) other form
of legal consideration acceptable to the Administrator.
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(b)

(vi)

Exercise of Options

Options granted under the Option Plan shall only
be exercisable at such time and upon such terms
and conditions as may be determined by the Option
Agreement. An exercisable Option may be exercised
in whole or in part. However, an Option shall not be
exercisable with respect to fractional shares and the
Administrator may require that, by the terms of the
Option Agreement, a partial exercise must be with
respect to a minimum number of Shares.

All or a portion of exercisable Options shall be
deemed exercised upon delivery of all of the notice,
representations, foreign exchange registration files (if
applicable) and certificate of payments, etc. as set out
in the Option Plan, to the secretary of the Company, or
such other person or entity designated by the Board, or
his, her or its office, as applicable.

As at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024, the number of
Shares in respect of which options had been granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Plan was nil.

RSU Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the RSU
Plan approved and adopted pursuant to the written resolutions
of Shareholders of the Company dated May 6, 2020. The RSU
Plan constitutes a share scheme involving existing Shares under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules with effect from January 1, 2023.

(i)

(i)

Purpose of the RSU Plan

The purpose of the RSU Plan is to attract and retain
the best available personnel for positions of substantial
responsibility, to provide additional incentives to selected
employees, Directors and consultants and to promote
the success of the Company’s business by offering
these individuals an opportunity to acquire a proprietary
interest in the Company or to increase this interest, by
issuing them certain units of Shares with restrictive rights
(the “RSUs”, and each of them, an “RSU”).

Who May Join

The participants of the RSU Scheme (the “Participants”)
are the employees, directors and consultants of the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries as selected by
the administrator (the “Administrator”) at its discretion.

(b)
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Maximum Number of Underlying Shares pursuant to
the RSU Plan

The underlying Shares of the RSU Plan are ordinary
Shares held by ESOP BVI. The maximum number of
RSUs that may be granted under the RSU Plan in
aggregate shall be such number of Shares held or to be
held by the ESOP BVI from time to time.

The maximum entitlement of each Participant under
the RSU Plan shall not exceed any limits that may be
imposed under the Listing Rules or other applicable laws
and regulations from time to time as amended and in
force.

Term of the RSU Plan and the RSUs

The RSU Plan will expire on, and no RSU may be granted
pursuant to the RSU Plan thereafter, the sixth anniversary
of the date that the RSU Plan is adopted and approved
by the Shareholders of the Company and the remaining
life of the RSU Plan is around one year. In addition, the
term of any RSU granted under the RSU Plan shall not
exceed six years. All the granted but unvested RSUs
shall expire on the sixth anniversary of the grant date.

Vesting and Payment

RSUs granted under the RSU Plan shall only be vested
at such time and upon such terms and conditions as
determined by the RSU Plan and the RSU Agreement
and/or subject to the approval of the Administrator. No
Shares or cash corresponding to the granted RSUs will
be issued to any Participant prior to the Global Offering,
regardless of whether the purchase consideration has
been paid or not.

The consideration for vesting the RSUs shall be
determined by the Administrator and set forth in the RSU
Agreement and subject to the rules or requirements of
any applicable securities exchange on which the Shares
are listed (if any) which may be a fixed or variable price
related to the fair market value of the underlying Shares.
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All or a portion of granted RSUs shall be deemed vested
upon delivery of all of the notice, representations, foreign
exchange registration files (if applicable) and certificate
of payments, etc. as set out in the RSU Plan, to the
Secretary of the Company, or such other person or entity
designated by the Administrator, or his, her or its office,
as applicable.

As of December 31, 2024, the overall limit on the number
of underlying Shares to be granted under the RSU Plan was
29,950,000 Shares, which had been reserved by Fortune Spring
KangJi 1 Limited.

As at January 1, 2024, a total of 26,810,000 RSUs have been
granted under the RSU Plan. During the Reporting Period,
(i) 1,000,000 RSUs had been granted to the Group’s senior
management; (i) 16,860,000 RSUs had been exercised by
certain grantees; and (jii) 7,425,000 RSUs had been cancelled or
lapsed pursuant to the RSU Plan. As such, as of December 31,
2024, a total of 3,525,000 RSUs remained outstanding under the
RSU Plan.
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Details of RSUs granted and outstanding under the RSU Plan are MR IR PR il AR 19 B8 L 51 &1 5% H e i R AT
as follows: WS REIDEMOFBRINOT

During the Reporting Period
REEHR

Closing price No. of RSUs
of Shares  No. of RSUs outstanding
immediately  outstanding No. of RSUs as of
before asof January ~ No.of RSUs  No.of RSUs  cancelled or December 31,

Grantees Date of grant Vesting date/period Purchase Price  grant date 1,2024 granted exercised [apsed 2024
HZ20451R HZ202512

1A Bit#a AR

BERT  HAGRNZ BRAH BAIRN BRUN HAGRHS

RHARE RIRGEL  SRAERG  ERAERG  ERGRE  RHRGER

GEAH/HR BEE  MUnE L L] B ¥R g B gA (]
Director
B=
Mr. YIN Zixin May 6, 2020 May 6, 2020 RMBE.448 N/A 4,125,000 - (4,125,000) - -
FRERE 20205468 2020F5A6H ARE6.4487 TR

Five highest paid individuals

BEBREMAL
In aggregate May 6, 2020 May 6, 2020 RMBG.448 NA 10,720,000 - (10,720,000 - -
a# 2020%576H 2020%5A6R AR#6.448T ol
March 26, 2021 Between March 26, 2022 HK$9.036 HKS10.1 3,000,000 - - (3,000,000) -
to March 26, 2026
2021%3A26R 2022F3A26A Z20265 9.036%7 10157
3A26R
July 6, 2024 July 6, 2024 HK$9.000 HK$5.64 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
200457768 200457768 9.000% T 50457
Other grantees
0E TN
In aggregate May 6, 2020 May 6, 2020 RMBG.448 NA 6,345,000 - 20150000 (4,330,000 -
A% 202055768 202055768 ARB6.44870 &R
March 26, 2021 Between March 26, 2022 HK$9.036 HK$10.0 2,620,000 - - (950000 2,525,000
to March 26, 2026
21537268 2022E3A26A E20265 9.036%7 10157
3A26R
Tota ) 26810000 1000000 (16,860,000 (74250000 3,525,000
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any
material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

In connection with the Company’s Global Offering, 225,397,500 Shares
of US$0.00001 each were issued at a price of HK$13.88 per Share for a
total cash consideration of approximately HK$2,952.5 million (equivalent
to RMB2,697.1 million), after deducting underwriting commissions and
related fees and expenses. As at December 31, 2023, the Company had
an unutilized net proceeds of approximately RMB1,802.4 million (the
“2023 Unutilized Net Proceeds”). The Company announced the change
in the use of the 2023 Unutilized Net Proceeds in its annual results
announcement for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “FY2023
Results Announcement”) on March 20, 2024 and further announced
the extension of the expected timeframe for using the utilized net
proceeds in its interim results announcement for the six months ended
June 30, 2024 (the “1H2024 Results Announcement”) on August 20,
2024.

The net proceeds from the global offering of the Company (adjusted on
a pro rata basis based on the actual net proceeds) have been and will
be utilized in that same manner, proportion and the expected timeframe
as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus and as amended in the section headed “Use of Proceeds
from the Global Offering and Change in Use of Proceeds” in the FY2023
Results Announcement and the section headed “Use of Proceeds from
the Global Offering and Extension of the Expected Timeframe for Use of
Proceeds” in the 1H2024 Results Announcement.
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TREFBERRAFE SIS RIENG S BT
FHEIRE - 2023F KRB MMEHIBFENOEER

The table below sets out the planned and revised planned applications
of the IPO Proceeds, the revised planned applications of the 2023

_

Unutilized Net Proceeds and the actual accrued usage up to, and the
2028 Unutilized Net Proceeds as at, December 31, 2024:

& N 2023F KRB PTG RIBFERR

FERBRUAREE2024F12A31HNER B A

Expected
Revised Utilization timeframe
Planned planned during the Actual  Unutilized net for unutilized
applications application  Revised planned application yearended  usageupto proceedsasat  net proceeds
of the IPO ofthe PO of the 2023 Unutilized Net December 31,  December 31,  December 31, (from the
Proceeds  Proceeds” Proceeds 2024 2024 2024 Listing Date)
HERAM HZ200E X8R
EROR RERR BENuE  BEOMF  12A%BH  FERERE
RERE  FEEET NREXDA 128318 128%BK  ABRFE  REREXR
Use of proceeds fiEERS RESHRR g il fERaREIHHRE EEBRER ERRR JEFE (BLWRER)
(RMB million) ~ (RMB million)  (RMB million) (%) (HK$ million)  (HKS million)  (HKS million)
(AR®EER) (ARBEER) (ARMEER) (%)  (FB%%) (FE%Rn)  (BEER)
For expanding production BREAE#RMER
capacity and strengthen E¥h af:
manufacturing capabilities,
including:
to expand production capacity ERABERNELY 249.9 264.3 216.3 120 55.6 55.6 160.7 within three
of current products and E-SRAELER to five years
further automate existing CEd R=ZRER
production lines
{0 buld up production RuERERNEY 260.1 275.1 1442 8.0 31.6 316 1126 within six years
capabiliies for pipeline RAER
products
For funding R&D activities, RRAWSEDREE
including: & A
to establish R&D centers BUREHD 4335 4385 90.1 50 181 18.1 720 within four
10 six years
REERER
for development and expansion of R RERERER 2040 215.8 180.3 10.0 54.0 54.0 126.3 within five
product pipeline to six years
RIEAER
For investing in sales and ARREHEREHE
marketing activities, § af:
including:
to be used in domestic salesand ~ FIREIRMHEREH 382.5 4045 1803 10.0 402 40.2 140.1 vithin four
marketing activities? 5P to five years
REELER
to increase overseas sales EmEoEE 1215 134.9 90.1 50 88 88 813 within three
to five years
N=ZRER
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Expected
Revised Utilization timeframe
Planned planned during the Actual  Unutilized net  for unutilized
applications application  Revised planned application yearended  usageupto proceedsasat net proceeds
of the IPO ofthe IPO  of the 2023 Unutilized Net December 31,  December 31,  December 31, (from the
Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds 2024 2024 2024 Listing Date)
ERRE BE0uE 3R
BERAR RERE BENUE  BENUE  128NBH  FENERE
RERE  REREY NREABA 128318 12831AK  ABRAKE  RERER
Use of proceeds FRRERSE RETHRR HEBRN freRagEIHaRE FEBRER EBRR JEFE (BLWRHE)
(RMB million) ~ (RMB million) ~ (RMB million) (%) (HK$ million)  (HKS million)  (HKS million)
(AR¥FEER) (AR¥AEER) (ARBEER) (%) (FB%x) (FE%n)  (AE®R)
For funding potential strategic RRAEEEBRRER 637.5 674.3 360.5 200 215 215 99.0  within five years
investment and acquisitions WERLES REER
For working capital and general ~ AHEEELR-KA 255.0 269.7 540.6 30.0 540.6 540.6 - vithin four
corporate purposes ARE to six years
REEAER
Total it 2,550.0 2,697.1 1,802.4 1000 1,010.4 10104 7920
Notes: L:

(1) By excluding the underwriting commissions and related (1) KHBRBHEESAREBRERARALE

fees and expenses, the actual net proceeds planned for EEANERMEREFEAARKE
applications amounted to RMB2,697.1 million. Net proceeds 2,697.1E&E T FIB R FHEUB T
were received in HK$ and translated to RMB for application BRIHRESARBERARERE -
planning.

2) On March 25, 2021, the Board resolved to change the (2) MR2021E3A258 » EF@H ARG R L

location of the sales and marketing center to be established EIETHEHEP OB AL EHL &
from the Group’s headquarters to Beijing, which is in line HEFRILR  EFEAEENEME
with the Group’s latest business strategy and does not BREBETSREBRERZ S ATMAO A
deviate from the originally planned application of the net BRIBFEMNFREKRERE - BRZMN
proceeds as described in the Prospectus. Other than this BERENXBEBEMSHERREZI
minor change and the change in use of proceeds disclosed BEE R ER A [RRE & RS HIE
above, no amendment has been made to the disclosure in FA 3 | — &0 P 8 3 BB /E A T »

the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus.
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On March 20, 2024, the Board had resolved to change the
use of the 2023 Unutilized Net Proceeds, which is in line
with the Group’s business strategy, and will not result in
any material adverse impact on the business and financial
performance of the Group. Further details of reasons for such
change in use of proceeds, please refer to the section headed
“Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering and Change in Use
of Proceeds” in the FY2023 Results Announcement.

On August 20, 2024, the Board had determined to extend
another two years in the expected timeframe for the full
utilization of the unutilized net proceeds in respect of the
establishment of R&D centers, and accordingly, the full
utilization of such amount allocated has been extended
to within four to six years from the date of Listing. Further
details of reasons for such change in use of proceeds, please
refer to the section headed “Use of Proceeds from the Global
Offering and Extension of the Expected Timeframe for Use of
Proceeds” in the 1H2024 Results Announcement.

The expected timeframe to use the unutilized net proceeds
is prepared based on the best estimate made by the Group,
which is subject to change according to the current and
future development of the market condition.

LITIGATION AND COMPLIANCE

The Company is a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with major operations in Mainland China and Hong Kong. To the best
knowledge of the Board, during the Reporting Period, the Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China, the
Cayman Islands and Hong Kong in all material aspects. No litigation
or claim of material importance is pending or threatened against any
member of the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on May 23, 2025. The notice of the AGM will be
sent to the Shareholders at least 21 days before the AGM.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(a) For the purpose of determining the Shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from May 20, 2025 to May 23,
2025 both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the AGM, all transfer documents should be lodged for
registration with Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on May 19,
2025. Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on May 23, 2025 will be entitled to
attend and vote at the AGM.

(b) For determining the entitlement to the proposed 2024 Final
Dividend subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from May 29, 2025 to June 4, 2025, both days inclusive. In
order to qualify for the proposed 2024 Final Dividend, all transfer
documents should be lodged for registration with the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on May 28,
2025.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of the 2024 Final
Dividend of RMB24 cents per Share for the year ended December 31,
2024. The proposed 2024 Final Dividend will be payable on or about
July 16, 2025 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on June 4, 2025, subject to the approval of
the Shareholders at the AGM.

The 2024 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to each Shareholder
in RMB or HKD (to be converted from RMB at the exchange rate to be
announced by the People’s Bank of China on or about May 23, 2025).
Shareholders will be given the option of electing to receive all (but not
part, save in the case of HKSCC Nominees Limited, which may elect
to receive part of its entitlement in RMB) of the 2024 Final Dividend.
The relevant dividend currency election form will be despatched to the
Shareholders as soon as practicable after the record date of June 4,
2025. Further details with respect to dividend currency election will be
announced in due course.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Memorandum
and Articles of Association or the Cayman Companies Act which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities. If any of the Shareholders is unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares, he or she is advised to
consult an expert.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance policies for
its Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as of the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 have
been audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as the auditors of the Company for the 2025 financial
statements will be proposed at the AGM.

DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group made charitable
and other donations amounting to RMBO0.5 million.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event occurred since the end of the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this report.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the
Shareholders, management team, employees, business partners and
customers of the Group for their support and contribution to the Group.

By order of the Board

ZHONG Ming
Chairman of the Board

Hangzhou, PRC
March 24, 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report
contained in the Company’s annual report for the year ended December
31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders of the Company
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate governance.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer” below, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period. The Board will
review the corporate governance structure and practices from time to
time and shall make necessary arrangements when the Board considers
appropriate.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company'’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
including the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee (the “ESG Committee”) (together, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to these Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of
the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect

of liability arising from legal action against the Directors, and will conduct
annual review on such insurance coverage.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and at the date of this annual
report, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHONG Ming (Chairman)
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang
Mr. YIN Zixin

Non-executive Director
Ms. CAl Li
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Feng
Mr. GUO Jian
Mr. CHEN Weibo

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met the requirements of
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
which relates to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has confirmed his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them
to be independent.

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
quality of its performance. The Board Diversity Policy provides that the
Company should endeavour to ensure that the Board members have the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
that are required to support the execution of its business strategy.
Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age,
cultural and education background, ethnicity and length of service. The
Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time
to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor and report
annually in the corporate governance report about the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy.
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Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report, none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with any
other Directors or any chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and expertise to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

The Board recognises the importance of gender diversity in both the
Board and workforce level. The Group employs staff by talents and
respect its staff’'s personal choices, regardless of gender, age, religion,
nationality etc. As at December 31, 2024, the gender ratio in the Board
is male 71.4% to female 28.6%, whereas the overall gender ratio in
the workforce (including senior management) is male 34.7% to female
65.3%.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments as well as their identity
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose
their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All newly appointed Directors would be provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as
their responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide the Directors
with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules
and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties.

The Company encourages continuous professional development
training for all the Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The company secretary of the Company update and provide the
Directors with written training materials in relation to their roles, functions
and duties from time to time.
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According to the information provided by the Directors, the training
received by the Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024 is
summarized as follows:

TRERBE

REZEEREMNER  HE2024F12A8318 ILF
E EEZEINFIRAnT

Nature of continuous
professional development

courses
Name of Directors EERE HESXRRRAELE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. ZHONG Ming (Chairman) BELLE(EER) B, C
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang RERYZT B, C
Mr. YIN Zixin FEELE B, C
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. CAl Li 27l e B, C
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Mr. JIANG Feng FgkE B,C
Mr. GUO Jian BREE B C
Mr. CHEN Weibo PR 178 5t A B, C
Notes: B 5E -
A: attending seminars or conferences A: 2N eReHE
B: attending training provided by lawyers or training related to  B: 2 N2 AD AT IR 803 FI S B AN A R E T
the Company’s business BBEMEI
©x reading materials on various topics, including corporate  C: MEZEENZENOME ZEREDL
governance, responsibilities of directors, the Listing Rules ¥ER EZHE -(EWMRA KEAM
and other related regulations R B

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held by
Mr. ZHONG Ming who is one of the founders of the Group and has been
operating and managing the Group since its establishment.

The Board considers that vesting the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person is more efficient in the direction and
management of the Company and does not impair the balance of power
and authority of the Board and the management of the business of the
Company. The Board will review the corporate governance structure
and practices from time to time and shall make necessary arrangements
when the Board considers appropriate.

EERNKEFEHITE

TAMRXEC2ERTE  EFREHEFERTED
AERTED  BTEHR - ALEE-

AARMESRERERATEAHES EEET
HAEREFBAMBAZ — BRYE—BEEENE
BEAREE -

EZgRREERMNAFHUTENBRBAR — A
RE SERABMEEARRNDHNEREE
H BTEREEEeRARREBEEE LR
MEDRERFE BB IHRAORENR
REREM UHEEFERREERFHLSER
B o
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors, except for Mr. YIN Zixin, has entered
into a three year service contract with the Company and effective
from their respective appointment dates and subject to retirement by
rotation and reelection at annual general meetings of the Company. Mr.
YIN Zixin has entered into a service contract with the Company for his
appointment as an executive Director for an initial term from his date
of appointment until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment, and thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meetings of the Company. Each of the service
contracts will continue until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
which commenced from their respective appointment dates for an initial
term of three years and thereafter (subject to re-election as and when
required under the Articles of Association), and are subject to termination
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment letters.

The Directors shall have power at any time and from time to time to
appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director so appointed shall
hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting, but shall not be taken into
account in determining the number of Directors and which Directors are
to retire by rotation at such meeting.

At every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall retain office until
the close of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-
election thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting at which
any Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number
of persons to be Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board’s composition, and for
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-election
and succession planning of Directors.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of no less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given by the Company. The agenda and
accompanying Board papers are dispatched at least three days before
the Board meetings or Board Committee meetings to ensure that the
Directors have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meetings. When Directors or committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the
Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by
the joint company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors for
information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting
is held. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by all
Directors.

During the Reporting Period, one general meeting was held and 4 Board
meetings were held and the attendance of individual Director at the
Board meetings and the general meeting are set out in the table below:

TRERBE

Exges

ARBRROEHRTEZTSGAZEN  8F
BRELNREZE SR ROBF K- 28
ESZHERETIRTORZBANCHESRES
e SEREFHEMSHRETHERLA
MEIEER -

REMEFEREFTEZRGERMs  A2F
EERLAEBHN ERABANTELEEEERER
HHEEEXH YELERTEEEREES
ZESEZAMN=RAZEL  UBREZEAR
EREEHERAXHERSERHEEH - WE
FhEEEeREREHESSE  AIRSSEES
FTHHNEELNESZBRANERENTEIRS
MRSHNER BEARANERFETIRLE
TRHZEGALBEARTHEERFEEL2HR
B2 -

ErcenhEseBegnneacBed
BB EEeNEETE R R EMERANEE A
ERHRAE BREFRENEAEE - SEF
BEHREFEZECRHN SR LBRER LIS/
BEREZRTRNEERENTEESES
WHREZER EFSSANSRLE AR
BEZEH -

RBEA EEGQBRTIRREAS RARE
FRRS ENEFHEESRAERBEAS
BERBR TR

Number of Actual
Attendance at Attendance at
Board Meetings/ General Meeting/
Number of Required Number of Required
Attendance at Attendance at
Board Meetings General Meeting
CHEES=S EHERR
EBRRYEHE SR EHE

Number of Actual

Directors g% EEEEINHE BRAEXEH
Mr. ZHONG Ming EISEAE 4/4 1/1
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang BERYZLT 4/4 1/1
Mr. YIN Zixin FEHELE 4/4 1/1
Ms. CAI Li Z A 2+ 4/4 1/1
Mr. JIANG Feng Elg ket 4/4 1/1
Mr. GUO Jian HEEE 4/4 1/1
Mr. CHEN Weibo PR 8T IR S A 4/4 1/1
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Guidelines for Securities Transactions
for Directors (the “Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, all of them have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code and the Written Guidelines during the year ended December
31, 2024. No incident of non-compliance of the Written Guidelines by
the employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company was noted by the Company.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse to
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense. Directors are encouraged to access and to consult
with the Company’s senior management independently and separately
from the Board, but will not rely purely on information provided
voluntarily by the Company’s senior management and will make further
enquiries when necessary.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board confirmed that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors, which includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, make recommendations and report on
related issues to the Board; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established four committees under the Board
pursuant to the corporate governance practice requirements under the
Listing Rules, including the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and ESG Committee.
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TRERBE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors Mr. CHEN Weibo and Mr. JIANG Feng and one non-executive
Director Ms. CAI Li. Mr. CHEN Weibo, being the chairman of the Audit
Committee, is appropriately qualified as required under Rules 3.10(2)
and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee’s major duties and powers include:

1. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment, and/or removal of the external auditor, and approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and consider any questions of resignation or dismissal of
that auditor;

2. monitor the integrity of financial statements, annual reports
and accounts, interim reports and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them;

3. oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures; and

4, perform the Company’s corporate governance functions,
including reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2024. The Audit Committee considered that the annual results are
in compliance with the applicable accounting standards, laws and
regulations, and the Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings to
mainly discuss and consider the following: review the audited financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the related
disclosures included in the annual report; review the interim financial
statements and the interim report for the six months ended June 30,
2024; make recommendation to the Board on the reappointment and
approve the remuneration of the external auditor; review the Company’s
financial reporting process, risk management, internal control system
and internal audit function.
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The attendance of these meetings by the Audit Committee members is
set out in the table below:

TRERBE

Number of attendance/
required attendance

Name of Directors BEEHE CHEXRE EHEERE
Mr. CHEN Weibo BRI & 3/3
Mr. JIANG Feng Ed -3 3/3
Ms. CAI Li 22+ 3/3

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director Mr.
ZHONG Ming and two independent non-executive Directors Mr. JIANG
Feng and Mr. GUO Jian. Mr. ZHONG Ming is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Nomination
Committee has the following duties and powers:

1. review the structure, number and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s strategy;

2. identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3 assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;
4. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer;

B, review the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
for implementing such Board Diversity Policy as may be adopted
by the Board from time to time and to review the progress on
achieving the objectives; and

6. where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive Director at the general meeting,
the reasons why the Board believe he/she should be elected
and the reasons why the Board consider the individual to be
independent should be set out in the circular to Shareholders
and/or an explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting.
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The Nomination Committee assesses, selects, and recommends
candidates for directors to the Board on criteria such as credibility,
success, and experience in the Company’s industry, time available to
be invested, benefits of sectors represented by the candidates, and the
diversity the candidates will bring to the Board. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting
to discuss and consider the following: make recommendations to the
Board on the reappointment of Directors; assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and review the Board Diversity
Policy.

The attendance of the meeting by the Nomination Committee members is
set out in the table below:

REZEGERNARBMBITENHARE - K3
g% AT HEBRAZKEREEAARKRTED
MNEREEABREZTETANS T FRERF
B RETAEEZTEAEETHREA-REBZRE
ECEEMNERREREEFGIUERE -

RBERN REZEGERTIREENTH

REBUTAR  EMZFEERAESTSRY
B ATEBUFRATEENBEYE RERE

EEETTIBE -

ERAZEENBHEZEHNBAERT X

Number of attendance/
required attendance

Name of Directors BEEHR CHERE EHERE
Mr. ZHONG Ming ES Lt 1/1
Mr. JIANG Feng FEkE 11
Mr. GUO Jian PEEAE 11
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FHEES

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. CHEN Weibo and Mr. GUO Jian, and one
executive Director, namely Ms. SHENTU Yinguang. Mr. CHEN Weibo is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration
Committee shall have the following duties and powers:

1. make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

2. review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

3 determine, with delegated responsibility from the Board, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;
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4, make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

(5% consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group, assess performance of executive
Directors, approve the terms of executive Directors and service
contracts;

6. review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

8. ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 1
meeting to discuss and consider the following: review and approve the
remuneration payable to the Directors and senior management for the
year ended December 31, 2023; and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of Directors and senior management for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

Attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee at the
meeting is set out in the table below:

TRERBE
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Number of attendance/
required attendance

Name of Directors BEEHE CHERE EHERH
Mr. CHEN Weibo PR 18T %5 A 11
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang RERYZ T 1/1
Mr. GUO Jian PR E 11
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ESG COMMITTEE ESGZES

The Company has established the ESG Committee under the Board A 2Q A R2021F12A KV EEFEESGEEE -
in December 2021. The ESG Committee comprises three executive ESGZE@RE="LUNITEEFERLE  HER
Directors, namely Mr. ZHONG Ming, Ms. SHENTU Yinguang and Mr. YIN ¢t &Z+RFEAELRE - ER L ERBESGEE S

Zixin. Mr. ZHONG Ming is the chairman of the ESG Committee. J& o

The ESG Committee has the following duties and powers: ESGEZEGABTIEERED :

1. guide and supervise the Company’s ESG related management 1. JEEME B RN AIMESGE B 75 & -
direction, strategies, key issues and ESG policy targets; B EZHEBERBE:

2. ensure the establishment of effective and appropriate ESG risk 2. WRBBEENBEAHESGRAR BEE$IE
management and internal control systems, and evaluate ESG FAEERZLG  WilH REEARR A
related risks and opportunities; ESGHH B8 & @ e R # i

3. supervise the management of ESG related matters by 3. EBEAREREEYESGEEMEERBMN
management of the Company and regularly evaluate the MESGHBA B EEH BT AR RINRRI
Company’s achievement of ESG related targets; and P54

4. approve the ESG reports of the Company and other ESG related 4. BN ARESGHRESHAER  THMRA
disclosures, and regularly report to and make recommendations EESREURHEER -

to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the ESG Committee held 1 meeting to RIFEH RN - ESGEETAAINTE AT wmEE
discuss and consider the following: discuss and determine the Group’s B TR R : 77w I 78 E A & B £ESG) E A [/
ESG risks and opportunities, and make decisions on important ESG B8 - WHEE E BESGE IR TIEETIRE ¢
management work for the year; identify the risks and opportunities % Bl § &% B {b ¥ 7N £ [ 7k 7R 2 75 & 48 25 2R 10 [l
brought by climate change to the Group’s future business operations, — ER#:E @ F(EMHEBERE BN EERFERE -
assess the possibility and impact of relevant risks and opportunities, and 3 4 & ¥ 14 3 5l & FE S 5T 20 B HE 5 - LA R L &L
formulate targeted response plans and measures, and approve the ESG =~ Z£2023F 12 A31H It FE A AR AIESGHRE
report of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Attendance of the members of the ESG Committee at the meeting is set ESGZE&@XE8HFESHMNBRAER TE :
out in the table below:

Number of attendance/
required attendance

Name of Directors EEHE EHERE EHERH
Mr. ZHONG Ming BB L 1/1
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang RERY T 1/1
Mr. YIN Zixin FEELE 1/1
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2024 is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The remuneration of senior management of the Company (their
biographies are set out on pages 38 to 40 of this annual report) for the
year ended December 31, 2024 falls under the following bands:

TRERBE

EERSREERBHNEFMN

RAREEREE2024F128318 1 FE B
FHFBERE AT IERRM S -

H E2024F12A31HIEFE  ARARN SR EE
B(KREZBEHNRAFREISZI0E) & E
BEH|AT -

Number of individuals

Band of remuneration e ER AE
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2,000,000 7T 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t £2,500,000/% 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7t £3,000,000/%8 7T 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7t £3,500,000/% 7T 2

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of
the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided the Board with such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 182 to 184 of this annual report.

ESARYBRENEE

EEHARSARAUARREE2024F12A31H
LTHEENMBRROBE  NEEQTHREA
RARAEENRRARAEEANEERRER

= o°
EEECREFSRACSEZNMEERER  &E

BRHRETEETSHAENEARAAMBRERE
TRIBRRT

EEWTATRAEHARAFELLEERER
SERH) E AN E HNERMERNTHEERER

BRI REEBAR SRRV BERRNERE
EEHMBRABNAFRFE182E184E HY B L %
BN o
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have a specific dividend policy or a
predetermined dividend payout ratio. The determination to pay dividends
in the future would be made at the discretion of the Board and would
be based on the Group’s profits, cash flows, financial condition, capital
requirements and other conditions that the Board deems relevant. The
payment of dividends may be limited by other legal restrictions and
agreements that the Group may enter into in the future.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board
for maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard
Shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and reviewing the
effectiveness of such system on an annual basis. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance that there will be no material misrepresentation or losses.

The Board takes responsibilities for the risk management and internal
control systems and is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of
such systems. The Audit Committee, as delegated by the Board, has
reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group
for the Reporting Period, which covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has newly established an
internal audit department with increased professional team members
to perform the internal audit function, which is responsible for the
improvement of the risk management policies and the implementation
of risk management practices, and regularly report the relevant work
to the Board and the Audit Committee. In order to standardize the risk
management across the Group and establish standards of transparency
and risk management performance, the internal audit department
is responsible to (i) collect data on risks related to their operation
and work; (ii) conduct risk assessment, including the identification,
categorization, measurement and prioritization of all major risks which
may have potential impacts on achieving their objectives; (iii) regularly
report to management on the implementation of risk management
and internal control policies; (iv) continuously monitor major risks
related to the Company’s operations; (v) implement appropriate risk
response measures where necessary; and (vi) formulate and implement
appropriate mechanisms to facilitate the application of the risk
management framework.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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The Group has developed and adopted internal control process with
defined rights and responsibilities for each key business and function
department, including sales and collection management, procurement
and payment management, production and inventory management,
R&D management, fixed assets management, human resources and
remuneration management, capital management, contract management
and information system management. The internal audit department is
responsible for conducting independent reviews on the effectiveness
of the design and implementation of the Group’s internal control
system, inspecting major matters related with accounting practices
and all material controls, and providing the auditee with its findings
and suggestions for improvement, and regularly reporting to the Audit
Committee.

The Company has set up policies for information disclosure, providing
comprehensive guidance to Directors, senior management and relevant
employees of the Company on handling confidential data, overseeing
data disclosure and responding to enquiries. The Company has
implemented control procedures to ensure that unauthorized access to
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

The Board has annually reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems through the Audit Committee,
including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience
of the above systems and accounting and financial reporting and internal
auditing functions of the Group, as well as the adequacy of training
programmes and budget for the above staffs. The Board was of the
view that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
including financial, operational and compliance control, were effective
and adequate during the Reporting Period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The auditor’s approximate remuneration in respect of the audit and non-
audit services provided to the Company for the year ended December
31, 2024 is as follows:

TRERBE

AEEEREIEEBMDELIPINERRAA
EREEGIRE  BREERERER  RBEMK
ER HLERGFEEE MEERE BETrEEE
BOAFHEFHER BE2ER ARERELE
ERGERES WIHARE AEBEAEHAK
BRI RERGERATCAEREETBLE
Bl BB Bl RMEEAERZEESE
B IAXRERTREEBEERRBCERZR
EHMRAEREZBEERS

ARREHEEREERR  REARARESE 5
REREMAEREERERTEIE EEHER
BEhmESHREHEZEES - ARFEEEES
B BRERELERERENER T ERR
ERAARBER -

EZEEFERERZRERIASERARER
RAERES R MEE B LRGNNSR
B RMBHRE ARBENER BEITEER
KRB rH U ERE THHEIRERAE
EEAE - EFERRAKERREHNARE
ERATERRS (BEWE  EERARES)
BHRRH -

BB &

ZE AR & E2024512 A1 H I FE BB AARQ
AR B R IEZERBEZBOMSHZ 0T

Amount

(RMB’ 000)

&8

Type of services B 7 % 51 (AR%TF )

Audit services ZE R 2,750
Non-audit services: IEZE AR -

— Tax and consulting services — B8 R R 334

Total 5T 3,084
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. WAN Siu Keung (“Mr. Wan”), the company secretary of the
Company, is responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on corporate governance matters, and ensuring compliance with the
policies and procedures of the Board and applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, Mr. Wan had undertaken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance, and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information on the Company for the Shareholders and investors to make
informed investment decisions.

The AGMs provide opportunity for Shareholders to communicate directly
with the Directors. The chairman of the Company and the chairmen of
the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to answer
Shareholders’ questions. The auditor will also attend the AGMs to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies, and auditor’s
independence.

To promote effective communication and to build an inter-relationship
and communication channel between the Company and the
Shareholders, the Company adopts the Shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure the Shareholders are provided with equal and timely
access to information about the Company and enable them to exercise
their rights in an informed manner and to allow them to engage
actively with the Company. The policy sets out various communication
strategies, including corporate communication, corporate website, and
Shareholders being provided with designed contacts, email addresses
and enquiry telephone number of the Company in order to enable them
to make any query.

The Company maintains a website at www.kangjimedical.com, where
the up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices,
and other information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including
the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

The Company’s second amended and restated Articles of Association
has been brought in line with core shareholder protection standards as
set out in Appendix A1 of the Listing Rules.

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

According to the Articles of Association, the Shareholders may
put forward proposals at the general meetings of the Company for
consideration. Any one or more Shareholder(s) of the Company
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be convened
by the Company for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
such general meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board may send their enquiries to the Office of the
Board at the Company’s headquarters through telephone at +86 571
6990 0020 and email at ir@kangji.com.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Company had adopted the second amended and restated Articles
of Association with effect from May 25, 2023. There was no change
in the constitutional documents of the Company thereafter and up to
December 31, 2024.
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R HERERERE

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Report Overview

This report is the fifth ESG report issued by Kangji Medical Holdings
Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or “we” or “Kangji
Medical”), focusing on disclosing the ESG management and performance
of the Group. This report is an annual report covering the work during
2024, part of the contents of which may cover previous years or be
extended to 2025 as applicable

Preparation Basis

This report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code set out in
Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “HKEX” or the “Stock Exchange”) and
with reference to the recommendations of the Sustainability Standards
issued by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Such procedures include
identifying and ranking main stakeholders, identifying and ranking
material ESG-related issues, determining the scope of ESG reporting,
collecting relevant materials and data, preparing the report based on the
materials, and examining the information in the report.

Reporting Scope

The policy documents, statements, and data in this report cover the
headquarters of the Group and its subsidiaries, unless otherwise
specified. The previous data quoted in this report are the final statistics,
and the financial data in this report are denominated in RMB.

Reliability Guarantees

After being confirmed by the management, this report was passed by the
Board on 24 March 2025. The Group ensures that this report contains
no false records, misleading statements, or significant omissions.
We undertake to be responsible for the authenticity, accuracy, and
completeness of this report.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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ESG Reporting Principles

Materiality principle: Engage in communication and exchange with
various stakeholders in different forms to conduct benchmarking analysis
on the issues disclosed in the ESG reports of companies in the industry
in accordance with the ESG Reporting Code of the Stock Exchange and
other relevant regulatory requirements. By aligning these findings with
the Group’s actual managerial practices, we ultimately identified and
selected the material ESG issues.

Balance principle: This report impartially discloses both positive and
negative information to ensure a fair representation of the Company’s
ESG performance during the Reporting Period.

Quantitative principle: Develop a set of ESG metrics across our
departments to conduct regular statistics on key quantitative disclosure
indicators for all “Environmental” and “Social” categories as outlined
in the ESG Reporting Code and summarize and disclose them at the
end of the year. Meanwhile, all related quantitative indicators have clear
statistical calibers, detailed calculation methods and explanations (data
and percentages disclosed in this report that do not add up to the
sum of the values presented or any inconsistencies in the percentage
calculations due to rounding).

Consistency principle: The disclosure scope of this report has not been
significantly adjusted compared with the Group’s annual report, and the
disclosure and statistical methods remain consistent with the previous
year.

Access and Response to this Report

Traditional Chinese and English versions of this report are available.
The electronic version of this report can be obtained from the “Financial
Statements/Environmental, Social and Governance Information”
category of Kangji Medical on the Stock Exchange’s website and
the “Investor Relations” section of the Group’s official website
http://www.kangjimedical.com. If you have any questions or suggestions
on the content of this report, please contact us by the following means:

Tel : (+86)571-69900020
E-mail: ir@kangji.com

R - HERER®RE
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STATEMENT FROM THE BOARD

The Board attaches great importance to the sustainable development
performance of the Group. By formulating effective strategies, the Board
drives the Group to generate positive impacts on the environment and
society while achieving a balance with business objectives. The Group
remains committed to providing customers with innovative, high-
quality, and affordable healthcare products and services. The Board has
established an ESG Committee to assist in reviewing the Group’s ESG-
related strategies, including climate change matters. The Committee
is responsible for identifying key ESG issues, regularly evaluating the
Group’s ESG vision, strategies, framework, principles, and policies,
overseeing the implementation of ESG initiatives and the progress
toward ESG goals, and ensuring that ESG matters align with the Group’s
overall development strategy. The ESG Committee reports on these
matters to and discusses them with the Board every half year through
meetings.

We also attach great importance to the expectations and requirements of
internal and external stakeholders. Through regular or irregular activities,
we communicate closely with stakeholders. Based on the feedback of
stakeholders, we identify and evaluate ESG material issues and discuss
and review them at the Board meeting. Based on the external macro
environment, industry development trends, and its own development
strategies, the Board discusses and determines the Group’s ESG risks
and opportunities and makes decisions on important ESG management
work for the year.

The Board pays close attention to global and local climate change
developments, engaging in ongoing discussions about the risks and
opportunities that climate change may pose to the Group’s business
operations. Based on the regularly assessment results of the likelihood
and impact of these risks and opportunities of the Group, the Board has
discussed and formulated a comprehensive strategy for the Group to
address climate change, aligning with the expectations of shareholders,
customers and the community for the Group’s low-carbon development.
During the Reporting Period, we have reviewed and evaluated the
progress towards our environmental targets, ensuring our corresponding
measures are on track with the national goals of carbon peaking by
2030 and achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. For details, please refer
to the section headed “Green Operations” of this report.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

EXEEY

EZgoBERAKEHERRRE BB
EAMH KR  HBEEHRBMEEELRIE
FE OUEKEEBAGEZENTE BRAE
FPREAN  "E8  TTAENBRREMEREY -
EEZgTRESGZEE  AEMBDEFTSESR
SEeRERMKRELLEREANNESCHBRE i
REBESCGERZZFR THEMEEESGEED
B2 HE - ER RAURKRE  HEESGEE
WEEREEUNEEESGE EHEKIBIL - I
RESGEENAEERRBME ESGEREE

FEAERNEARLAZENEESETER
B T 5
BMTeEERAINSF AR HEMESR -

ARTHATERRRSREHENSHEAS B
mBR EETRERANRE  BMERNMET
HESCEZMHER TEEFS LTRNER -
ERINEB R BRI - ﬁ%%@t‘“ﬂﬁ%’?@ﬁi
g - %$ HTHEIE@EKE@ESGHM/\%
HFEEEESCEE TIEEITRE -

EECRGHITNINRBEELIEBERES
BERREBEELHAEBEERKBELERNEK S
BBETIR EFSTHENEEHREHRS

EREEBYENTHER  WmbTTEEE
;ﬁ EEERMBEBRE ZBRRE TPEEE
ZERAHREBRRBEENRF - AREHAN - &K
MFERTERBEEEN TR IBRET T HHE
B BREEREFAREERMET AR
R [2030fkZE & ~ 2060k A B g - FIBEHL2ZE
HEHEEL =6 -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT US

Founded in 2004 and listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange in 2020, Kangji Medical is a leading enterprise in
China’s minimally invasive surgery sector, dedicated to providing a
comprehensive solution for minimally invasive surgical operations that
encompasses “equipment + instruments + consumables + surgical
robots” for doctors and patients worldwide. As a high-tech enterprise
integrating R&D, manufacturing and sales, Kangji Medical remains
steadfast in its commitment to the product R&D ethos of “originating
from clinical practice to clinical application” and “co-creation and co-
construction with industry, academia and research”. By cultivating
a distinctive ecosystem for academic training and knowledge
dissemination, we have not only propelled the advancement and
widespread adoption of minimally invasive surgical techniques in China
but also made our own contribution to the development of the global
minimally invasive surgical instrument industry.

In the future, Kangji Medical will maintain its focus on the in-depth
application of cutting-edge minimally invasive surgical technologies in
the medical device manufacturing sector. We are set to promote self-
driven innovation in minimally invasive surgical technology, expanding
and refining our product portfolio and accelerating the iterative updates
of our products to deliver all-encompassing, trustworthy and accessible
product solutions to our users.

As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Group has extended its
services to 188 international clients across 80 countries and regions,
serving over 3,500 hospitals (including more than 1,000 Class IIIA
hospitals) nationwide. Meanwhile, we have established long-term
industry-academia-research collaborations with many of China’s top-
tier Class IlIA hospitals, pushing forward the advancement of minimally
invasive surgical technologies in China and globally, benefiting patients
around the world.
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MEXAF BAREBLERMGD IEEME
REH RAPRHEE2E W&k A RHNEME
RITE o

HEREHR  ANEBEAEA2RSEBRR Mt
EM18sEEE RS - 2H3,5008 KRB (K
1,00082 R =R EEfr) IR AR - RRFEE R Z K
BERA=-FERERRHESHEIE BIEFERD
ZRBIIN T - ER T R B EE -
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Major Honours

In 2024, the list of honours received by the Group is as follows:

Honour

FERE

Awarding Authority

20245 F - REMPTELEIRMT :

Issue Date

PR E

1 Zhejiang AAA-Level Contract & Credit

Integrity Enterprise
WTETAREERAAALE

2 Zhejiang Provincial Foreign-funded

R&D Center
AL & SNE T B A 0

3 Hangzhou Headquarters Enterprise

TN TH 48R b %

4 2024 Top 500 High-Tech Enterprises
in Zhejiang by Innovation Capability

20244F [Z T L A& = 8 Bl 1 3 21 % Be

7150058

5 Disposable ultrasonic soft tissue

cutting & hemostasis scalpel blade
was listed in 2023 “Zhejiang Premium

Manufacturing Products”

—RME B EAK R LM ) 5E
ANE2023F E I ERm] B E

6 Disposable electronic intrauterine
hysteroscope & image processing
system was certified as 2024 Zhejiang

First (Set of) Equipment

—RMEEFERABRLEGEZER
R E2024F IR EA (B)EH

]
O A

7 2024 “ESG Value Award (H-Share)”
of China Listed Companies Yinghua

Award

20247 B A A L 42 [ B RESGE

==
8 Wind ESR Rating A
E15(Wind)ESGFEA& A TA]

EEEE

Administration for Market Regulation of
Zhejiang Province

AIEMBEEEIRR

Department of Science and Technology of
Zhejiang Province

AT & B2 Rl R

Hangzhou Municipal Development and Reform
Commission

MMmERNREZES

Institute of Scientific and Technical Information
of Zhejiang Province

AT EREE BTk

Department of Economy and Information of
Zhejiang Province
AT A BRI BLEE

Department of Economy and Information of
Zhejiang Province

AT KR EMEB(CE

China Fund
FEES®

Wind Information Co., Ltd.
BEEERMKRHERAA

THERE
August 2024

2024/08
December 2024

2024/12
October 2024

2024/10
December 2024

2024/12

May 2024

2024/05

December 2024

2024/12

July 2024

2024/07

July 2024
2024/07
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Honour Awarding Authority Issue Date

PR E A HERE
MSCI ESG Rating AA Morgan Stanley Capital International August 2024

B R(MSCIESGFF 4 & [ AA | EEAR S FE R A A 2024/08

11 2024 Global Zhejiang Entrepreneurs Zhejiang Entrepreneurs Development Institute October 2024
ESG Top 100 (Zhejiang Think Tank) & Zhejiang Businessman
20244 2 M EESGAL #2100 Magazine

WEERARR OFEEE) ROTBE) M 2024/10

13 CDP Rating C Global Environmental Information Research February 2025
Tk 4% 7= 18 B (CDP)FT A & [ CJ Center
RIRBBEEFEEHEFR O 2025/02
ESG GOVERNANCE ESGE’E

Kangji Medical actively takes on corporate social responsibility by REBERGEECELTSEMT  HESGE 2@
integrating the concept of ESG into its daily business activities and AZBEXKEEB R EE P - W HESGIEEE R b
management and incorporating ESG risks into the Group’s risk MAAREERREZRER - DEERE BB A #
management system to promote the sustainable development of the &R -

Group.

ESG Governance Structure ESGERER

Kangji Medical has established a three-tier ESG governance structure at REBBERZTARERE EEHE BITEN=R
the governance level, management level and execution level, composed ESGEAHE I HEFE - ESGZE®  ESGL
of the Board, the ESG Committee and the ESG Working Group, with a  {E/NEERK - FRBEH THAE - HAHK— -
clear division of responsibilities and coordination at all levels.

0 The Board, as the highest responsible body in the ESG e EECIERESGERAERBRINES T TK
governance structure, is responsible for the review and approval T BEESGEHEEEMEZRMALE

of all ESG matters;

D The ESG Committee under the Board, as the core body in the EE Y TRHMESGE B 8 ERESGE AL
ESG governance structure, is authorized by the Board to oversee BROZORE KhEZgRE BF
the implementation of ESG policies and measures; ESBESGHUR R M BL1T

. The ESG Working Group, as the main coordination and execution ~ ® ESGI{E/NEIEFRESGE AERPHEE
body in the ESG governance structure, is responsible for the HAFNITHRE - B FESCEHE BN S
implementation of various ESG measures. 1 E M o

BEESTRREMRAT 2024FEFHE
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ESG Governance Structure of Kangji Medical

EEBERESGERLEH

Governance level Board of Directors Mr. Zhong Ming
BEE 5F8 EIRSE
Management level ESG Committee Ms. Shentu Yinguang
BIEE ESGZE S BREIRNZ L
Execution level ESG Working Group Mr. Yin Zixin

HiTE ESGIT{E/N4 FEERE

Group leader

A=
Mr. Zhong Ming
IS4
Deputy group leader Deputy group leader Deputy group leader
BI#E < =1 EI#E <
Mr. Tang Wenpeng Mr. Yin Zixin Ms. Hu Yanyu
==9°¢ Pk [ ] FEEKLE [ ST+

General coordinator
A iFAN
Mr. Wang Xiaoming
FEERRSTE

Departments of the Group
headquarters and subsidiaries
REBEBEZHFIRMNBAR

QQ_ — Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Stakeholder Engagement

Kangji Medical is committed to building a good cooperative relationship
with stakeholders, striving to achieve mutually beneficial outcomes. To
understand the expectations and demands of stakeholders promptly
and comprehensively, we actively identify stakeholders who are closely
related to the Group’s development based on our business scope
and the nature of production and operations. We expand diverse
communication channels, establish immediate, effective and long-term
communication mechanisms, and actively respond to stakeholders
through concrete actions. During the Reporting Period, we maintained
close communication with stakeholders, using various offline and online
methods to encourage stakeholders’ engagement in significant decision-
making and other strategic planning, helping the Group to formulate
more effective management decisions and continuously improve the
ESG management standard.

The stakeholders that are important to the Group’s business operations
and the methods of communication and response are shown in the table
below:

Stakeholders Main Issues of Concern

BRI EERE
Medical inclusiveness
Supply chain management

Product safety and quality
Intellectual property protection

Mz AERA TS

Shareholders/Investors

R REE BEER
HrEgEEE
EmTzREE

S ERERE

Government/Regulators Product safety and quality
Medical inclusiveness
Intellectual property protection

Employee rights and interests protection

BT/ EERE EnktiER
BRELE
FIGHE R &

8 Tz RE

R - HERER®RE

MEEBALBE

EEBEINNENSHBETEERINAIFH
F BHEREEZEH - ARBAZEMTHEH
SARANBMEMG R RAERE S XFHE
HAEKLENE BRI EAEERERAEY
BMENNGEET  MEZTLBERRE £
BER AR RENEBRES  YABRITHE
1 B fE R 25 48 B 07 B Sk - RIREH - AT T
SARTRBERRER BAGTMRLEZER
A B M AR 7 2 EEAORE K E A B SIE -
NEBAREBEGEEARNEIRRE - HERA
ESGEIEKF o

HAEBESELCEENMEREIRERRAD
FEARRMTER :

Methods of Engagement and Response
BEHEEES X

Shareholder general meetings
Regular reports and announcements
Investor meetings/Phone/Video
conferences

Results announcements

On-site visits

Investor’s hotline

fRERAE

FEHmERAE
REERESR EFE/GESH
xBuhe

Bi528

& H BT

On-site visits and meetings
Policy implementation

Official correspondence
Information disclosure

R528 8%

BRHATT

AEELN

EERE

BEETERERERAR 2024FE@WE
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Stakeholders

Main Issues of Concern

Methods of Engagement and Response

Flz=AEBA
Suppliers

HER

Customers/Distributors

BP/BHE

Partners

BIERH

Doctors/Patients

BEBE

Employees

]
H

BEINETERE
Product safety and quality

Technology and innovation
Supply chain management

EmirHEE
1y £2 A1)
Hresge s

Medical inclusiveness
Responsible marketing
Product safety and quality
Collaborative industry growth

BREE

BREEHE
EmZrmEE

T HRERE

Product safety and quality
Medical inclusiveness
Intellectual property protection
Collaborative industry growth
EmZruEE

BRLE

MBERRE
THEHRIERE

Product safety and quality
Responsible marketing
Technology and innovation
Anti-corruption

EmTEEES

BRELH

B B 21 T

REE

Employee welfare and compensation
Employee rights and interests protection
Occupational health and safety

Talent development

Diversity and equality

B T 4% 7 &2 37 B
B ITZRE
BERBEMNZS
AT BEE
ZibEEE

BEREDER X

Phone/Email/WeChat/Questionnaires
Supplier meetings

Investigations and visits

Assessment on suppliers

BB WisHE

HESSE

SRR E D

R AT
Phone/Email/WeChat/Questionnaires
Academic promotion

Distributor meetings

Training

B BH s/ HE

10 HE

KHAE g

=3
Phone/Email/WeChat/Questionnaires
On-site visits and meetings

BiE BB M5 M

RE28LE3
Training

Industry meetings

Phone/Email/WeChat/Questionnaires
Internal meetings

Employee activities

Communication and engagement with
employees

Training

BB s/ M5

WAL & 5

BIEH

8 T EH R

=3l

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Stakeholders Main Issues of Concern

WEZEHE

Technology and innovation
Wastewater/Waste management
Medical inclusiveness

Product safety and quality
Bl B2 Rl 7

REKREEYE B

BREELE

EmTLHEES

Exhaust emission management

Fl = EEA S
Media/Social organization

Community/Public

Occupational health and safety
Public welfare and charity

(o 2PN BERBENE B
BEK /BRI E 2
BEEEMZ 2

T N

Wastewater/waste emission management

R - HERER®RE

Methods of Engagement and Response
EEHEEES X

Press release/Announcements
Interviews
Meetings

HEM, D
®ih
2%

Community activities
Volunteer services

s
B AR 75

Analysis of Material Issues

During the Reporting Period, with reference to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Code of HKEX and the Sustainability
Reporting Standards of GRI, among other disclosure guidelines, we took
into account the characteristics of the minimally invasive surgery industry
and the actual business situation of the Group to identify and summarize
23 ESG material issues. No additional or reduced material issues were
identified during the year.

Through engaging in policy research, media analysis, industry
benchmarking and questionnaire surveys directed at internal and external
stakeholders, we assessed the materiality of each ESG issue from two
aspects, namely the importance to the Group’s strategic operations and
the importance to stakeholders. The assessment results were ranked
and divided into three tiers of materiality: high, moderate and general.
There are 4 issues of high materiality, 17 of moderate materiality, and
2 of general materiality. This report will provide a targeted disclosure of
our responses to these issues, proportionate to their levels of materiality

EEMEEDM

AREHAN BRMALEEEBMIACRE L g
RERHETAD MGRKAIFHEZERIREFLE)E
ERBEES  BAMANIBTERREREAEE
MEBEREBERL HE B HN2REELREE
ETERAN - AEEEMEIR S EEMHE -

BBRERBEME KB TERHE AR
HERINBMEABDRRBSH - BFES
AEBBRELCTEREENLENEHBEIZE
BEMAH  FhHSBEESGHENERIEE W E
THRF REERIRBE HEM—R=@E%
FoHp SEBEUEEIR PEEEMZE
17TRAR —REENFEE2R - AR EBIRIEE
EREHRXEABELETAHHENRELE -

BEETERERERAR 2024FE@WE
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Identification

% Bl

Assessment

BaE

Review and
Reporting
REREAR G

Analysis Process of Material Issues

EENBEINMBRE

We identify ESG issues based on industry development characteristics and our own business practices.
ERTEBEREMNE FEBER - B HIESGEA -
v

We conduct external policy research, peer benchmarking analysis, media survey analysis, and document
reviews. We also conduct surveys and interviews with stakeholders, inviting input from both internal and

external stakeholders to assess the materiality of each issue. This helps us understand the priority issues
that stakeholders are concerned about, leading to the creation of an analysis matrix of materiality issues.

FRINBBERITE  TREFRON  KBRE D REFIAAR XX - AR 2518 B8 77 85T 55 A I B 3 A SN
BAEER T E R REEREREETHE  TENSERIBINELSHER  TREZEZEDNEE -

v

Aligning with our strategic planning and business policy, we review and confirm the preliminary assessment
results of these issues; the material issue matrix is then presented to the management for confirmation of
the identified issues’ materiality and their impact; this report truthfully presents the Group’s performance
on relevant issues and provides targeted responses and disclosures that correspond to their level of
materiality.

HABBMRBAMGLE it HFENNSAEHERETRIENER : SERUREEREZRETERE %R
ERFIZENEZEUREYE  ERETNERRAEEEHEZE LORE  RESENERREETT
B EMEHEEMRKE -

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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oot

High
BREE
Medical inclusiveness
o
ERZ2AEE
Product safety and quality
[
pinma
EEREELRE [ ) Technology and innovation
Information safety and privacy protection AEEEH E!
[ ] RAR Responsible AT ?0%1? 5&1}5 hgealth and safety
Anti-cormuption marketing @ Employee rights and P
P interests protection

. AAER ® EkEENER
TEHARERE
Collaborative industry growlh. Ozt

4
Pk
o 2 e L
o 2 Supply chain management () @ S TEHNEHM ;
) < HERRE Employee welfare and compensation
i (2] Intellectual property protection °
o
23 Aarers
e STRTS e sgemen
= g Diversity and equality
Q o
We @ ERER P

mg&eargree:‘%wtces Energy management
® ccannpnen
ESG risk and crisis management

© esgam
[ ] ESG governance
BEMHER
Packaging material management

© TREBLER
Climate change
management

[ Jin-yN-
Public welfare and charity

& HEEERNEEL &
Low Importance to Kangji Medical High
@ ThaE @ RuEE @ Em#E @ BT#E @ iHEEIEE
Governance issue Environmental issue Product issue Employee issue Social responsibility issue
Issues of High Materiality (4 items) Issues of Moderate Materiality (17 items) Issues of General Materiality (2 item)
BEEEMEEGE) hEEEHHEE(1TE) —REZHHEQE)

Medical inclusiveness Wastewater/waste management Employee welfare and compensation Public welfare and charity
BRER BKBRNER ETHEFEHH HEAE

Technology and innovation Anti-corruption gy bl el et Climate change management

RIS RAR o REBIER

Information safety and privacy
protectlon

Occupatlonal health and safety ResponS|bIe #nzgérketmg Collaboratlve mdg;try growth
Rt 245
Talent development Supply chain management
AT 8RR HEEEE
Exhaust emission management Energy management

BRUENERE HREE

Diversity and equality Water resources management
ZRLETE KERER

Product safety and quallty InteIIectuaI property protection
A #

ESG risk and crisis management ESG governance
ESGRRKEHERE ESGHE
Packaging material management
BEMHER

BEETERRERDR 2024FFHE
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PURSUIT OF QUALITY

Kangji Medical is steadfast in our commitment to a quality policy
that emphasizes “standardized management in line with regulatory
requirements; high-quality services that meet customer needs; quality-
oriented operations for continued growth; and innovative efforts
dedicated to improving human health.” We are constantly refining our
quality management systems, consolidating our brand foundation with
high-quality offerings and shaping our brand strategy around the needs
of our customers. By broadening and deepening our customer service,
we strive to continually enhance our customers’ satisfaction with the
quality of our products and services.

In 2024, we successfully achieved our established product quality
objectives:

Annual Quality Metrics

FEHBIKEE
First-pass yield of disposable product

First-pass yield of reusable products

Quality Control System

Kangji Medical considers product quality as its cornerstone. We are
dedicated to continually enhancing product quality and creating a well-
established product quality control system to offer safe and reliable
products for doctors and patients. The Company strictly adheres to the
Regulation on the Supervision and Administration of Medical Devices,
the Regulations of Medical Devices and the Administrative Measures
on the Production of Medical Devices, the Administrative Measures for
the Registration of Medical Devices, the Production Measures and the
Standards on Production and Quality Management of Medical Devices
and the Management for Medical Devices Trials and other management
regulations. In line with international and domestic standards such as the
EU Medical Device Regulation (MDR) and Medical Electrical Equipment
(GB9706.1-2020) standards, we keep the Group’s quality manual and
quality procedures up to date in a timely manner. During the Reporting
Period, we revised the quality manual, adding 4 new procedure
documents and updating 25 procedure documents (with a total of 25
revisions). Additionally, we optimized relevant work instructions and
record forms to ensure product compliance with national and industry
standards.

During the Reporting Period, we successfully passed the annual audits
for both the EN ISO 13485 and ISO 9001 quality management systems,
maintained the validity of CE certification, and obtained the AR120
certificate and FDA 510(k) clearance. Additionally, we completed the
submission of MDR registration dossiers for 13 export products.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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20245 - ML ETKBENEREEER
Actual

Performance

BIRERER

BAERE 299% 99.52%
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Product Quality Management

Kangji Medical is committed to continuously improving the quality
management level of the whole life cycle of products. We have
formulated control procedures related to quality, such as the Internal
Quality Audit Control Procedure, Product Surveillance and Measurement
Control Procedure, the Product Release Control Procedure and the
Non-conforming Product Control Procedure. From product design
and R&D, raw material procurement, manufacturing, warehousing and
transportation to after-sales support, strict quality assurance measures
are implemented to prevent any substandard products from reaching
the market. We also timely take appropriate measures to solve quality
problems found.

Product Design Production management

and R&D and product inspection
Eimiat Supplier £EEER  warehouse
Spas evaluation ERBER management and
and incoming logistics transportation
material management BiREEE
MR ER Y E
NEEE

R - HERER®RE

EmEEER

FEBRIIRTHREAEREEGBENES
EIEKF - BAFETC(ABEEFTZEHRT)
(ERERMBEZEHIEF) CEMBITEWIZRF)
(TABRENEF)EREEBRBNERFXXMT
REMMRFEME  RMBRE  £ERE -
AREAIERREROERERNEERER
M BRTABARRATS  LHERNEERH
7B N B BR AR B R BORIE A

Kangji Medical
product quality

management

BEEBREREEEE

After-sales and feedback

ERERR

REETRRERAR 2024FERE
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R HERERERE

Product Design and R&D

We follow the Company’s “Design and Development Control Procedures”
and adopt the digital Product Lifecycle Management (PLM) system
to establish strict control and verification procedures throughout our
product design and development process. Quality control is enforced
at stages including design input, prototype design, design review and
design transfer, with detailed quality records maintained at each stage to
continuously improve the precision of product design quality control.

. Design Input: Set clear internal and external quality standards
for products and determine specific requirements for product
performance, functionality, durability, etc.;

o Prototype Design: Issue a design report that outlines product
standards, product inspection and testing standards,
confirmation of production conditions and other content related
to production processes and operational standards;

o Design Review: The Technical Committee conducts a review
of our product designs to confirm compliance with our quality
benchmarks;

° Design Transfer: Conduct an assessment covering aspects such

as raw materials, production equipment, workshop environment,
operators and inspection criteria to lay a foundation for mass
production while ensuring product quality.

In instances where quality issues emerge during the design process,
our project manager will promptly carry out quality analysis and
modifications, followed by a subsequent round of review, to solidly
safeguard the quality of our product designs.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Supplier Evaluation and Incoming Material Management

We consistently adhere to internal process standards to standardize
raw material incoming inspections and continuously enhance supplier
training. During the Reporting Period, our key management activities
included:

o Conduct quality assessments during supplier onboarding by
reviewing suppliers’ qualifications and quality management
system certifications, while performing dynamic evaluations
based on their responsiveness to quality risk alerts to ensure
stable supply of high-quality materials;

. Develop work instructions for raw material management that
clearly define inspection methods, acceptance criteria, and
substandard material return and replacement procedures, with
mandatory retention of all inspection records. In cases of quality
deviations, the Procurement Department shall communicate
with the supplier to return or replace the materials, carry out
quality investigation according to the quality judgment result, and
continuously track the supplier’s quality rectification;

° Continuously implement supplier training programs to improve
their understanding of product applications and required
manufacturing processes and environmental controls, thereby
enhancing supply quality.

Production Management and Product Inspection

We attach great importance to the quality control of the product
production process, allocate management teams with corresponding
operational capabilities and professional skills according to the unique
attributes of various products, and allocate quality inspection specialists
at each production node to ensure the quality control of key links in
place.

We leverage digital management systems in our workshops to refine our
product production management down to the individual performance of
each machine and employee, enabling real-time monitoring of production
status to ensure timely identification and resolution of quality issues.
We use the Manufacturing Execution System (MES) in the workshop
production process to carry out fine management of production tasks,
production plans, equipment and molds. When defective products occur,
the MES system will collect data and trigger alarm on the quantity,
proportion and names of the defective products, allowing employees to
promptly understand the production processes and procedures that led
to the defect, thereby assisting production personnel in taking timely
rectification measures.

R - HERER®RE

HETERINEEE

AP ER 45 Ak R 0 BB R AR AR % -
= WA REREY
BTUATERIE:

RERMHIESR
WmEHA - LI

. FRHEERAEANRENEETRE BEMH
EENEEREEERRAREBL I
HmAMERREREEEER TR EF
fl DAMRIE S E R B E (e

. RERMEEEHEEERESE HES
BREMHN R ERERE  URTER
mRBRERE  WERBEABRRERM
BmBReis Rt  mBEERMHEER
REFNERN RBESRHEEHEBRBRR
B ARSI EERRREERS
WiFERM RN L ERUWIBFNR

. SERRMENE B RERERE
mEMBEREMBORETEMRE ¥
Bt Em R HEEE -

SEEEREERRR

HMEEEREREEBRESES KBS
EntBREELEAGHEBEL R NHEER
BEMEEEK  TASEEFHEKEEERAE
8 MEMERHESEEIMC -

BMELEERRABRACERRS  BEME
EEEFAEE a8 EE BT BERE
TEMEERE BREERERKER  IE
BRI HMEEREERRETHRARERTES
(MES) - 8 AEEER - £ETE - RE - BEET
BALERE EHRTERGE  ZRZGBE T
ERERNEBE WOIRARBRETRELE
BER NEETIRRETHRIEFMENEETE
BT WBAEEA B R RIEUIEE -
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The Group has consistently implemented the “Lean Management”
initiative across production departments. This program involved
engaging third-party quality management experts to conduct operational
assessments and deliver specialized training to enhance production
quality. In 2024, we successfully completed 13 production quality
improvement projects and certified 8 lean manufacturing specialists,
reducing per-unit costs in precision machining workshops and improving
production yield rates effectively.

During the Reporting Period, the Group officially commissioned its newly
constructed R&D building and executed comprehensive upgrades to
all specialized laboratories (electrical, optical, physical, chemical, and
sterilization). The enhanced laboratories not only provide significantly
expanded workspace but are also equipped with state-of-the-art testing
equipment, substantially improving both the capability and efficiency of
product testing processes.

F

Warehouse Management and Logistics Transportation

We formulated Product Protection and Delivery Control Procedures,
using appropriate packaging forms to ensure that the packaging of
products meets the requirements of product technical standards, and
can effectively protect products to maintain product quality during
warehousing and transportation.

1{02 — Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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We rigorously implement our internal systems such as the Warehouse
Management Regulations, pay attention to the storage environment
of products, clarify the requirements of warehouse fire prevention,
temperature and humidity and mold prevention, and arrange relevant
departments to carry out monthly supervision and inspection regularly
to ensure that management measures are implemented in place. We
have continuously carried out the following management practices in
accordance with the Warehouse Management Regulations:

o Specify the warehouse management responsibilities across
relevant departments;

o Set guidelines for the warehouse’s temperature and humidity
levels, equipping the space with pest control and fire safety
equipment, with regular cleanings to ensure a hygienic
environment;

o Specify the management regulations for the storage and
retrieval of raw materials, semi-finished products and finished
products and abiding strictly by the requirements of the related
management regulations;

o Establish product storage and environmental requirements,
dividing the storage area into sections for inspection, qualified
products and non-qualified products and installing signage to
accommodate the needs of different storage facilities;

o Specify the minimum inventory requirements for different types of
products.

In addition, the relevant departments of the Group carry out a
comprehensive review of the entrusted external transport units and
conduct a strict inspection from multiple dimensions to ensure that their
transportation quality assurance capabilities meet the requirements of
product transportation.

After-Sales and Feedback

We have established management procedures such as Customer
Feedback Control Procedure, Customer-Related Control Procedure,
Customer Complaint Process, Control Procedure for Medical Device
Notification and Recall, and Control Procedure for Adverse Event
Reporting, forming robust after-sales service system that ensures timely
response to customer complaints and proactive monitoring/reporting
of defective products or batches. We place high priority on customer
feedback and complaints, actively collecting input and improvement
suggestions through multiple channels: phone calls, emails, video
conferences, satisfaction surveys, face-to-face meetings, and on-site
visits. When complaints occur, we conduct thorough investigations
to determine root causes, then implement targeted corrective and
preventive actions to mitigate impacts and prevent recurrence. During
the Reporting Period, no product recalls were initiated due to quality
defects, safety concerns, or any other product-related issues.
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To enhance responsiveness to domestic customers, we expanded the
size of our after-sales service team this year and implemented refined
regional assignments to improve service efficiency and precision.
Simultaneously, after-sales service team increased training frequency
for channel partners to strengthen their understanding of our product
features, ultimately elevating service quality and efficiency for end-users.
Furthermore, to improve product the timeliness of product maintenance,
we adopted a centralized spare parts management approach by
establishing after-sales spare parts warehouses in high-usage cities
(Beijing, Shanghai, and Guangzhou), providing nearby delivery services
to reduce transportation time.

This year, through a wider range of customer visits, international
exhibitions and other opportunities to communicate with international
customers face to face, we have a more comprehensive and in-depth
understanding of them in the delivery timeliness, product quality,
registration documentation completeness, product R&D innovation and
sales service support and other dimensions of demand. We organized
professional training and experience exchange activities for international
sales teams to enhance the communication skills and service awareness
of sales employees. We also cooperated with the R&D department to
actively explore product optimization and upgrading programs, integrate
customer needs into product innovation design, and further meet
customer expectations for product functions.

HEBERAEF ARESBBEEEPRE  AF
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After-sales Service 2024 2023

ER- R 20244 2023%F

Customer satisfaction — domestic (%) EERMEE-—BAN%) 98.26 97.87

Customer satisfaction — international (%) BEEMEE —BIE(%) 91.62! 94.80

Number of complaints (cases) WFEE () 18 9
1 In 2024, we incorporated product pricing as an additional dimension in our international customer satisfaction

evaluation system to enhance the assessment’s reference value. As a result, the satisfaction scores show a

decrease compared to 2023 data.

20245 % BN ERERBABBRREREEFGEE  URAFNGERNIT2E L - HBUER2023F M T -

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Quality Culture Development

We are committed to building a deeply ingrained quality culture by
continuously enhancing employees’ quality awareness and management
capabilities. Through monthly, semi-annual, and annual quality
meetings with cross-functional departments (including procurement,
production, quality, R&D, registration, and HR), we systematically review
performance in raw material inspection, in-process testing, finished
product verification, customer complaints, adverse events, and employee
training, while actively developing and implementing quality improvement
initiatives. During the Reporting Period, we organized and carried out a

R HERERRE

HEXLER

HMBORBRAAALHEE XL - TERA
BTESRRMEEETEKY  RAEBERE -
AE-EE - WE - 2 ASEFHRMAERAE

FEE -FELEINTRA KEHERERM R
B BRERR KmBE - FPKRHF - TREMN

BTHRIETENERBRETCR - IS
EBEREERATER - ARMSHA - LAAH
RERTZSEAEEEZRAEI T2

number of special quality management trainings, mainly including:

Training Program Name

R

Employee Quality Awareness Training

BETEEEHE

Lean Production Training

B EE

Interpretation of Usability Design and Registration and Declaration
Compliance for Medical Devices

B R B m T AR AL AR AT AL R B A AR E SRR AT

Excellence Management Skill Upgrade for Team Leaders in Medical
Device Manufacturing
EESMAERNEEUTAREBRERA

Basic Microbiology Knowledge and Microbial Control in Cleanrooms
A ) BT S0 38 OB T & D A R

Training on Measurement Equipment and Laboratory Management
Knowledge

RAEXRENER=EREMAAZE

Laboratory Technician Training

LR85

Standard learning for Abdominal Piercers (New Standard)
EMAFRIBREEE GIR)

Training on Adverse Event & Main Responsibility Implementation
TREMEME ZEXBEEHEME

Training on Purified Water Equipment for Laboratory

BB =R KRESE

Training on Sterility Testing

R 5 AE R

Training and Promotion on Pharmaceutical & National Standards

EEOTERELABRRETE

Training on Medical Device De
Enhancement

ERSMEREL S

=gl
velopment & Safety Capability

B h TR

Target Participants

b g PN

All members of the Production Department

£ EHMZE

Managers and technicians of the Production Department
HEBMEBASETIES

Staff from the Quality Department, R&D Technical Department and
Registration Department

EER HERMBMIMBET
Team leaders of the Production Department

FEDMRAR
All members of the Quality Department
BE2H28

Personnel involved in measurement equipment management

AERBERHEBAS

Laboratory technicians

1t &

All members of the Quality Department

HEXN2E

All members of the Quality Department

EEX=2E

Laboratory personnel

EREAR

Laboratory personnel

EREAR

Staff from the Quality Department, R&D Technical Department and
Registration Department

EER MHERMBNIMBET

Staff from the Quality Department, R&D Technical Department and
Registration Department

EER HERMBAIMBET
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R HERERERE

In addition, we continue to carry out internal quality activities to enhance
employee quality awareness, including monthly quality improvement
proposal awards and annual quality knowledge competitions. We
honoured those employees who have made significant contributions
to quality control and improvement in our annual ceremony where we
awarded two prestigious titles of “Quality Star” and “Improvement
Expert”, serving as an incentive for active participation in quality control
practices.

DE. WS .

ki

CONTINUOUS INNOVATION

Kangji Medical always adheres to the core value of “innovation first”,
firmly believing that product R&D and innovation are the key driving
forces for the Group’s development. We adopt a R&D strategy that
is oriented by clinical needs and characterized by active and rapid
feedback, dedicated to building a minimally invasive surgery solution
platform that integrates “equipment + instruments + consumables +
surgical robots.” We continue to promote the innovative development
of the medical industry, and establish open, inclusive and mutually
beneficial partnerships to benefit all doctors and patients with the

o B ERRABEEEHUARABTE
EEE BRRAEEENERENR FEEE
HMEHBES YR EEEEHRELEERZTER
AREMETL  BMEFEREBRZRETHE
BIEE87E|MINEETIRIEA  USBHE2EE
THEBHRESEEZANEEE -

KrERIF

EEEBRREFHAFAZINZLEEE &
MERMEHRAFTEAEEERNERHES -
ﬁzﬁﬁ%’ﬁjtxﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁm%ﬂﬁﬁ'l%%i}iﬁfmﬂ

REE  BAORBESE [RB+SS W+ FEM+F T
a%/\JJ%—%@E’JHIE\J%«TmM%Eﬁié o T 945
BHESEETENEFEE  THERAK 228
BEFEGORTER EEERNE—PELE
—BAEEBE AREHAN AEEFEIZA
6,5188 7T ' 1H#HE WA HB.47% » E2023F &

advancement of medical technology. During the Reporting Period,  17.4%?2 : 15 BT o 3 8137 # Bh1,104 & T ©
the Group invested RMB65.18 million in R&D, accounting for 6.47%

of sales revenue, representing a 17.4%?2 increase compared to 2023.

Additionally, we received RMB11.04 million in government grants for

R&D and innovation.

2 This year’s data reporting criteria exclude Weijing Medical. To ensure consistency in comparisons, the 2023

data has been adjusted to align with this year’s statistical scope.

BEHREER - WEUR S LR B2023F H B QS E
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R&D System

Kangji Medical always considers R&D efforts to be rooted in clinical
needs. We engage in active dialogue with doctors and customers for
their feedback on product performance. This approach documents
surgical procedures, which allows us to tailor our products to meet
clinical needs, embodying our development philosophy of medicine-
engineering synergy. We have formulated and strictly implemented
R&D system processes such as the Design and Development Control
Procedures, the R&D Investment Management Measures, the New
Product R&D Management System and the Technical Confidentiality
System. During the product R&D project initiation stage, we cooperate
with departments such as registration, production and sales to clarify
the R&D direction and ensure related departments understand their
responsibilities at each stage of R&D, safeguarding the quality and
progress of product development. As of the end of the Reporting Period,
the total number of R&D personnel of the Group was 164, an increase of
26.15%° compared with 2023.

Strengthening R&D Incentive System

Kangji Medical values and incentivize the work morale of R&D personnel.
We have formulated the R&D Performance Evaluation and Reward
System, which integrates a project-based assessment framework. This
allows us to determine performance rewards based on the effectiveness
of R&D projects and the individual contributions of R&D personnel to
their teams, so as to promote independent innovation of R&D personnel.
We have also established the Patent Application Reward System to
link patent applications with the performance of R&D personnel, and
stimulate the innovation potential of R&D personnel.

R - HERER®RE

MEER
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g This year’s data reporting criteria exclude Weijing Medical. To ensure consistency in comparisons, the 2023

data has been adjusted to align with this year’s statistical scope.
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Fostering Growth Among R&D Talent

Kangji Medical places a high priority on R&D personnel training. We offer
a diverse array of training programs tailored to the specific roles and
positions of our R&D personnel in support of bolstering their professional
expertise and operational proficiency.

o New Employee Training: We continuously conduct training for
new employees involved in product design and development,
which includes training on the Regulation on the Supervision
and Administration of Medical Devices, the ISO 13485 system,
internal R&D standards and professional skills. The training helps
new employees become familiar with the regulatory requirements
related to medical device development and ensure that product
development processes adhere to the compliance standards;

o Product Familiarization Training: We continue to carry out
product training for R&D personnel to deepen their understanding
of our product features, assisting them in fully taking into
account product features and clinical needs during the R&D
process, thereby improving R&D quality;

o Regular Collaborative Training: We have instituted a routine
of internal team training sessions within our R&D project
teams, providing multidimensional training in aspects such as
project management, technical skills and communication skills,
continuously refining the all-around capabilities of our R&D
professionals.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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R&D Achievements

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Kangji Medical is steadfast in its commitment to delivering increasingly
efficient comprehensive solutions for minimally invasive surgical
procedures to both doctors and patients. We consistently integrate
industry-academia collaboration and medicine-engineering synergy as
core R&D philosophies, accelerating the development of microwave
ablation, optical endoscopy and disposable electron microscopy,
fluorescent camera systems, and other medical products to enhance
the diversification of our products and business. During the Reporting
Period, we obtained new registration certificates for several key
products. Looking forward, our product pipeline will continue to expand:

Category

5l
Equipment

Instruments

25

Consumables

FEM

New Certifications Obtained in 2024
2024 F FEL

e Electronic hysteroscopic endoscope
image processor
e Plasma energy equipment

e BEFAFREEGREESR
o FEETRERME

e Rigid hysteroscope

¢ Rigid electrocoagulation and
electrocutting endoscope

e High-definition thoracoabdominal
endoscope

e Continuous ligation clip applier

e Absorbable tissue clip applier

o WHERE

s WUHEHREYNEE

s RBMBEENER

o EHETAEF RIS

o AR UK AR 4 B e e 25

e Absorbable knotless surgical sutures

e Continuous ligation clips

e Disposable electronic hysteroscope

e Disposable electronic ureteroscope

e Disposable shave knife heads

e Disposable plasma surgical electrodes

o ARG AT M AR AR

o BEEIR

o —REBFERE

e —RUBEBFHKRER
o —RMEEIHITIER

s —RMFHTFTMER

R - HERER®RE

W s R R

FEBERKRIINMBENBEREESHD
MEISMNIF B RBBARAT R - RIFFESESH
me BIESERDAROMBEIES  MEM
BMEER  RBAREN —RUEEFE &K
BEZRSEAER BAEREXBNZ L -
ABEHA  HAFRETETREZEMRNT
ME EnERSINE—FTEE:

Certification Plans for 2025

2025% 5t S EL &

e 4 arm laparoscopic surgical robot system

e Power equipment for medical endoscopic
surgery

e Microwave ablation instrument

e 3D4K fluorescent camera system

o AFMERRE TS AR

o BERRNBEFMENRME

o BURHEEE

o BD4KENFEE RS

e 3D4K fluorescent electronic laparoscopy

o JD4KENEFREREE

e Disposable electronic cystoscope

e Disposable absorbable tissue clamp

e Disposable microwave ablation electrode

e Ultrasonic tool head (ultrasonic bipolar)
for ultrasonic high frequency surgical
integrated system

o —RMETEME

o — R TR L AR A 5

o —IRIEBURHRLE &

s HERBIINEKRAFEETIR(BERE
1)
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lllustrations and Descriptions of Some New Products

BoFERNERRNA

Absorbable Knot-less Suture is made of purple synthetic
PDO material, offering excellent biocompatibility and
hydrolytic properties in the human body. It prevents foreign
body residue while reducing potential infection risks. The
unique barbed design eliminates the need for assistant-
assisted traction during suturing, with reinforced barb length
ensuring secure fixation. The Mani needle combines flexibility

N and strength, featuring a cabinet-shaped needle design for
easy handling.
ARKEITEBRREAREALAEKPDOM BRI - A8
NEBRFOEMERERMKELERE  ATAREEYER -
Bt 8 2 T 88 A AT RS IR M) R R R BR © B R a0 B RIGR 5
ERETERENBEF AETHFHEHEZKNLSRE - A
BREE BRETH FTERESHRADEERE HE
B RN -

Disposable Continuous Ligating Clips and Continuous
Ligation Clip Applier are used for occlusion and ligation of
blood vessels, bile ducts, pancreatic ducts, and other tubular
structures in laparoscopic and general surgical procedures.
These clips enable continuous application without reloading,
allowing multiple ligations in a single operation to significantly
improve surgical efficiency. The reusable clip applier
withstands high-temperature and high-pressure sterilization,
offering cost-effectiveness while conserving medical
resources and reducing costs. Additionally, the product
comes in various sizes to accommodate diverse surgical
scenarios, providing flexible options for surgeons.
= — R M B A B R R O A R SR e 3R BE A A PR R SR RN E AN
MFEMTNE  KEE BEMEMEREENASFMEES -
EREERKAGEEBRKIGE  |BEFEEKR - 7] —RTHK
ZAFES  BERAFMRE - EHERERERBFBAIEERE
BEmMSASBEE  FASMHEL 648K ERLIFE
BREKAR - N EmRESZERRRE ERZBFMNS
RORBAERHEERSENERE -
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lllustrations and Descriptions of Some New Products
BoOHERNETRRNB

Low-Temperature Plasma Surgical System generates a
plasma layer through ionization of saline solution under high-
frequency electric fields. This ultra-thin layer possesses
sufficient energy to break organic molecular bonds without
carbonization, causing minimal peripheral tissue damage.
The bipolar electrode design prevents current from passing
through the body, generating negligible heat. Operating at
40°C-70°C, the system ensures minimal tissue damage with
precise cutting and ablation capabilities.

BESBFFNARCSHEESNERAT BB SRR
KER RSB TRE ZEEBEARAELERITE AR
W E D T - TEERCER  HEERAKLETRIES -
EHMNBARMEERTEBALE  ABBERERLD - BAi A&
FEA0T-7TOCHRBIRIERIE  BABEBRBESE /) - 28
BiG/)  BReE BB E AR S ER -

Single-Use Electronic Hysteroscopy System is designed
for uterine examinations and therapeutic procedures with
compatible instruments. Its high-definition real-time imaging
enables direct visualization of subtle intrauterine structures
and precise lesion localization. With a maximum outer
diameter <56.0mm at the distal end, the imaging catheter
eliminates cervical dilation and anesthesia requirements,
enhancing patient comfort and surgical efficiency. The
instrument channel accommodates ®1.6mm devices
for combined diagnosis and treatment in one efficient
procedure. The sterile single-use design ensures ready-to-
use convenience, preventing cross-contamination for safe
and streamlined operations.
—REEFEERERFMAKERN = BRE RS F s
EITARZE - 2BRGOMHRE  EPBEEEREI=ZR
AR - ABEE LR AL ¢ B RS B 55 88 5 i B R R HIME
<5.0mm BEREEE Ll BtEEER BEERA
FHAE - RBWMABBAIEDTP1.6mmEW  ZHE -8 B
B oA —RNMERZE  BIRAA - BRI XL - B
RFEMZ2ELRE -
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During the Reporting Period, we continued to expand our portfolio
of intellectual properties, including patents, trademarks, software

AHEPRR RAFELERREEN AR &
HrEFE EndMEEANMBERE 2T

copyrights and product registration certificates, as detailed in the chart °

below.

Number of patents (pieces)
SREE(H)

180

17 12 5

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period
HEREMRERSE

Newly added during
the Reporting Period
B RETE

® nvention  ® Utility model ® Design
patents patents patents
FEHER BRMEEN  ERFER

Number of trademarks (pieces)

PREE )

19 20

O .

Newly added during
the Reporting Period
REHAFTIE

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period
HERSHAEEFE

® Domestic ® International
trademarks  trademarks

BNz BIFRE1R

Number of software copyrights (pieces)

B EERERE (M)

1

Newly added during
the Reporting Period
HEBAHE

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period
HEREHRERSAE

m Software copyrights
WE R

— Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

Number of domestic registrations (pieces)

B P TR AR R (1)
56
35
17
10

1 - 5

-

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period
HEREMRERIE

Newly added during
the Reporting Period
R BARRTIE

m Class | Filing = Class Il u Class Il
certi cates registrations registrations
—mpRE Eafle SmafE

Number of international
registrations (pieces)

I B e AP R R (1)

166

57

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period
BEREHRERFS

Newly added during
the Reporting Period
W EIRIE

m |nternational registrations
[E Al

Total number of registrations (pieces)

R A RE (1)

108

16

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period
BERERRERIE

Newly added during
the Reporting Period
e BNFTIE

®m Domestic ® International
registrations registrations

WEME  ERREmE
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Collaborative Industry Growth

Kangji Medical is at the forefront of spearheading and facilitating
technological innovation within the industry. The Group continues to
promote the R&D and application of medical devices, actively organizes
and participates in industry activities, discusses and solves key and
cutting-edge technical problems in the field of medical devices with
outstanding enterprises in the industry, and insists on popularizing
the latest medical technology through standard formulation, academic
exchanges and other means, contributing innovative force to the
sustainable development of the medical device industry.

Advancing Medical Inclusiveness

Kangji Medical is dedicated to disseminating more intelligent and
convenient healthcare services to both doctors and patients. Our
ongoing efforts are focused on providing cost-effective and user-friendly
medical products to doctors and patients. This commitment effectively
leads to more reasonable market prices, not only broadening the choices
available to healthcare professionals but also substantially cutting down
on the treatment costs for patients. During the Reporting Period, we
actively participated in national and local centralized procurement of
medical devices, with more than 20 items under implementation and
newly added to the centralized procurement program, among which
two key products, ligature clips and ultrasonic scalpels, were selected
for national joint procurement, which significantly reduced the cost of
medical treatment for general patients.

R - HERER®RE
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Pioneering Medicine-Engineering Synergy

Kangji Medical consistently strives to realize “the instruments we
provide to doctors are as effective and comfortable to use as possible”
by integrating the medical-engineering synergy concept into product
development and iteration. We actively collect physician feedback and
cooperate with medical experts after the product is launched to enhance
product performance based on the latest clinical input, improving both
operational ease for surgeons and procedural safety/efficacy while
promoting advanced medical inclusiveness. During the Reporting Period,
we provided on-site technical support for ultrasound scalpel products
included in centralized procurement programs, thoroughly documenting
clinical usage experiences to faithfully implement our medical-
engineering synergy concept.

Exploring New Frontiers in Technology R&D with the Industry

R AT 28 B 4R F B 400 A 3¢ 3 E

20244 « FRHEE iit?ﬁiﬁ e T4E B
F'fﬁ)?HQ%ﬁFﬁ REE BMBFINREBAESEHOERER -
i@ﬁ—%ﬁgﬁiﬁ%ﬁlﬁigmﬁﬁﬁ)(ﬂm HERFNERNELFH -

FHERFETHEE

B fﬁAiWijﬂﬁ SEFENTATNETF |

HETASEBAERMEEER HMAER
(e E&ﬁa EERLTREBFEERARS

B ERNBEFBARENEERLE  ERSE
EREFEEHNORKRAF L2 M EE T -
RELEBRRMOEE - ARSHR - HMS
HWASHNBBRERRETEERMASR
BRI RO THRERERREAER VEERE

BI#GES -

In 2024, Kangji Medical continued to advance the medicine-engineering synergy, further deepening exchanges and
interactions between clinical and technological fields. For the second consecutive year, we held the “Dialogue with Medical
Practitioners” series, organizing a total of 12 forums and lectures. We invited numerous authoritative experts in clinical
medicine to share valuable clinical experiences and insights in conjunction with the Company’s innovative products.
Through face-to-face discussions between these experts and R&D engineers, we jointly explored optimization directions for
products, achieving a resonance of inspiration between technology and clinical needs.
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Accelerating Green Surgery TN 1 B 4% 65 F i

Kangji Medical upholds the concept of “Green Surgery” by continuously FBEEEFRH(GEFMIMNELS  BABERY
researching product functionality, usage methods, and production & - FEAFN - AERME A EOTEME @ &
technologies to minimize the surgical burden on medical staff. At the ARERIBBEAEFIMEE - AR RMHIELH
same time, we have expanded the Green Surgery initiative by innovating @ F RS ETER  BREHBEME  ESHRK
packaging materials, optimizing product design, and persistently & ESHEMEFHARA LIS EH S EE M F i
advancing the R&D and improvement of reusable surgical instruments. WA EE - BIEFHREHEREFRE 1T
These efforts reduce resource consumption in surgical procedures,  E&@IRIREFMIEEM -

contributing to the development of eco-friendly surgical equipment.

Optimizing Product Performance and Design to Reduce Resource Consumption

BEERMREERHIERERE

Kangji Medical enhances product efficiency and minimizes resource consumption by optimizing product performance
and innovating in design. During the Reporting Period, the semi-disposable continuous titanium clip applier developed by
us incorporated breakthrough features such as a fixed block and hollowed-out jaws, significantly reducing replacement
frequency and medical waste generation. At the same time, combined with the unique design of reusable handle of firing
clip appliers and disposable continuous ligature clamp, we developed and applied the semi-disposable continuous ligation
clip applier, reducing the consumption of plastics and other materials through the application of reusable handle. In
addition, the two products improve the surgical accuracy through structural optimization, reduce the operation time, and
reduce the operating burden of doctors and patients.

REBERELEMLE AFEMIFANAELE BAERERNE  BLERERER - AREHA - RMHED
FWE AR BB ABERMMHBEBEZRNRGT  NEREEMERRE  ROBEEEYNESE - R A4S
EEEMEBREFNE RSB E RGBSR HRERATHREFFILKY  ABASEEFROERRLE
FIEMEIEEFE  tho - MARERBBREBELRAT FIBE  BD T FIRIERRE - BESERFAENEETFNRER

Semi-disposable continuous titanium clip applier Semi-disposable continuous ligation clip applier

= P 2 B A A Sl = P 32 3% A 4L SR ol
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Commitment to Technology Promotion

Kangji Medical remains dedicated to advancing the latest technologies
among medical professionals through knowledge sharing. We play an
integral role in shaping industry standards and contribute extensively to
medical associations, fostering a more standardized and high-quality
industry ecosystem. During the Reporting Period, we added product
operation demonstration videos to the Group’s network platform
to enrich product publicity channels and make it easier for more
practitioners to understand relevant technical knowledge.

Establishing Industry Standards

Kangji Medical actively participates in drafting national and provincial
medical device standards as well as product registration guidelines,
driving the standardization and high-quality development of the industry.
During the Reporting Period, our contributions to industry standards
included:

. Recommended industry standard: Single-Use Sterile Wound
Retractor;
o Recommended industry standard: Single-Use Minimally Invasive

Fascia Closure Device;

o Product registration guidelines: Single-Use Endoscopic Biopsy
Bag and Endoscopic Surgical Scissors.

At the same time, we actively engage with medical associations at all
levels, deeply participate in industry standard formulation and policy
research, promote industry-academia-research collaboration and medical
technology inclusiveness, and highlight the leadership and responsibility
of enterprises in the industry ecosystem. As of the Reporting Period,
Kangji Medical served in a number of national, provincial and county-
level industry associations, mainly including:

o Council Member of China Association for Medical Devices
Industry (National-level);

o Council Member of China Association of Medical Equipment
(National-level);

o Vice Chairman of Endoscopic & Minimally Invasive Surgery
Branch, China Association of Medical Equipment (National-level);

o Vice Chairman of Industrial Investment Branch, China Association
of Plastic and Aesthetics (National-level);

. Committee Member of Intelligent Medical Equipment Branch,
China Association of Medical Equipment (National-level);

. Member of Chinese Association of Pancreatology (National-level).
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Advancing Academic Exchange BB 7T

BEEEEEKRIALBERRERER - BREK]
WES BAREABENERE BHNIRZEHA
EZTEANEBREZZEL FetBMInaE
BEEE - m¥EAIMEETHEO A SN X B
fiy o BB - BFIRE S EREE TIEBEB#ET
TEED I A SE B E FA N oE 2R A S
HHEMzR2W SRRAFEIRNBMEE X
REHAN SEBEEAGEESZRENEMNE
HEEE B2 ABMSEALR  EESHN

Kangji Medical always upholds and practices the philosophy of
“originating from clinical practice to clinical application”. By organizing
academic conferences and exchange programs, we established
specialized platforms for more practitioners to promote advanced
minimally invasive surgical techniques both within and beyond the
industry. At the same time, we have optimized the division of labor of the
marketing team according to the region and product line, implemented
the academic activity area, strengthened the pertinence and difference
of the discipline, and paid attention to the academic cooperation with

young experts. During the Reporting Period, the Group hosted numerous T
cross-disciplinary academic conferences and events, attracting over
50,000 participants. Key meetings included:

Academic Conference Name Organizer Number of Participants

BiigRERB EEERA 2 HEAY

2nd Meeting of the Urology Branch, Healthcare Second Hospital of Jilin University 300

Security Association of Jilin Province

EMRERERE  MRINBSEEZREGH EMREE — Bk 300

2024 Training Course on Thoracic Surgery New Anhui Provincial Hospital 300

Technologies and Advances

2024 8 SN R B AT HTHE R 2B T WAL B 300

Guangzhou Single-Port Surgery Live Shenzhen Hospital of Southern Medical 5,000

Demonstration University

& M B L i B 4 A RE2IRIIE R 5,000

9th Academic Symposium of the Chinese Chapter  Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College 300

of the International Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary of Huazhong University of Science &

Association Technology

BRFERG TS SN ESMHE S R R LR R 7 5 26 M E R AR 300
Bz

Shanghai East Meets West Minimally Invasive Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong 400

Surgery Forum University School of Medicine

FERARBMAIIN RIE FEREAREEEN N EREE 400

2024 “1+8” City Circle Academic Annual Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, 300

Conference of General Surgery Branch, Wuhan Huazhong University of Science and

Medical Association Technology

HERZE®LAINIED F2024F [1+8] ki1 B £ oh BN 2[R 7 B 22 B M S 15 AN B 300

BiFEg Bt

2nd Academic Annual Conference of the first Zhejiang Society for Mathematical 300

session of Zhejiang Society for Mathematical Medicine

Medicine & Jiaxing Difficult and Complicated

Disease Diagnosis and Treatment Symposium

MIBBREeE - EF_RSMESERET MILZERZEEg 300

RE(CERDABMER
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Academic Conference Name Organizer Number of Participants
2iHERERB EEERS BHEAH
2024 Training Course on Advances in The Second Affiliated Hospital of 300
Gynecological Endocrinology and Female Pelvic Kunming Medical University

Floor Dysfunction

2024 F IBRIAD MR ZERRNERR KRS ERENASZBE_MNBER 300
EREBEN

2nd Yan’an Hospital Pelvic Floor & Minimally Yan’an Hospital of Kunming City 300
Invasive Surgery New Technology Seminar &

Standardized Pelvic Disease Treatment Training

for Primary Care

F_ELERAR MAIFHFEMHTIERRE BB T AT % B& B 300
KRR KBS

1st Women’s Health and Reproductive Disease The First People’s Hospital of Yunnan 300
Standardized Diagnosis and Treatment Academic Province

Forum

F-EZMEREEERRR SRR M RE EHEE-ARER 300
8th “Meet at Provincial Hospital, Gather in The First People’s Hospital of Yunnan 300
Kunhua” Forum on Gynecological Oncology, Province

Endocrinology, and Minimally Invasive Techniques

& 14th Obstetrics and Gynecology Branch

Conference, Yunnan Medical Association

ENERNEE HREEFNERE "AHBK EHEE-ARER 300
FRHSAIRM T ERBIBEEEHABEZESE 1

EREEMZESE

4th Chengdu-Deyang-Meishan-Ziyang Maternal Chengdu Maternal and Child Health 400
and Child Health Forum Association

EmE R EE L R KRBT RNEEES 400
2024 Annual Conference of Obstetrics and Chongging Medical Doctor Association 500
Gynecology Branch, Chongging Medical Doctor

Association

EEEMRERENBD E2024F2MES BEETEMGE 500
3rd Northeastern Sichuan International Minimally Affiliated Hospital of North Sichuan 300
Invasive & Non-Invasive Academic Conference Medical College

FEZEIRIEBEERBEA BN R Ik 5 22 B B 88 22 B 300
8th “Obstetrics and Gynecology Forum of Science  Central Hospital of Mianyang City 300
City”

£\ E [ T2 i 2= T e 18 w5 O B8 B 300
15th Obstetrics and Gynecology Academic Chinese Medical Association National
Conference of Chinese Medical Association

HFERESETIRGENSZETNES RiERSEe 2H
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Academic Conference Name

BENMEEEE

R - HERER®RE

Organizer

EEERS

Number of Participants

ZEAHY

14th Lingnan International Hepato-Pancreato- Guangdong Cancer Rehabilitation Provincial
Biliary Minimally Invasive Surgery Summit Society/Sun Yat-sen Memorial
Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University
F+MJE R BEERAFEREMAI N S B R E EREBERERE HILKEERR 24
fliae = 88
Annual Conference of Chinese Obstetrician and Chinese Obstetricians and 1,200
Gynecologists Association Gynecologists Association
hEEMHERENES hEEMHBERENS® 1,200
2024 Academic Conference of the Urology Chinese Research Hospital 500
Committee, Chinese Research Hospital Association/Zhongnan Hospital of
Association Wuhan University
PR RAERZBEMRINBEZEZE 2024 HEFARAEBREE  REREHFH 500
FEMGH B
9th Annual Conference of the Gastrointestinal Shandong Medical Doctor 300
Surgery Branch, Shandong Medical Doctor Association+Qilu Hospital of Shandong
Association& 2024 Qilu Laparoscopic University
Gastrointestinal Surgery Forum
IWREBEMGEEBINBMOEENEFSE IR A BRI+ IR AE B B 300
2024 F BRI IEEE B BNl a8
29th Urology Academic Conference of Shandong Shandong Provincial Medical 300
Provincial Medical Association Association +Qilu Hospital of
Shandong University
IWREBSEE -+ NOBRINI B RS ZE IREESE+ URASEBRERR 300
Inaugural Conference of the 1st Urology Expert Shandong Medical Doctor 250
Committee, Shandong Health Care Association & Association+Qilu Hospital of Shandong
Urology Academic Conference University
LWREHERRHEE - BARNHERZEE  LWREBHHEURARERER 250
B LK & B R ONEL 21T &
2024 Annual Conference of Urology Branch, Shandong Medical Doctor 300
Shandong Medical Doctor Association Association+Qilu Hospital of Shandong
University
WRA B HEE RN BAS §20242HFE  WEAEAGELURASERER 300
2024 Annual Conference of Hepatobiliary Surgery Shandong Medical Doctor 260
Branch, Shandong Medical Doctor Association Association+Shandong Provincial
Qianfoshan Hospital
IERBEE G SNBSS 22024258  IURE BRI E+ILRE T L= 260
Urology Annual Conference of Chinese Medical Urology Branch of Chinese Medical 5,000
Doctor Association Doctor Association
HB B RD e M R INEL R H B B R e RN D ' 5,000

BEETERERERAR 2024FE@WE
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Academic Conference Name Organizer Number of Participants
2iHERERB EEERA 2 8 A ¥
Surgery Annual Conference of Medical Doctor Zhongshan Hospital Affiliated to Fudan 4,000
Association University, Chinese Medical Doctor

Association
BRI &I E R Hh B B8 AN 17 & 18 B R 206 8 1L B B 4,000
Urology Annual Conference of Chinese Medical Urology Branch of Chinese Medical 5,000
Association Association
PEESEWMRINBFE RERSEUWKINEDE 5,000
Ambulatory Surgery Annual Conference of Chinese  Chinese Medical Association 1,000
Medical Association
RERSSHRFNEFE hiERSe 1,000
Operating Room Annual Conference of Chinese Chinese Medical Association 3,000
Medical Association
hERESFMEFS hEESY 3,000
Single-Port Surgery Live Demonstration of Xiaolan  Xiaolan People’s Hospital of 2,000
People’s Hospital of Zhongshan Zhongshan
R LN R BB B AL F T B R HLME AR BT 2,000
Shenzhen Gynecological Single-Port Live Week Kangji Medical 5,000
RN EAEEE BREBR 5,000
Jinling Forum Jiangsu Province Hospital 500
T &g THE ARERR 500
Single-Port Surgery Live Demonstration of University of Chinese Academy of 5,000
Shenzhen Hospital, University of Chinese Academy  Sciences Shenzhen Hospital
of Sciences Shenzhen Hospital
AR REBT R Y1 B8 B B 7L fiT B 4 AR R Y1 28 B 5,000
Single-Port Exchange Between the Third Affiliated People’s Hospital of Yangjiang 5,000
Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University and
People’s Hospital of Yangjiang
B =P Ef5)T A RER BN 5L AR b 5,000
Annual Conference of Chinese Obstetrician and Chinese Obstetrician and 3,000
Gynecologists Association Gynecologists Association
PREMGERERTE FEEMGERERSE 3,000
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Single-Port Consensus Roadshow — Gansu Province Standardized Hua Tuo Engineering Public Welfare
Wenzhou Stop Laparoscopic Surgery Training Program Initiative
B AL KGR IR N Uk HERE R F MR FIE ERIRAZT

A J!‘ ¥

Urology Annual Conference of Chinese Single-Port Breast Surgery Training Surgery Annual Conference of Medical
Medical Doctor Association Course Doctor Association

T B A i 2 M RSN R AR E AL E I BRI T EE

Colorectal Cancer Young & Middle-Aged Ambulatory Surgery Annual Conference of Operating Room Annual Conference of
Surgeons’ Summit Chinese Medical Association Chinese Medical Association
FEBETSFNEAANE FERZSAMFNEFS HFERZSeFNESFS

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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Promoting Technological Applications =R BT E A

Kangji Medical insists on popularizing the latest industry academic HREBERFENEILE - FEIRE « TR F K
trends and technological applications to industry practitioners in BM{TEREE LRSI ITESMBEERTE
different regions, different environments and different age groups, and - BES FEFELSEFEHEZIIAND @ F1E
disseminates cutting-edge minimally invasive surgical technologies — BIHIRAISNEL T  IRA B SR EENEERES -
through the development of characteristic publicity activities and training ~ ANBEHR - HPIBB [ AZRSNHER] - B
content to enhance the professional ability of more practitioners. During {EHES - HEFCEMER T RAEE
the Reporting Period, we promoted the characteristic academic ecology & fif °

and popularized advanced medical technology by means of “mentorship

by senior experts”, regional promotion, etc.

“Mentorship by Senior Experts” Accelerates Technology Promotion

[ RERF/PDEX | 02 M=

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical organized leading industry experts to promote the latest medical concepts
and surgical techniques to a broader range of practitioners. Senior experts served as key instructors and demonstrators
in academic activities, while early- and mid-career doctors participated as attendees to learn advanced methodologies
and techniques, and engaged in hands-on training and skill-enhancement programs. This approach enabled rapid surgical
proficiency development, cultivating a new generation of highly skilled medical professionals.

ABEMAN REBFARTEATEREETNESNMAMBESITEREEETERHERE - Hp  BHERELRF
BHEEBMEHTEIESFEMNTREE  PEFBLEERZEAEETINNBEINMR » L2 BEREI MM
FHRRIE - WRRERFMAE N RA - RETEEBFATNER -

Implementing Regionalized Technology Promotion Strategies to Enhance Accessibility

HEBSLEMEREIR  ReEMERYE

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical developed customized technology promotion programs adapted to regional
characteristics. In technologically advanced metropolitan areas with diverse healthcare demands, we concentrated on
introducing cutting-edge treatment solutions to facilitate faster adoption of advanced techniques, while in smaller cities and
remote regions with limited technological application, we emphasized fundamental skill training and practical technology
implementation to elevate basic medical competencies. Simultaneously, we organized knowledge-sharing initiatives led by
provincial-level experts to extend advanced techniques and clinical experience from tier-1 cities to tier-2 and tier-3 cities,
ensuring broader nationwide dissemination of innovative treatment protocols and surgical methodologies.

R|ERRN - REBFKBMEBEESE T TANRMERTR - ERMRAEE REFTRKEEHRMT - AMNELS
AERERMEEABEIROERE  CAERMERSGINER: EXMEAEGRA/NETMERDE  BMEFTEERRK
BRI ERRME R FREEARGINARES AR AMESE ST ERRREME RES - HERWELRT
MEZ - ZBWH - FXFARAFRMM XA E RS 26 -
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BUSINESS ETHICS

Kangji Medical has always adhered to the core principles of compliance
with laws and regulations and fair competition. As a Zhejiang Province
AAA-level “Contract-Abiding and Credit-Worthy” enterprise, we
strictly follow relevant laws and regulations such as the Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Interim Provisions on
Banning Commercial Bribery. We have established a comprehensive
anti-corruption reporting and complaint system to create a fair and
transparent business environment. We have been trying to build
a business environment with integrity and firmly opposed to any
unfair business competition. We also emphasized on the protection
of intellectual property rights and information security, and strictly
guaranteed the legality and compliance of business publicity, ensuring
our operations are compliant. During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not experience any confirmed corruption cases, nor legal proceedings
regarding improper competitive behavior, anti-trust and anti-monopoly
practices.

Adhere to Responsible Marketing

Kangji Medical is committed to cultivating an elite team of professionals
centered on the principle of responsible marketing. In all our marketing
endeavors, we adhere to a code of honesty, transparency and ethics,
ensuring that our marketing materials comply with legal standards for
continuous improvement of our performance of responsible marketing.

Compliance Registration

Kangji Medical strictly adheres to statutory registration and filing
procedures prior to product launch, guaranteeing full compliance with
domestic and international regulatory requirements. In the domestic
market, we comply with the relevant laws and regulations such as the
Regulation on the Supervision and Administration of Medical Devices
and the Administrative Measures for the Registration and Record-Filing
of Medical Devices. We implement classified management of medical
devices (filing management for Class | medical devices and registration
management for Class Il and Class Ill medical devices) to ensure the
legitimacy and standardization of the listing process of medical devices.
In the international market, we keep up with the changes in the medical
device registration regulations in the market where the product is sold or
in the potential market to ensure that the export products comply with
the latest requirements of local laws and regulations. Before products
are put on the market, we actively complete all necessary compliance
preparations in accordance with relevant laws and regulations to ensure
product compliance.

R - HERER®RE
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In addition, to maintain stable operations and complete product
registrations on time and as required, we have established the GMP
Committee composed of department heads and dedicated supervisors
from the R&D, production, procurement, quality and registration
departments. In 2024, in order to further understand the priorities and
difficulties of the work, and implement the management requirements,
we have enhanced the diversified perspective of the committee, and
introduced entry-level employees from various departments to form a
top-down management system. In addition, the committee regularly
provides our employees with updates and interpretations of the latest
product-related legal and regulatory developments, product standards
and guidelines for registration. The committee is also responsible for
collective learning sessions based on the outcomes of compliance spot
checks and random inspections as released by regulatory bodies to
improve our product registration management level.

During the Reporting Period, in accordance with the established business
development strategy, the Group completed 1 domestic registration
of Class | products, 10 new registrations of Class Il products and 5
new registrations of Class Ill products. At the same time, the Group
actively explored new markets, cultivated new customers, focused on
expanding the international high-end market, and continuously increased
investment in international registration. We have successfully obtained
57 registration certificates in 16 countries or regions, and steadily
promoted the registration work in the United Arab Emirates, Kenya,
Colombia and other countries, accelerating the expansion of the global
market to benefit more doctors and patients worldwide. In addition, we
have initiated MDR (EU Medical Device Regulation) and FDA (U. S. Food
and Drug Administration) registration processes for multiple products.
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Compliant Labelling and Proper Promotion

Kangji Medical strictly adheres to the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the relevant laws and regulations in the regions
where we operate, rigorously ensuring compliance review of advertising
content and lawful promotion. We guarantee the legality, authenticity,
and objectivity of all product promotion and marketing information,
and firmly oppose any form of false or exaggerated claims. We
have formulated and implemented the Label and Language Control
Procedures and other management regulations, put forward specific
management requirements for the use of labels and languages, and
defined the responsibilities of relevant departments to ensure that all
departments thoroughly implement the concept of compliance publicity
and are familiar with the process operation. In addition, in order to
support the steady expansion of the Group’s overseas business and
improve the compliance management level of overseas logos, the Group
has established the Preliminary Review of Label Design Changes to
standardize the operation process when the product publicity information
changes, ensuring that the specific needs of overseas customers and
the reasons for product logo changes are collected and reviewed in the
first time. The procedure ensures that our products strictly comply with
overseas laws and regulations and meet the needs of our customers.

We have also established guidelines for product representation through
trade show booths, social media and other marketing channels, ensuring
that the promotional content is truthful and helps customers understand
the real functions of the product:

. Using real experimental or clinical data and feedback from
clinical use in our promotions, while avoiding specific vocabulary
prohibited by laws and regulations;

o Verifying product parameters, attributes and clinical outcomes
with pertinent departments before promotion to prevent any false
advertising;

o Making sure all promotional activities align with local legal and

regulatory requirements.

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical did not experience any
violations of relevant marketing regulations or regulations concerning
product and service information and labeling.

R HERERRE

EHRBEHESEE M

BEEBRRERTF(PEARKMBEE S E) LE
WM BRIERER  BERERESAETNHER
EENEZEE REERMEE Z2HBEFE
SHEEN EEMNEEHM - BRRESIERE
Eﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬁiiiﬂﬁ¢1§r°ﬁ1f’ﬁ%ﬂiﬁﬁ$ﬂﬁ<’f?%£ﬁi
BEEHEF)SEEHAT HEERBEEONFE
FAfRE 7T ARERER - WAE T ZHEBEIHMD
BESHE BRABHFARAAERERTENE
DU ABMIBIRIE - WS RXBEEBEINEY
WIBRARE RSBIMEBNERERKT &K
MRLTERRFEEFATE) RBEEMES
@1 %éf @JBTE(]BKT/F/Mﬁi ’ ﬁﬁ%%fﬂ‘i}ﬁzﬁ”&
EWERBIEPNBERFTRKALERTHE

WRE BREREINEERERIREEFPNFE
sk o
BT B AT EKRREERBNRA T

REMEEEENETERE ﬁEﬂ%E{%WeEE
EOEFPTHERNEEDR

. REBEEERIBREIE ERBAER
REBEETEME  BRERERERELD

=

5 FR

. HEMEEEIMERERSH
BRARAMREEAR - Tiiﬁfg{ﬁxe 5

&

0 BAEENGEHERERER

ARERAN BEBRARBLEERBHATISEH
FERUAREREHERTRBEESERHRED
E

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE

125



126

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R HERERERE

Anti-Corruption

Kangji Medical has always been dedicated to its anti-corruption
management. During the Reporting Period, we strictly followed relevant
laws and regulations, as well as internal documents such as the Integrity
Management System, and organized anti-corruption training sessions to
ensure that our compliance monitoring systems are operating effectively
and that we address all whistleblower reports without delay.

Enhanced Management System

The Group places great importance on fostering a culture of integrity and
has established a comprehensive anti-corruption management system.
We have formulated different codes of conduct and anti-corruption
management measures for our employees, suppliers, distributors and
construction partners to promote the construction of business integrity
environment of the Group at multiple levels.

Key employees Employees in positions that are more susceptible
to corruption risks (such as sales, procurement
department) are required to sign the Employee Integrity
Commitment Letter;

Before engaging in business collaboration, suppliers are
required to sign the Supplier Code of Conduct, which
includes provisions against corruption;

Suppliers

Distributors The Anti-Business Bribery Commitment Letter is added

to the distributor agreement;

Construction
partners

The Integrity Agreement is added to the construction
contract.

Strengthening Integrity Training

Kangji Medical remains committed to reinforcing our work of promoting
integrity awareness by regularly conducting anti-corruption training
for all employees for a continuous improvement of their integrity
consciousness. During the Reporting Period, we have carried out online
and offline anti-corruption training for the Board, management and
entry-level employees, with the per capita training duration of 1 hour. In
addition, we recently organized key employees of sales, procurement,
R&D to learn the newly issued Compliance Guidelines for Pharmaceutical
Enterprises on Preventing Commercial Bribery Risks, with the per capita
training duration of 1 hour.
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Intellectual Property Protection

Kangji Medical is deeply aware of the key role of intellectual property
protection in driving the Group’s R&D and innovation. While consistently
complying with relevant laws and regulations such as the Civil Code of
the People’s Republic of China, the Patent Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China, we have formulated
and implemented regulations like the Internal Management System
for Intellectual Property and the Design and Development Control
Procedures to resolutely defend our own innovations while ensuring
that we do not infringe upon the intellectual property rights of any other
person, proactively fostering a favorable environment in which intellectual
property rights are respected and protected.

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical continued to adopt a
collaborative approach with multiple departments and cooperate with
external third-party. The Group regularly engages third-party law firms to
assist the R&D Department in conducting thorough intellectual property
searches and analyses, thereby navigating clear of any infringement
risks according to law. Furthermore, we conduct periodic reviews of
intellectual achievements registration. Upon identifying potential patent
infringement risks, we will promptly adjust product designs to avoid
violations.

Information Security Management
Information Security Protection

Kangji Medical places great importance on information security
management during daily operations. We strictly comply with laws and
regulations such as the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China. We have also established policies and systems
such as the Information Security Management System, the Network
Permission Management Regulations and the Encryption Software
Management System. During the Reporting Period, we optimized
the Computer Room Management System, further standardized the
computer room management, server security and other aspects, and
strengthened the diversity of information and data protection measures
to comprehensively ensure information security.
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During the Reporting Period, we implemented the following measures to
optimize our information security protection system:

. ERP System Upgrade: we collaborated with leading information
management providers to upgrade our ERP system, improving
the reliability of information security management;

o Standardized Equipment Usage: we explicitly prohibited
employees from using personal computers in the workplace and
strengthened management of all IT equipment within the Group’s
operations;

o Regular Third-Party Security Audits: we engaged third-party to
carry out vulnerability scanning of the Group’s servers, followed
by prompt remediation of identified vulnerabilities.

o Critical File Encryption: we encrypted key files and decrypted
outgoing files after approval by the employee’s leader;

o Periodical Data Backup: we periodically back up service system
data and store servers on independent backup storage stations
to prevent the risk of information loss;

o Comprehensive Information Security Training: we carried out
information security training for all employees to consolidate and
enhance their awareness of information security;

o Regular Computer Check: we regularly carry out random checks
on the computers of employees in important positions. If any
information leakage is found, the employee will be severely
punished according to regulations.

Solid Privacy Protection

Kangji Medical values the protection of customer personal information
and privacy by strictly complying with laws and regulations such as
the Data Security Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China. We have formulated and
implemented internal privacy protection management systems such as
the Information System User Management System and the Work Mobile
Phone Management System. In order to ensure the security of customer
privacy data, we continue to optimize and improve the customer privacy
security protection system to ensure that the acquisition, storage and
processing of all customer privacy data meet the requirements of
laws and regulations. In the logistics and transportation process, we
effectively prevent the disclosure of customer personal information and
privacy by taking measures to hide customers’ key information. During
the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical did not experience any violations of
customer information security or loss of customer data.
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MUTUALLY BENEFICIAL PARTNERSHIPS

Kangji Medical is dedicated to the principle of mutual success,
committed to establishing effective communication channels and close
partnerships with partners. By continuously developing management
standards and fostering business collaboration, we drive collective
industry progress and jointly build a sustainable ecosystem for the
industry.

Supplier Management

Kangji Medical values supplier management and has formulated and
implemented systems such as the Procurement Control Procedures and
the Supplier Evaluation Control Procedures, which set forth criteria for
assessing and managing our suppliers. This ensures rigorous quality
control of procurement materials and standardizes purchasing practices.
We are progressively integrating ESG management into the supplier
management system, supporting our suppliers to gradually achieve
sustainable development.

Kangji Medical actively cooperates with local suppliers to build a reliable
and efficient supply chain and promote local economic development.
During the Reporting Period, the Group collaborated with a total of 681
suppliers, including 557 material suppliers, 64 equipment suppliers and
60 construction suppliers, of which suppliers from Zhejiang province
accounted for 44.79%, remaining above 40% for two consecutive years.

Supplier Admission

Kangji Medical strictly controls the supplier admission process
by establishing a standardized supplier admission procedure and
assessment system. Through the close collaboration of multiple
departments, we conduct a comprehensive examination of the suppliers’
operational licenses, production and quality assurance capabilities and
certifications within their quality systems to ensure that suppliers added
to our supplier database meet the Group’s admission requirements.
Moreover, we apply a systematic approach to identify and select the
most suitable suppliers that align with the Group’s business needs, thus
ensuring the stability of the supply chain at its source. To assure the
quality of the materials we procure, suppliers are categorized into three
categories A, B or C* based on the importance of the material, and we
adopt differentiated and dynamic auditing practices for each category of
suppliers to ensure the efficiency of supplier management.

& Category A, B, and C suppliers refer to critical suppliers impacting product safety and performance, suppliers
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Supplier Assessmen

Kangji Medical implements the annual supplier performance appraisal
system. We carry out multi-dimensional assessments based on the
quality of supplies, pricing, delivery times and after-sales services,
leading to a classification system that ranks suppliers into one of
four levels A, B, C or D according to the assessment results. C-level
suppliers are required to promptly address any deficiencies detected
during inspections for quality improvement and are tracked for the
effectiveness of these improvements. Technical staff may be dispatched
to provide on-site assistance if required. D-level suppliers will face strict
enforcement of penalties, including procurement bans or processing
restrictions, and their qualifications as suppliers will be revoked. If there
is an approved special reason, a fixed period is allowed for corrective
action; failure to enhance performance within this period results in a
discontinuation of the partnership.

Supplier Exit

Kangji Medical regularly assesses the performance of suppliers and
maintains a process for managing the exit of suppliers that do not meet
our standards. Once it is found that there are quality problems with the
goods provided by the suppliers, the Quality Department of the Group
will immediately issue a Supplier Corrective Measure Record, requiring
suppliers to detail their remedial actions and provide a response within a
set timeframe. The effectiveness of these actions is then verified by the
Quality Department. For suppliers that repeatedly have serious quality
issues, we will reassess their qualifications as suppliers. Those who are
still non-compliant will face the supplier exit process.

Supplier Engagement and Training

Kangji Medical values communication and cooperation with suppliers
and strives to achieve mutual benefit and success with all suppliers.
Suppliers are promptly informed about their annual performance
evaluations and any problems that arise during our partnership, working
together to find and implement solutions to promote sustainable
cooperation. In addition, we continue to promote exchanges and
cooperation with suppliers in the fields of technological innovation
and material innovation. By conducting supplier site visits, hosting
online meetings and inviting suppliers to tour our facilities, we share
the Group’s vision for product innovation. We also provide technical
guidance for our suppliers to effectively enhance our suppliers’ overall
competencies, jointly building a high-quality supply chain.
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Meanwhile, we have continuously strengthened the comprehensive
capabilities of our supply chain management team. During the Reporting
Period, we organized ongoing professional training for procurement
employees, covering areas such as finance, inventory management,
supply cycles, and inventory turnover rates. These initiatives have
significantly enhanced operational proficiency, improved supply chain
management efficiency, and fostered stronger collaborative relationships
with suppliers.

ESG Practices in Supply Chain Management

Kangji Medical is dedicated to the principles of sustainability and carbon
reduction by integrating ESG management philosophy into supply chain
management, guiding suppliers to fulfill their environmental and social
responsibilities. We have established policies such as the Supplier
Code of Conduct, prioritizing partnerships with the environmentally
friendly suppliers based on ESG requirements such as business ethics,
environmental impact, and health and safety. At the same time, we
actively advocate suppliers to adopt low-carbon and environmentally
friendly packaging solutions, and work hand in hand with suppliers to
promote the green and sustainable development of the industry and
society. During the Reporting Period, we have made strides in enforcing
Kangji Medical’s Supplier Code of Conduct, with new suppliers
required to endorse the Code of Conduct. We are gradually extending
this requirement to our long-standing suppliers. During the period,
an additional 75 suppliers signed on, reaching an 94.64% signing
completion rate among our approved suppliers as of the end of the
Reporting Period.

Distributor Management

Kangji Medical has always pursued a good cooperative relationship
with distributors, insisted on cooperating with distributors with excellent
performance, and committed to jointly promoting the sound development
of the industry.

In terms of domestic sales, the Group focuses on the distributor model.
Through regional division, regular training, performance assessment
and other measures, the Group maintains close communication with
distributors, provides a full range of marketing support and after-sales
service, and ensures the professional ability and service quality of
distributors. During the Reporting Period, we mainly took the following
measures to manage distributors:

o Enforce a rigorous admission system for our distributors,
ensuring they possess the requisite qualifications and a track
record of integrity. Our partnership agreements also contain
provisions to prevent unfair competitions and commercial
bribery, fostering a fair and transparent marketing environment.
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° Continuously strengthen our management of existing distributors
by introducing incentives for distributors and establishing
academic pilot zones in representative distribution areas to
support the distributors’ needs to host educational events,
thereby boosting their enthusiasm for such engagements.

. Conduct regular assessments of our distributors’ performance
and make reasonable use of the results to ensure efficient
operation of distributors.

o Continuously organize a series of training for distributors on
new products or core products, and provide targeted academic
support for distributors according to market conditions in
different regions to enhance their understanding of products.

In terms of international sales, in 2024, our products were exported to
188 international customers in 80 countries and regions such as the
United Kingdom, France and South Korea. In the face of the rapid growth
of overseas markets, we continue to optimize the international marketing
system, focusing on talent training and strengthening the professional
ability of the international marketing team and the international
registration team. At the same time, we actively carry out Kangji brand
publicity and promotion activities, participate in international industry
exhibitions, accelerate the transformation from foundry to independent
brand, strive to fit the advanced product concept in the international
market, and show the Group’s image as a responsible corporate.

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical participated in eight major
international medical device exhibitions, where we showcased our
leading array of equipment, instruments and consumables. The period
was marked by our international team’s diligent outreach to longstanding
clients and the warm reception of many prospective customers, allowing
us to gain high attention and recognition from numerous industry experts
and both new and returning customers.
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With the global expansion of the Group’s business, the professional
competence of international distributors has a significant impact on
Kangji Medical’s efforts to build a high-reputation brand overseas.
During the Reporting Period, we conducted systematic distributor
training programs through multiple channels to achieve mutual growth,
mainly including:

Product Knowledge Training: We explained the design concepts,
technical parameters, application scenarios, operation guidelines,
and competitive advantages of the Group’s products deeply, enabling
distributors to accurately grasp the core selling points and provide
professional, engaging introductions to end customers, thereby
enhancing product awareness and trust of customers.

Market Strategy Training: We shared the Group’s market research
findings, competitive analysis, and success cases in different countries
and regions, and guided distributors to develop practical market
expansion plans tailored to local market characteristics, helping them
stand out in intense competition.

ESG Policy Training: We elaborated in detail on the Group’s ESG
philosophy, practical cases, and relevant policy requirements,
emphasizing the importance of sustainable development in corporate
strategy. This guides distributors to prioritize environmental protection,
social responsibility fulfillment, and corporate governance in their
business operations, working jointly with the Group to promote
sustainable development in the industry.
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GREEN OPERATIONS

Kangji Medical always adheres to the core concept of green operation,
actively explores and deepens energy-saving and emission reduction
measures in all aspects of production and operation, strives to improve
the use efficiency of energy and water resources, and constantly reduces
and avoids environmental pollution and ecological damage caused by
production and operation. At the same time, we attach importance to the
long-term impact of climate change on the global ecology, and continue
to take measures to address climate change, contributing to society’s
shift towards a low-carbon future marked by high-quality development.

Enhanced Environmental Management System

Kangji Medical strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations such
as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste and the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise Pollution. We
have formulated and implemented the Environmental Management
System to continuously improve the Group’s environmental management
standards while maintaining the validity of the ISO14001 environmental
management system certification. The Group’s Safety and Environment
Department is responsible for centrally managing environmental-
related affairs across the Group. It provides guidance and drives various
business departments in implementing environmental compliance
management as well as energy conservation and environmental
protection works, ensuring that the Group can enhance resource
utilization efficiency on the basis of legal and compliance operations.
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Environmental Management Goals BEEEHE
During the Reporting Period, having exceeded our 2023 environmental AR & HAR - F FI7£ B EE T 20234F EiRIE B 12
goals, we actively managed and implemented our 2024 environmental — &JE i + ﬁﬁrﬂi g 52024¢ri& BiZ-

goals, including those related to carbon emissions, energy use efficiency, a%ﬁ)ﬂ#ﬁﬁ( BEIRE A - ARk R ES
water use efficiency and waste reduction. We strive to promote green BN %l;& FREMNGEAFESR
growth across the Group’s short, medium and long-term development: )?é

Achievement
Status

Baseline

Category

£l

Environmental Goals and Commitments for 2023-2025
2023-20255 RIE B EHAH

(2022)
NNEEEE

Target (2024)
245EEHE

Actual (2024)
NXFERE

EREARER

Energy Use 1. Achieve a 3% annual reduction in energy consumption intensity tonnes of coal 0.96 0.90 1.05 Not achieved®
ERER from 2023-2025, using 2022 as the baseline year. equivalent (tce)/ RERS
L2000F BEE 00852055 A EREE EETH% million in RMB
BER/BER
2. Increase photovoltaic installations to a total capacity of 1,600 % 15% 15% 19.68% Achieved
kW by 2024, with the proportion of photovoltaic power usage BN
not less than 15% of total electricity consumption, while reducing
greenhouse gases by approximately 1,125 tonnes annually from
2025.
Ho0o4 A RFRAERTEEI 00T XREERE
HRE E@ttﬂfWS% 2025%:11&7@2//?%%%
HRA 1
Water Resources Use | 1. Achieve a 3% annual reduction in total water consumption tonnes/milion in 90.67 86.31 97.03 |  Not achieved®
KERER intensity from 2023-2025, using 2022 as the baseline year. RMB RERS
o022 BER 2003520255 B KT E BE THI% - B/ EERL
2. The percentage of recycled water usage in fotal water % 48.81% 48.81% 40.10% |  Not achieved”
consumption will not fall below the 2022 level from 2023 to REW
2025.
20232055 BRARKEHARKENE AL TER2022
kT
Greenhouse Gas Achieve a 3% annual reduction in greenhouse gas emission intensity tonnes equivalent/ 441 415 343 Achieved
Emissions from 2023-2025, using 2022 as the baseline year. milion in RMB BN
BERBAMN o022 BER 200350005 F REREHHAR BETHS% - WEe/ A8
Waste Management | Trangfer 100% of hazardous waste generated to qualified third-party % 100% 100% 100% Achieved
EEnER for recycling and disposal. BN
EENEEREMOO%BREEENE=FENTURE -
Wastewater/Exhaust | Conduct annual environmental testing with qualified third-party to % 100% 100% 100% Achieved
Emissions ensure 100% of wastewater and emissions are within regulatory B
Bk/ B standards.
SERFHRENEFBLEGRRRN - KRBANRRI0%E
BHH
2 During the Reporting Period, the Group successively put into use 1 R&D building, 3 factory buildings and 2 staff

dormitory buildings, resulting in additional electricity consumption (though production-related electricity usage
remained within controllable limits), which ultimately led to the failure in achieving the comprehensive energy
intensity goal.
Zﬁiﬁiﬁﬁm N5 E BE AR %ﬂx)\ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁékﬁ SRME - 2RETIEEE - RESENENM(EEREHE
EEER) - r”ﬁ%iﬁ?ééﬁﬁﬁ EREKEBZR

® During the Reporting Period, the Group successively put into operation 1 new R&D building, 3 factory buildings,
2 staff dormitories, and irrigation water was increased after the greening of the industrial park. These factors
collectively led to additional water consumption (though production-related water usage remained within
controllable limits), u|t|mately resulting in the failure to meet the goal for total water consumption intensity.
RBERA - REBEBEBIRAGFERIRPEARE SREFE 2RETIEEE  URBERS(CBUEEEIE N T RSB
X %@(ﬁﬁﬁ<i%§9|‘iﬂﬁm (EERAKEAZEHEARN) REEBERKEEREKBR -

Z During the Reporting Period, the Group’s recycling water consumption increased by approximately 13%
compared to 2023, but this goal was not achieved due to a larger increase in total water consumption.
ABEEHAN  AEBENBIRAKER2023FEHRLN13%  BEEAKESLMNERE  SHZEERERK -
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Strengthening Climate Change Management

The impacts of climate change on global economic and societal
development have been extensive. Kangji Medical is dedicated to
building a more comprehensive governance system and implementing
a strategical layout to address climate change. We actively develop risk
response measures and set climate-related indicators and goals. Our
efforts align with the national strategy for climate change adaptation
as we proactively mitigate the negative impacts of climate change and
embrace climate opportunities. During the Reporting Period, we actively
studied and referenced the framework and recommendations of IFRS
S2 Climate-related Disclosures issued by the International Sustainability
Standards Board (ISSB), Part D of Climate-related Disclosures of the
HKEX ESG Code, and the Recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Climate change-related
work was carried out from four aspects: governance, strategy, risk
response and indicators and goals to mitigate the operational and
financial impacts of climate change on the Group.

Governance

Kangji Medical has established a comprehensive governance framework
for climate change. As the highest decision-making body of the Group’s
governance, the Board of Kangji Medical is ultimately responsible for
matters related to climate change. The ESG Committee under the Board
of Directors of the Group is responsible for the overall management of
climate change-related work, including the identification and assessment
of climate risks and opportunities and the construction of management
system, and the continuous supervision and review of the development
and completion of climate-related goals. The ESG Committee reports
annually to the Board on the management of climate change to support
the Board in taking climate-related aspects into account when making
decisions. The relevant departments, under the guidance of the ESG
Committee, develop management systems and responses to identified
significant risks and related opportunities, and assess the financial and
operational impact of such risks or opportunities on the Group. For
more information on the ESG governance framework, please refer to the
sections headed “Statement From the Board” and “ESG Governance
Structure” of this report.

The Group regularly arranges training for the Board and management,
including climate-related topics, to help them gain climate-related
professional understanding and competence.
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R HERERERE

Strategy

Kangji Medical is continuously improving its strategies for low-carbon
development by taking into account its own business characteristics,
national development strategies and industry trends. We actively identify
climate-related risks and opportunities that climate change poses to
the Group and value chain. During the Reporting Period, we integrated
the Group’s operational realities with internationally recognized climate
trend projections®. Through internal interviews and external expert
consultations, we further mapped out the climate-related risks and
opportunities facing the Group across different time horizons®, along
with their business and financial implications. These were then prioritized
based on impact severity and likelihood of occurrence.

Climate-related Risk

The major climate-related risks identified by the Group include policy
changes brought about by low-carbon development, transition risks
related to market demand for green products, and acute physical risks
such as typhoons and rainstorms and chronic physical risks such as

changes in rainfall patterns brought about by climate change, none of {4 HHEEBREH TNEBEENUBTE -
which is assessed to have significant financial impact.
& Key climate change trends referenced include research findings and reports released by the United Nations

H
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RERNEKE( THEERECERTLEHEE
HER ARREZELEROBE ZFRSM
%Eﬂl&ﬂl&?ﬁﬁi“ﬂz#\“’\E%I@ﬂﬁﬁ Y

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the International Energy Agency (IEA), the Network of Central

Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System (NGFS).

2ENFERGZCERBL0E  BEAEBNBEREZELEMZEG(IPCO) - BEREREBIEA)  RITHEEHKE
# B RMBNGFS)EH MR K RERE -
¥ Taking into account our core business planning, the timeframe of our social low-carbon development goals, climate-

related disclosure standards and management recommendations, we have set the timeframe to be within 1 year after
the end of the reporting period, including 1 year (short-term); 1 year to 5 years after the end of the reporting period,
including 5 years (medium-term); and more than 5 years after the end of the reporting period (long-term), in order
to make a reasonable assessment of the climate impact on the development of the Group’s business in different

timeframes.
FEERZLEBHE #H2EREEEERHEHEE REHAERESLEEEERZRS  RMSNHASERERRE
HRERBIFUAR  S1F (BH)  REMERBIFESF - S5F (FH)  MEFABAERSFU L (RE) - WEAEH

TRRBRBRNEBERIRGTZENERNETE RN -
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Risk Category

BREH

Transition Risk
EXRR

Policy and Legal
Compliance Risk

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Potential Impact on Business and Value Chain

ERHRRNEERNY

Increasingly stringent ¢
low-carbon policies

As China pushes for the objective of ‘2030
Carbon Peak and 2060 Carbon Neutrality”,
national policies and regulations related to carbon

5 HERER

Potential Financial ~ Time Horizon

Impact

EERHYE KR

Operational Medium-term, ~®
expenditures increase  Long-term
Capital expenditures -

wE

Risk Control Measures

BRENER

Planning and deployment of clean energy
use has been carried out:

Installation of solar power

emissions will continue to grow stricter. Kangji increase generation equipment.

Medical may incur financial expenses related o~ Compliance costs - Procurement of green electricity.
low-carbon equipment replacement to meet policy  increase - Construction of new energy storage
requirements. facilities.

- Phased replacement of high-
energy-consumption, high-pollution
machinery to enhance the level of
automation.

RENERARER  ERRRESEE o RETEY[00FREE 000FRAAIEE EERLLA il B3 . AREZRRERNRHETE
BED BROBFNEERRERERRES  AAXMLA - ﬁ%K@E%%&ﬁ
B RERBARREREL THELOREER ARAKLA - EEgesd-
REFASTENTHIL - - HERERE-

- BSBRRER ARANEER

i RABBLAT.
Market Risk Growing demandfor ¢ There is an increasing demand from domestic and ~ Revenue decrease  Long-term ¢ Kangji Medical has embarked on
green low-carbon international customers for products with reduced conceptual initiatives such as green
products environmental impact, such as green and low- surgery and continues to reduce
carbon products. Customers are now including the use of plastics in products and
product environmental assessments as part of packaging materials while promoting the
their purchasing evaluation criteria, which may development of low-carbon products.
result in a decline in sales volume for the Group’s
main business.
sER REERERER o EMNEPHEE EERER MER BATE &4 o REEECREREETOEHLPE &

il

FREM Ew%VE%M

BYER)
LEUN @?%%%
BEE FHRERTEERERHEETH

BRJEREARMHHEROER £
BERERRE -
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Risk Category

BREA

Physical Risk
NERR

Acute Risk

SHRR

Potential Impact on Business and Value Chain

ERHERNEERNY

Frequent extreme .
weather events (e.g.,
heavy rain, typhoons)

20 REZBERA
R

Potential Financial ~ Time Horizon

Impact

EERHY KRR

Climate change induced extreme weather
events such as torrential rain, strong winds,
and heatwaves may pose threats to property
and personnel safety, increase the likelihood
of employee llness, and disrupt normal R&D,
production and other work.

QOperational Short-term,
expenditures increase - medium-term,
Capital expenditures ~ long-term
increase

Operating revenue

decrease

Physical risks arising from climate change may

impact suppliers production, warehousing, and

transportation processes, potentially causing

operational disruptions due to insufficient raw

material supply and resulting in financial losses.

Additionally, extreme weather events may also

affect the logistics process during product delivery,

causing delays and impacting the reputation of the

Group.

SRELEINET XA AREERREHE EEXLLA  EE9H
YNEBRUYERAGRERE BMALIE  EAXLLHA 58
Rl YEERNHE £ESIf- BEUATH

AERGROERERARHEEENEE

B ERERESATE EREERRMALL
ERRMERMELHE ERFRA KRR F
B BRAANAYERENERSREE AR
BYERBLRERA EMHEEBEELTE

Chronic Risk

clidel

Climate change-induced shifts in precipitation
patterns may increase the risk of river overflow.
Given that Kangji Medical's primary production,
operational, and R&D facilities are located in low-
Iying river basin areas, flooding and similar events
could lead to disruptions in water and power
supply, damage of production and operation
equipment, increase the frequency and cost

of maintenance or replacement of equipment,
affecting the normal operation of the Group and
bringing financial losses.
SRELSIORAERSLABEATNER BEXHLR  RH
Bl BRRERRTELE EF WEIEH AREETE
RUGRAANERE HkEyaAREHi

KEERE  FEEERBES ENEEAFA

RENRNIREE FESEERES  FRE

BE%-

QOperational
expenditures increase
Capital value decrease

Long-term

Risk Control Measures

BRENER

¢+ Kangji Medical has incorporated such
risks into the management of its daily
operations by developing the Emergency
Operation Process Guidelings for
Extreme Scenarios and equipping itself
with emergency materials to ensure
personnel and property safety. We have
also optimized the placement of high-
heat-dissipating equipment, positioning
them in areas with improved ventilation.
This adjustment helps lower equipment
temperatures, reduce the likelihood of
equipment damage and enhance the
overall lifespan of our equipment.

o Kangji Medical has implemented
comprehensive supply chain stability
management measures, including
maintaining muliple qualified suppliers for
critical raw materials and appropriately
increasing safety stock levels. In the event
of supply shortages from suppliers due to
force majeure, we will engage alternative
suppliers that align with our capacity
requirements for timely replenishment.
Moreover, in the realm of logistics, we
have chosen to collaborate with reputable
and well-established logistics companies
to ensure the smooth running of logistics
and reduce transportation risks.

o RERRERIBERAAREERE
B RdnE(BRsRERRIERER
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5 HERERHKRE

Climate change also presents development opportunities for Kangji RN AEEEEERERKE  TEBHE
Medical, primarily including reduced operational costs through improved
energy efficiency and increased demand for the Group’s products due
to potential disease prevalence. However, the overall financial impact of
these opportunities on the Group’s financial indicators remains relatively

BERERMERAFROELEKATR  ARE
ERBEME EEERFTROG LT BEE
HERUBEENFERER) -

limited.
Potential Impact on Business and Potential
Opportunity Category Value Chain Financial Impact Time Horizon Opportunity Control Measures
BB BENXBNEEHENYE BEUBYE KHLEE BEEERRE
Resource Use  Clean energy o Inrecent years, certain regions have Operational Short-term, o Kangji Medical continuously evaluates
Efficiency transition and energy experienced significant increases in expenditures medium-term, and updates its production and
conservation and energy prices due to factors like extreme  decrease long-term operational equipment through iterative
emission reduction weather events and geopolitical issues. calculations. By utilizing equipment
Kangji Medical aims to reduce expenses with higher efficiency and lower energy
related to energy consumption through consumption, as well as streamlining
the adoption of more energy-efficient production processes, the Company
equipment, highly efficient production reduces energy consumption.
processes and a faster transition to clean Meanwhile, the Group has installed
energy sources while reducing reliance solar power generation equipment
on externally purchased energy. across its industrial park to accelerate
clean energy production and utilization,
while newly constructed energy storage
facilities help balance peak and off-
peak demand to reduce overall energy
costs.
BREARE BRERERESE o LFR AREGRXR BEHAERE BEXATE  RH 48 RkE RABERERRUBRBENTINE
B 2 BouBRERERRERA RER ﬁ Lﬂﬁ%&$§‘ RRE MR
FRBRAERANREARREER BEETEHIHRER - H
WAEERRE  TMRGRERER R %IFIE&%K% ER
NERFERE  HERRERAEH L/ﬁ/gigﬁﬁﬁﬁ *ﬁgﬁﬁgﬁ
2% BRER BRERERA-
Productsand  Growing market o (Climate Change Contributing to a Revenue Long-term As a platform company specializing
Services demand Growing Demand for Medical Devices increase in medical devices, Kangji Medical
in the Market due to the Increased leverages a combination of academia,
Prevalence of Diseases - As the global research and industry to understand
average temperature rises and extreme the evolving needs of patients. By
weather events become more frequent, continuously engaging in agile and
the occurrence of diseases is on the rise. wide-ranging technological research
This, in turn, will elevate the R&D efforts and application, we assist society
and demands for medical devices due in responding to emerging health
to the increased frequency and types of challenges.
diseases, providing the Group with more
market development opportunities.
ERARE  HEEREN ¢« FRBLBHERENBABESAE MWAER  RH EASRERTALT REREAS
kis- 2R T RRERRRAEH REESMARBRER 7RSI
RENEMBERESRBNESE 5 BEHMT TRARERRBELR
BREOHENT AR EREE R HEBERMRMMEAER B
REBEMEND L EMASES ERYDIERLE
RESMHGERES -
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R HERERERE

Climate Resilience

During the Reporting Period, incorporating common climate scenarios,
Kangji Medical conducted qualitative scenario analysis in response to
the aforementioned risks and opportunities. The assessment indicates
that the Group possesses strong climate resilience.

In terms of climate physical risk, under the circumstance that there
are no significant changes to the Group’s geographical locations and
business model, while the Group may be affected by floods and heavy
rainfall, the frequency of extreme weather events in its operational
regions remains limited even under high-carbon-emission scenarios.
Additionally, the Group has established contingency measures and
maintains a geographically diversified supply chain. Based on historical
experience, the Group is well-positioned to manage these risks
effectively.

In terms of the risk of climate transition, despite the rapid advancement
of China’s “Dual Carbon” policies, the Group’s operations and industry
sector do not involve significant energy consumption or carbon
emissions. Moreover, the Group is accelerating its transition to clean
energy, providing substantial flexibility to adapt to stricter regulations.
While the medical device industry has not yet prioritized product carbon
emission, the Group has already begun enhancing the eco-friendliness
of our products, positioning us well to meet future low-carbon market
trends.

Risk Management

Kangji Medical places high importance on ESG-related risk management,
integrating climate risks into its enterprise risk management framework.
By assessing actual business conditions alongside scenario analysis
results, industry insights, and external expert recommendations, we
proactively identify and evaluate potential risks and development
opportunities arising from climate-related factors. For the identified risks
and opportunities, the Group prioritizes risks based on departmental
feedback and internal risk assessment tools, actively reviews and
adjusts climate change risk management strategies and relevant
response measures, and continuously monitors and strengthens
climate risk management response capabilities. During the Reporting
Period, we took corresponding risk response measures in four aspects:
energy structure, equipment energy consumption, green products and
production guarantee.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Optimizing Energy Structure

Kangji Medical actively adjusts the energy use structure and continues
to use photovoltaic power generation equipment to support the
production and operation of the industrial park. During the Reporting
Period, Kangji Medical PV Phase Il project was connected to the grid for
power generation, further increasing the proportion of clean energy use.
As of the end of the Reporting Period, we have installed approximately
2 megawatts of photovoltaic power generation capacity, capable of
providing approximately 2 million KWH of electricity per year. In addition,
we have taken green power such as hydropower and wind power into
account when purchasing power.

R - HERER®RE

EEBEF i1

FEEREGRABEREAERE SERALENK
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KRERRENRRNBERE  SFEMEHRY
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Reducing Equipment Energy Consumption

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical consistently replaced high-
energy-consumption equipment in production processes and applied
green building concepts in newly constructed plant. In existing office
areas, we continuously replaced more energy-efficient office equipment
and lighting systems. For new factory buildings, we proactively
selected production equipment with lower environmental impact to
comprehensively reduce pollution generated from manufacturing and
office operations. For detailed measures and results, please refer to
the sections headed “Implementation of Energy-saving and Emission
Reduction Measures” and “Promoting Green Office Operations” of this
report.
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R HERERERE

Creating Green Products

Kangji Medical integrates green and eco-friendly principles throughout
the entire product lifecycle, including design, production, transportation,
and usage phases. We have optimized product packaging to reduce
plastic content and minimize carbon emissions across the product life
cycle. For detailed measures and results, please refer to the section
headed “Implementation of Energy-saving and Emission Reduction
Measures” of this report.

Enhancing Production Assurance

To address challenges arising from climate change, such as potential
production shutdowns and power shortages, we implement measures to
reduce non-production electricity consumption in office areas, such as
setting time and temperature limits on air conditioning systems during
peak power consumption periods. We strictly adhere to electricity usage
regulations by adopting self-imposed power restrictions and partial
power-off operations to prevent emergency power failures caused by
inadequate power supply. Additionally, we have expanded our inventory
of raw materials for production and increased stock levels of raw
materials and components appropriately to ensure smooth production
in the event of supply chain disruptions caused by extreme weather
conditions.

Indicators and Goals

Kangji Medical has prioritized the monitoring of energy consumption-
related indicators based on the analysis of climate risks and
opportunities, laying a solid foundation for continuously reducing
carbon emissions, addressing legal compliance risks, and improving
energy efficiency. Meanwhile, we have established targets for energy
consumption density, photovoltaic installed capacity, and greenhouse
gas emission intensity to regularly review the performance of these
indicators. For details on Kangji Medical’s emission reduction goals and
indicators, please refer to the section headed “Optimizing Environmental
Management System” of this report.

Implementation of Energy-saving and Emission Reduction Measures

Kangji Medical strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations such as
the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Water Law of the People’s Republic of China to enhance the standard
of resource management of the Group. Through initiatives such as
procuring energy-efficient and environmentally friendly equipment and
fostering technological innovation, we enhance resource use efficiency,
contributing to the establishment of an enterprise that emphasizes
resource conservation.
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Improving Resource Use Efficiency

Kangji Medical continues to optimize its energy structure and enhance
the comprehensive use of resources. Through the continuous
introduction of new energy-efficient production equipment and the
upgrading of existing equipment, greenhouse gas emissions in the
Group’s operations are steadily reduced. We regularly collect and
analyze data on energy consumption during the production process to
identify factors affecting energy use efficiency and implement tailored
measures for improvement. Additionally, we strengthen daily water
conservation management by constantly refining our water usage
patterns and promoting the adoption of water recycling technologies.
We rely on the municipal water supply for our daily production and
operational water usage. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
experience any water resource shortages.

During the Reporting Period, we installed more water and electricity
meters in different production lines or equipment of production
workshops. This enables more precise measurement of water and
electricity consumption for each workshop or key equipment, providing
data support for quantifying energy-saving efficiency and facilitating
more precise management of our production resources. Furthermore,
to further enhance energy efficiency, we have newly constructed energy
storage facilities to balance peak and off-peak demand. These facilities
store energy during low-consumption periods (e.g., late-night hours)
and release it during peak daytime hours, reducing cross-regional
transmission losses caused by high-demand electricity usage. This not
only improves load balancing but also cuts energy expenses.
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BRI -HERERHRS

Equipment Upgrade RIEEF

During the Reporting Period, we introduced and updated the following ~ AN#REHI A - H BB AMEFHIU NEERE
production equipment to reduce resource consumption during the  ARREAERENERHERE
production process:

o The newly built Sterilization workshop uses an air-source heat pump water heater for heating. Compared to
traditional electric and gas heating methods, the air-source heat pump water heater does not require fuel
combustion, significantly reducing energy consumption while also lowering carbon emissions.
ERBEERERERERUKEHEE  HEERNEMBFTMREAME - ERERKSEEFTRERE - 7T KIER
EBEIRE R [F B IRl > Bk BE AR o

Alir- source heat pumps

72 REERK SR

. Introducing the next-generation single-port trocars and heat sealing machines with inner-ring technology, increasing
sealing efficiency by nearly 35% compared to original equipment. The energy consumption required for production is
reduced by nearly 20%, and the energy consumption per unit product is further reduced.
SIAFEBIFRZBENARASHE  HREREBRE NI IEI6%  LEEMFELAETF1I20%  BER
BUEmEERENE —FRE-

Next-generation single—port trocars and heat sealing machines with inner-ring technology
A E T RIS A MARERS H

. Introducing airtightness testing stations for single-port trocars to replace manual single-station testing, achieving
over 160% improvement in testing throughput while reducing production energy consumption by approximately
50%.
SIANEAFRBRABMWAASBRETLAFATR - BB RBCERFA160%IA L - £ E T AEFE T & 4I50% ©
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R - HERER®RE

Airtightness testing stations for single-port trocar

BIFRSEREEARAR

Packaging Model and Transportation Method Upgrades

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively promoted the use of soft
plastic packaging, effectively reducing plastic consumption, packaging
dimensions, and storage space while increasing the number of products
shipped per trip. By procuring soft plastic thermoforming and sealing
machines, We actively promotes the replacement of hard plastic
packaging with soft plastic packaging for single-packaged trocars.
This change has reduced the plastic weight per product by over 85%,
cutting annual plastic usage by approximately 68 tons. Additionally,
we optimized the allocation of transport vehicles and implemented a
dedicated pickup system for certain products with logistics providers,
enabling full truckload shipments. This approach reduced the use of
packing bags and improved transportation efficiency.

BRB A BER T TR

ABEHRN AEEEREERBHR2ETR
BRBRLTENERE BERTNREFMATE
Ml RBRAEREAEENE - BERBERBRE
HOK RMESESHEIRFRBNELEHE
KEMBEBRBE  NEAIRBMEERNLER
£ AR BEB85%IA £ - 2 F R 28K &8 468N -
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R HERERERE

Promoting Resource Recycling and Reuse

During the Reporting Period, we continued to carry out the recycling
and reuse of packaging materials and water to enhance the efficiency of
resource usage, including:

o The centralized recycling of lining films and double-layered
packaging bags from our suppliers, which are then repurposed as
fillers in the packaging of our reusable instrument shipment and
logistics transportation protection materials, reducing the use of
packaging sponges by approximately 2.5 tonnes over the year;

o The centralized collection of packaging boxes of disposable
product blister packs, which are then trimmed down and turned
into liner boards by packaging material manufacturers. During
the Reporting Period, a total of 10,621 discarded cardboard
boxes were collected, resulting in the reuse of approximately
60,000 liner boards;

. The collection of rinse water from the ultrasonic cleaning
process, which after treatment, is reused as cooling water in
our injection molding machines, contributing to less tap water
consumption.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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AWEMA  AEEAMERER RERES
B KRS B R BRHE B MBS - AR
E—FHRBERNT :

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s data on energy use,
greenhouse gas emissions, water resource use, and packaging material
use, as well as the changes from the previous year, are as follows:

Change
Indicator 2023 proportion
R PUPKES BE LA
Energy consumption | Total purchased power kWh
BRRRE NEEHEE TRE 6,401,343 5,008,014 27.82%
Self-consumption of photovoltaic power kWh
generation
KREBEREE TRE 1,568,414 824,339 90.26%
Total electricity consumption kWh
BREEE TR& 7,969,757 5,832,353 36.65%'°
Electricity consumption intensity kWh/revenue in million
RMB
REEE TE®/BEBA 7,902 6,298 25.46%
Gasoline Litres
b # 54,062 54,472 -0.75%
Natural gas m®
XAR MR 18,061 17,320 4.28%
Comprehensive energy consumption'! tce
Fa R HAR 1059.10 795.95 33.06%
Comprehensive energy consumption tce/revenue in million
intensity RMB
FRERERER BEE/ BRRA 1.05 0.86 22.17%
hC During the Reporting Period, the Group successively put into operation 1 new R&D building, 3 factory buildings,

2 staff dormitories, leading to additional power consumption (production-related power usage remained within
controllable limits).
RBERAN  REBESMCACHIRHAEARNE REF 2REIFEE SHAES=EFNMNEN(FEREE
AEEEA) -

Ui The conversion of various types of energy into a standardized coal equivalent follows the General Rules for
Calculation of the Comprehensive Energy Consumption (GB/T2589-2020).
RIB AR A SR E AR B AN (GB/T2589-2020) # & K8 2 IR IT E AR HE -
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Indicator

HE

Change
proportion

Ll 4]

Greenhouse gas Scope | (direct energy) greenhouse gas tCOe
emissions emissions'?
BERBHK BE1 (EHLE) BEREHHE" W-ELHEE 158.30 157,61 0.44%
Scope Il (indirect energy) greenhouse gas tCOe
emissions'®
HE2(MEER) AERBHERED M_aliEs 3,298.61 3,523.14 -6.37%
Total greenhouse gas emissions tCOLe
BEREHNEE W-E({RE= 3,456.92 3,680.74 -6.08%
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity tCO,e/revenue in million
RMB
RERBHNEE B-E{iEE/ 3.43 3.97 -13.77%
BEHBA
Change
Indicator proportion
el BELH
Total water consumption tonnes
#FKE urE 97,862 63,620 53.82%'
Total volume of recycled/reused water tonnes
BERBMNAKNES i 39,247 34,830 12.68%
tonnes/revenue in
Total water consumption intensity million RMB
BREKEE =R N 97.03 68.70 41.23%
k2 The calculation for greenhouse gas emissions from scope 1 (direct energy) is conducted based on the

Guidelines for Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting for Industrial and Other Sector Enterprises
(Trial) and the 2019 Refinement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories published
by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

HEI(EEER) REREHNE  KB(ITEEMITELCERERBHMZEF EZHREERE (F17)) AREF
FRIEZ (L BEPIZE B E(PCC)TIEMIPCC 20065 B A E R LS| R IEFE20198 5T R) EIT%E -

i Scope 2 (indirect energy) greenhouse gas emissions: Calculated based on the average carbon dioxide emission
factor of Zhejiang Province’s electricity from the 2022 Electricity Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors, the 2024
data is 0.5153 kgCO,/kWh. Calculated based on the average carbon dioxide emission factor of East China
regional grid from Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors of PRC’s Regional Power Grid in 2011 and 2012,
the 2023 data is 0.7035 kgCO,/kWh.

#HE2 (LR BEREHERE : 2024F HEBE(2022F E N A LEREFIRMNIEEHFH =K
PP E F /0.56158kgCO,/kWh ° 20234 BB R R (2011 FM2012F F BRI EH FH - Qb ME FIRER
B = E ¥ = KB B R E F /&0.7036kgCO,/kWh e

4 During the Reporting Period, the Group successively put into operation 1 new R&D building, 3 factory buildings, 2 staff
dormitories, and irrigation water was increased after the greening of the industrial park. These factors collectively led
to additional water consumption (production-related water usage remained within controllable limits).

RMERA  AREEEENBRAGAIRFERE  SHBE  2REIESE  UARERSAICBCERIE M TEBAK
BYAKEFIMNG N (EERKEAZEHENAN) o
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Change
Indicator 2023 proportion
g 2023%F BEL G
Total packaging material consumption' tonnes
BEMEBEREEES A 785.85 736.84 6.65%
* Plastic tonnes
o BRI HA g 224.50 226.85 -1.04%
® Cardboard tonnes
o LR SA Mg 559.38 508.43 10.02%
* Foam tonnes
o B4R MA g 1.97 1.56 26.28%
Volume of reused packaging materials tonnes
BEMEZAFAE A 9.94 10.97 -9.39%

tonnes/revenue in
Packaging material consumption intensity million RMB
BEMEERTE =R PN 0.78 0.80 -2.08%
Reducing Pollutant Emissions FEAES5 2B

Kangji Medical strictly complies with national environmental laws and fFFHEEEHZKRETHBERIBIERBEN EEZEE
regulations, ensuring all of our operations are legally compliant. Through (kA HHEEESBER  MESRLEEH
timely updates and modifications of equipment to cut down on the  HApgiE - B EE/K - BEREERN - INABEEYEIE -
emissions of wastewater and gases, we have intensified our waste B {K&EEELBIZREA- RS LYHER o
management efforts to minimize the pollutants generated during the

Group’s operational processes.

i During the Reporting Period, the Group further combed and refined the statistical caliber of packaging materials, and
restated the relevant data for 2023.
AREHRN AKREHBEMHRAACET TE - TMEBEMA(L - LH2023FHBBRBE LT T EM -
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R HERERERE

Wastewater Management

Kangji Medical ensures that all of its operating sites implement separate
systems for rainwater and sewage to conduct centralized collection and
treatment of wastewater from production and daily life. We also regularly
employ qualified professional third-party to conduct sewage tests to
ensure that the relevant indicators are qualified before discharging the
treated water into the municipal sewage system. During the Reporting
Period, the sewage discharge test results were in compliance with
national and local laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, we established a dedicated cleaning room
in the precision engraving workshop, equipped with three cleaning
tanks and a complementary three-stage sedimentation pool, thereby
enhancing cleaning efficiency and strengthening wastewater treatment
capacity.

Exhaust Management

Kangji Medical strictly adheres to the national regulations on exhaust
emissions by continuously strengthening the management of exhaust
emissions from production workshops, office buildings and various
business processes. We engage qualified professional third-party to
perform regular exhaust emission tests, ensuring our practices are in line
with relevant laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the test
results of exhaust emission indicated that Kangji Medical has met the
national and local legal and regulatory requirements.

In the precision machining workshop, we consistently implement an
oil mist purification system. This system employs plasma adsorption
techniques to capture oil pollutants from our production processes,
funneling them into an oil collection tank for centralized processing. This
measure has reduced the concentration of oil mist in the workshop,
enhancing our employees’ work environment and minimizing the release
of oil pollutants into the environment.

16K ® = HER
16 meters

high altitude
discharge

FRETOmZE R (bR
Plasma Fume Purifier

B LB

Centrifugal Fan
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In the polishing workshop, we adopt a dust collection system to collect
the generated metal dust. This system uses a combination of fabric bag
filters and a blow-spray technique to remove and collect dust from the
air, effectively cutting down on dust levels both inside the workshop and
in the external environment, thus helping to reduce air pollution.

R EERR [ER
Bag filter Fan

In the injection molding workshop, we use new drying equipment that
incorporates an internal gas recirculation feature, effectively lowering
the emission of dust and exhaust gases within the workshop to alleviate
air pollution. At the same time, we implement centralized treatment
for injection molding exhaust emissions by adopting activated carbon
adsorption, further enhancing waste gas treatment effectiveness and
ensuring full compliance with emission standards.

R - HERER®RE

EREER RARBHEBEERGABEES
MEBME - ZXREAHRNRELZSNI
HeBEREBETRE USHEETRE  BX
WM EEERAINMBEER RO ERITR -

EIZER RAEAMAMERE BEREREB
REABER AR ERANE BRI
BREZ=RISHR A RAGIEERRERE
TERPRE  BREEMERRMHAR - E—FR
EBEREIENE  BRFEBCER -

In addition, during the Reporting Period, we added new exhaust
cylinders to speed up the treatment of injection molding exhaust
emissions, marking organic exhaust emissions and printing press
cleaning exhaust emissions, and enhanced exhaust emission treatment
efficiency by secondary activated carbon treatment.

O RBEBRA - ROFEFERE IR E T2
FESR - ENR B R R AN EN BB R BE RAETTRR IS
W A8 = RE M R BR IR LA IR RE R IR K o
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R HERERERE

Waste Management

In terms of hazardous waste management, Kangji Medical strictly
implements the environmental goal of 100% transfer of hazardous waste
to qualified third-party for disposal, constantly improves the storage
conditions of hazardous waste warehouses, strictly implements the
registration ledger system of hazardous waste in and out of warehouses,
and strengthens the joint management of hazardous waste transfer to
ensure the compliance of hazardous waste disposal.

In terms of non-hazardous waste management, we persist in our efforts
to sort and manage domestic and office waste, ensuring that waste
is transported without delay by local waste management company.
We have established a centralized waste recycling station for waste
generated during construction on our construction sites. We require
the construction units to adhere to requirements for the stacking of
construction and renovation waste through management, following a
standardized protocol for waste storage and recycling.

At the same time, we pay attention to waste recycling, and continue
to recycle recyclable waste such as scrap metal, waste plastic and old

cardboard generated in production and office operations.

Pollutant Emission Data

During the Reporting Period, the data regarding wastewater and solid
waste, as well as the changes from the previous year, are as follows:

BERYEHE

EREEENERETH REBERBRRAUTAES
FEEMIORBERBEAEENE =T HIBREENR
SRR U THRSBERBENFRGN &S
BEBELABELAKRGE RSMNREES
BPHEEE BRETEEVARARKRE -

EEZEENERIE REBRSERTLRE
M| AN FH D EERTIE - BRELENNIT A
BEHREARTREFE - RMHEEETHET
TEENBERMEL T STEEYLNRE T2
SRANEE B i T B B A 12 IR EE B AP P9 B Sk sz
SEREEREREY YBTHR-WERYE RS
BRI

RS + B P9 BEOE AR W B W R A 455 4 1 Mk AR E
MARMELENESE BEH BLARSAM
W B IR

TR GBI

AR ARk R ERERY HBUE - 5L
BB E—FHEBERNT -

Change
Indicator 2023 proportion
EE 20234 BB Lt Bl
Total volume of wastewater discharged'® tonnes
A BKEERE® 1B 78,290 50,896 53.82%
Total wastewater discharge intensity tonnes/revenue in

million RMB
RATKEEREE W, B & A 77.62 54.96 41.23%
Chemical oxygen demand (COD) emission'” tonnes
{tEBEEECODHME" Mg 15.66 3.82 310.19%
Ammonia nitrogen emission'® tonnes
[RIHE i 2.40 0.96 149.29%
LS According to the Announcement on the Release of Pollutant Discharge Coefficient for Calculating Pollutant Discharge

and Material Balance Calculation Method (No. 81 of 2017) — emission coefficient and material balance method
applicable to industries not included in emission permit management (Trial) — the sewage emission coefficient is taken as
0.7 ~ 0.9 issued by the Ministry of Ecological Environment, Kangji Medical converts 80% of fresh water consumption

into the total volume of wastewater discharged.

REERIRT (AR E M E5 2B E B REAMY B E T EH R EI(2017F F815E) R AW AFEISEFA]
EIRTEEAPEL RE - MHEEIE (B17) 5 K HE R R EE0.7~0.9 + B E B KI5 i /K B 180 % I H A 47

BIRKEEAE -

i The COD concentration in wastewater is estimated using the annual third-party test report, with the figure for 2024

being 200mg/L.
LA F 58 = 75 0Bl & 1 )5 7K CODR E AROBI &

20244 [EHI200mg/L °

18 The ammonia nitrogen concentration in wastewater is estimated using the annual third-party test report, with the figure

for 2024 being 30.63mg/L.

NEFE=FRARSHISKEARERBE 20244 FH30.63mg/L °
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5

2023
20234

Change
proportion

2B LBl

Total amount of hazardous waste
Hazardous waste generated tonnes
BEEEY EEBREYELRSE A 39.87 32.96 20.94%
— Volume of waste emulsion
generated tonnes
—BILRELES i 24.96 21.00 18.84%
— Volume of oil-containing metal
generated tonnes
—EHeBELS U 10.89 9.46 15.20%
— Quantity of waste packaging
barrels generated tonnes
—ERERELS U 1.75 1.20 45.10%
— Other hazardous wastes™ tonnes
—HihEEREED" A 2.27 1.30 74.14%
Intensity of hazardous waste tonnes/revenue
generated in million RMB
EEERNELETE LA=R-3 N 0.0395 0.0356 11.04%
Total amount of hazardous waste
disposed?® tonnes
EERENRERED U 39.85 32.96 20.90%
Non-hazardous Total amount of non-hazardous tonnes
waste waste generated
BEREEY BEEZYELES U7 132.70 66.67 99.06%
— Office/domestic waste tonnes
— MR HETERIR A 55.44 48 15.50%
Recyclables?' tonnes
— ] [ 4y 4> U7 77.26 18.67 313.82%
Intensity of non-hazardous waste tonnes/revenue
generated in million RMB
BRERENELERE W, B & WA 0.1316 0.0720 82.76%
Amount of non-hazardous waste tonnes
recycled®
EEEZEY RS2 U7 77.26 18.67 313.84%

i Including laboratory waste liquid, waste ink, oil-bearing soil absorbent cotton, waste activated carbon and other
small or occasionally produced hazardous waste.

BEEREER  BEHE SHIRER BEEREELAERIXEBRELENESEEY -

20 The total amount of hazardous waste is based on the amount transferred to qualified third-party and is
documented with the Hazardous Waste Transfer Manifest.
NBRZE=ZFEEEENTREA(CEBRBE)NEETEEYESERE -

a1 Recyclables include non-hazardous waste such as waste metals, waste cardboard and waste plastics.
OB EEeE  BFAR BEHNEEZEEY -

22 The total amount of non-hazardous waste recycled is based on the amount sold to waste recycling dealers,

primarily consisting of waste cardboard and waste plastics.

NEBCEROBRANEZERZMEERE  UBEARMEEHNSE -
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R HERERERE

Promoting Green Office Operations

Kangji Medical has been steadfast in strengthening the integration
of green office principles into daily operations. We have ramped up
our efforts to promote green office practices to enhance employee
awareness of green office operations, with a focus on regular energy-
saving and emission-reducing initiatives. During the Reporting Period,
we implemented multiple environmental initiatives including technological
water conservation and energy-efficient management to consistently
practice green office operations and minimize our operational

environmental impact.

Technological Water Conservation

Conduct comprehensive renovation of restroom facilities in the
industrial park, replacing all non-water-saving fixtures with those
certified by China’s Water Conservation Certification, achieving
an annual water-saving benefit of approximately 700 tons;

Install the irrigation sprinkler system covering all landscaped
areas in the industrial park, enabling timed and targeted watering
for gardens and lawns, reducing water waste, and further
improving water-use efficiency;

Optimize existing pipelines, including upsizing and replacing
outdated pipes in office buildings to address leakage issues.
A total of five leakage points were identified and resolved
throughout the year. In addition, based on the existing separate
stormwater and sewage system, new underground rainwater
and sewage pipelines were added in areas with poor drainage to
minimize water resource waste.

Energy-Efficient Management

Continuously promote the digital transformation of our office
workflows by transitioning the Group’s approval process from
paper-based to OA system, leading to a reduction of the intensity
of paper use in the office;

Continuously promote the temperature settings for air
conditioning. In summer, air conditioning should not be set
below 26T ' and in winter, heating is not to exceed 22T °These
standards are irregularly monitored to ensure adherence and
foster an energy-conscious culture among our employees in line
with energy-saving and carbon reduction regulations;

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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. Continuously implement daily fuel consumption management of
official vehicles, make monthly statistics on fuel consumption
of official vehicles, actively identify abnormal situations,
implement monthly assessment rules for drivers, and reduce fuel
consumption of official vehicles per 100 km. At the same time,
we have increased the use of new energy vehicles, installed
charging piles in the industrial park, and prioritized the use of
pure electric vehicles in daily vehicle scheduling. In the future, we
will continue to prioritize the purchase of pure electric vehicles to
replace old fuel vehicles.

EMPLOYEE CARE

Kangji Medical is well aware that employees are one of the key forces
driving the sustainable development of the Group. Our corporate
values are firmly people-centric, and we constantly optimize the human
resources management and control system, attach great importance to
the rights and interests of employees, and provide competitive salaries
and benefits to build a healthy, diverse, inclusive and equal working
environment.

Kangji Medical upholds a recruitment policy characterized by openness,
transparency, and equitable fairness, creating a fair mechanism in our
hiring practices. We have formulated and implemented the Employee
Recruitment Management System, which specifies the requirements
and protocols at each stage of the recruitment process, ensuring the
efficiency and compliance of our recruitment activities. In addition,
we prioritize the recruitment of high-quality talents and conduct hiring
through multiple channels, including job fairs, recruitment websites,
headhunters, campus recruitment, and WeChat official accounts, to
enrich the Group’s talent pool across multiple dimensions. Positions and
assignments are determined based on candidates’ professional skills
and personal qualities, ensuring a high degree of alignment between
personnel and roles, thereby maintaining the stability of the Group’s
talent resource structure.

R - HERER®RE

. SEERABAEARRREE SAY
RIEAERMFEETH  BERBENEER
N AEBERMAREZAR  REQK
RERREME - R - BN R
RENER EERARETRERE A
FREAERELSEMRMAEHERT K
REMBEEEERBAEHTETHE
EfmE -

ETEIR
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As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Group’s workforce totaled EZEREHI K @ AEBF LA E THH1,007A © 48
1,007 employees, representing an increase of 114 employees? or a 2023 K MN114 A28 - R H12.77% » LM
growth of approximately 12.77% compared to the end of last year. The Bl - Fifk - @ R IREEAEDHNE THRWOT
breakdown of the Company’s employees by gender, age, region and

employment type is as follows:

Employees by gender (persons) Employees by age (persons)
REBEIHETHER (A) REREIWEIHER (N)

u Male B Female
} f mAged30 ® Aged31 W Aged 50
St it and below to 50 and above
0EERIAT 31-50/E5% S0/E B KA L
Employees by region (persons) Employees by employment type (persons)
EWEESHNEIRR (A) REBEHREINEIHER (AN)
24 —3 0

m Zhejiang Province ® outside Chinese mainland B Full-time = Part-time
LA FREIRRE A M [ 2 FeA

® Mainland China but outside Zhejiang Province
LA ASNK BEHE R

28 During the Reporting Period, Weijing Medical ceased to consolidate its statistics, and we restated the data for
2023 for comparability purposes.
RBERAN  WHEERETBSHSE  RTESHBEAILLE - RMEH2023F N EIEET T H o
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During the Reporting Period, the Group experienced an overall employee
turnover rate of 10.63%. The breakdown of the Company’s employee
turnover by gender, age and region is as follows:

Employee turnover rate by gender (%)

RIEBIB D KB TREE (%)

R - HERER®RE

ABEHR AEBNETHEARILERA
10.63% ° MR - F MR EHDHE TREAER
BRMT :

Employee turnover rate by age (%)

RERBDNEITREE(%)

13.78%

11.55%

8.88%

10.26%

6.67%

Male Female
£z =g S0EBEIAT
Employee Rights and Benefits

Kangji Medical strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Promotion of Employment and the
Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of China. Additionally, we
refer to international standards such as the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights and the Employment Policy Convention to formulate
and implement internal policies, including the Employee Handbook and
the Employee Training and Development System. These regulations
standardize recruitment and termination, compensation and benefits,
attendance and performance, working hours and leave, and other
aspects of employment management, ensuring the lawful rights and
interests of every employee. Any violation of employees’ legitimate rights
is strictly prohibited.

Safeguarding Employee Rights

In strict compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors and the
Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour, we have established strict
verification processes to rigorously ensure all candidates meet age
requirements. Any candidate who does not meet the age criteria is not
hired, thus completely eradicating the use of child labor from the source.
Furthermore, the Group has a firm stance against forced labor and has
instituted the Overtime Management System to reasonably arrange
employees’ working hours. In instances where overtime is necessary,
the Group will abide by the law to provide overtime pay or compensatory
leave, effectively ensuring that we comply with all applicable laws and
regulations regarding employees’ work hours and labor rights. During
the Reporting Period, the Group underwent its first Sedex social
responsibility audit, and did not experience any incidents of employing
child labor or forced labor.

Aged 30 and below Aged 31 to 50 Aged 50 and above

31-5038 4% 50MBm &AL

ETEDSEER
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R HERERERE

Promoting Diversity and Equality

Kangji Medical advocates a diverse workplace culture and is committed
to fostering an equal and inclusive work environment. We firmly
oppose any form of discrimination based on race, color, ethnicity,
religion, gender, sexual orientation, age, disability, marital status,
pregnancy, veteran status, genetic information, or any other legally
protected characteristic, ensuring that every employee receives fair
treatment in recruitment, compensation, promotion, rewards, and
training opportunities. Special emphasis is placed on protecting female
employees from unfair treatment due to pregnancy or menstruation. We
also actively support the employment of individuals with disabilities to
help them achieve self-worth. During the Reporting Period, the Group
maintained a 94.40% retention rate for female employees after maternity
leave and employed five individuals with disabilities under equal
opportunity policies. No incidents of discrimination were reported.

Well-Established Compensation System

Kangji Medical has established a fair, transparent and competitive
compensation and performance system. Based on employees’ work
performance and competency, we accurately determine job levels and
salaries to ensure that employees receive competitive pay within the
industry. We have also built a transparent promotion pathway, providing
a clear career development roadmap for talents, which effectively
enhances talent attraction and motivation, ensuring that we retain
workforce to the greatest extent possible. At the same time, the Group
has accelerated the systematic management process of performance
appraisal, formulated rigorous appraisal rules and given generous
rewards to those with excellent performance to fully stimulate the
potential and enthusiasm of employees.

Open Communication Channels

Kangji Medical actively listens to our employees by establishing diverse
communication channels, such as emails, surveys, employee forums
and performance discussions, to fully understand and adopt the
optimization suggestions of employees on business processes and
resource matching. In response to reasonable demands of employees,
we promptly communicate with relevant departments to ensure that we
respond to the concerns of employees in the first instance and continue
to follow up until their issues are effectively resolved.

During the Reporting Period, we continued to conduct employee
engagement surveys by using the internationally accepted engagement
survey method, examining the four levels of basic needs, value
embodiment, team belonging and common growth to comprehensively
assess the organizational climate and employee satisfaction. A total of
525 valid responses were collected, with the employee engagement
steadily increasing compared to previous years, and employees’ sense
of job satisfaction and pride remaining at a high level.
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Enhancing Welfare Standards

Kangji Medical is always committed to being a solid support for our
employees by offering a comprehensive range of benefits. In addition
to the requirements of laws and regulations, we also provide medical
mutual aid insurance, free physical examinations, and various subsidies
to all employees. Employer liability insurance is purchased for rehired
personnel who are retired, interns and probationary employees.
Meanwhile, in order to further protect women’s rights and interests,
during the Reporting Period, we purchased special disease medical
insurance for female employees.

Benefits and Leaves

We provide employees with legally mandated leaves such as sick leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, pregnancy checkup leave and paternity
leave in accordance with laws and regulations. We meticulously organize
a group trip for all employees every year and prepare gifts for traditional
holidays, employment anniversary souvenirs and birthday presents,
and hold collective employee birthday parties every month to enhance
employee happiness and belonging.

Subsidy Policy

During the Reporting Period, we implemented a series of subsidy policies
covering communication, travel, meals, accommodation and high-
temperature, offering comprehensive care for employees’ lives, and we
also provided reimbursement of Spring Festival transportation expenses
for employees outside Zhejiang Province. Furthermore, for employees
who face family difficulties, the loss of immediate family members,
disability or hospitalization, the labor union provides employees with
different amounts of condolence money depending on the situation to
support them navigate these challenging times.
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Working Environment

We attach great importance to the physical and mental health of
employees and have created a healthy, comfortable and safe working
environment. During the Reporting Period, we completed the greening
renovation of the park area and planted a large number of green plants
and flowers at a high standard to create a garden-style factory. At the
same time, we built new staff dormitories and set up an employee home
with convenient facilities such as a library area, rest areas, a fitness
center, an infirmary and a psychological counseling room to promote a
healthy work-life balance among our employees and minimize the risk of
work-related health issues.
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Achievements of Park Environment Renovation
BHERRRHEKR

Cultural and Sports Events

We promote work-life balance and greater well-being for our employees
by organizing a variety of unique cultural and sports activities. The
cultural and sports activities we carried out during the Reporting Period
mainly include:

o Employee Travel: We organized and carried out the 2024 “Thanks
for Being with Us All the Way” employee travel event, which
attracted approximately 500 employees to travel to Singapore,
Malaysia, South Korea, Beijing, Chongqging and other places;

o Family Sessions on Chinese Culture Learning: We hosted an
event themed “Children’s Art at Kangji — Painting the Future
Together”, with participation from over 70 employees and their
children in total;
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. Outdoor Activities: We organized a scenic hike along the Maling FPONES)  EBFEHBRPRTER -
Ancient Road, with participation from over 80 employees in total; HE80r B8 T2

. Club Activities: Basketball, badminton, table tennis, billiards, e MEDEE) : BT &R - PER - KEIR -
fitness, yoga, outdoor and other clubs were newly established, BERBH - mM - PANERE KLY
with a total of about 200 new members at the initial stage of B L IR WOET AL B #J200A 5

establishment;

. 20th Anniversary Celebration: A garden tour to celebrate the e COBFHEAEMN - AREVRERBENT
20th founding anniversary of Kangji Medical was held with the OEFHERER - 2EEISM-

participation of all employees.

Employee Travel
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Family Sessions on Chinese Culture Learning
BRfERE
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20th Anniversary Celebration
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Employee Safety

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Work Safety, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases,
the Fire Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, etc., Kangji
Medical takes ensuring employee safety as the primary goal in the
production process, and implemented the “system of responsibility in
safe production” it formulated and continued to advance the progress
of safety production standardization. At the same time, we implemented
6S management and create a comprehensive safety production and
management system. In the past three years, there have been no work-
related deaths at Kangji Medical. During the Reporting Period, Kangji
Medical had three work injuries resulting in minor injuries to employees,
and the relevant accidents were handled appropriately.

Kangji Medical fully integrates the characteristics of various work
scenarios, making safety production days an important performance
metric for our production supervisors, thereby strengthening the safety
management responsibility system. During the Reporting Period, we
successfully reached safety production objectives set for 2024 and
established safety production objectives for 2025 based on the actual
risk situation:
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Achievement status of safety production objectives for 2024. 2024 B EEBIBEKEN ¢
Safety Production Objective Objective for 2024 Achievement
Category Status
ZEEEBRER 2024F B 1% ERER
Number of near-miss incidents The number of near-miss incidents in the office area ranges from 0
REFMHRE 0to5
W[ ) R R SRR BUEEO-6E 2 Ot
The number of near-miss incidents in the production area ranges 6
from 5 to 10
EE R H) R B B R B AES5-1018 2 A B
Number of injuries resulting in lost The number of injuries resulting in lost workdays in the office 0
workdays area ranges from O to 2
BRIER TR MABEHEBETERTGRBEO-2E ZMH O#e
The number of injuries resulting in lost workdays in the 2
production area ranges from 1 to 5
SERBMEBARAIFEAIGREE1-5E2HE 2
Number of major fires and other No major fires or other accidents occur 0
accidents
BERNK R E M F R TEEERNEREMEY O#e
Sound Safety Management System BE2LEEERR

Kangji Medical attaches great importance to safety hazards in the FREEESESERAERRETNLTEES B
production process and has established a management structure that is 7 AZIBE A0 - EEEBFIE MRS L2 -
anchored by the Safety and Environment Department, working in tandem FHEHE4EZE2REEEIE T - KAREER -
with various business units to carry out daily production safety planning BME—FRABREREL2RBSIEELE - &
and management. During the Reporting Period, we further upgraded #EiESZ2RAKREEKE  2EARELLEER
occupational health and safety risk management standards, continuously 2 %& B @ @b T2 BB T1E -

improved effectiveness of safety risk management, comprehensively

upgraded product production safety management measures and

strengthened safety management work.
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Safety Risk Prevention and Control

We adhere to the principle of early detection and prevention of safety
risks and relentlessly strengthen the prevention of safety risks at source.
We firmly implement a dual prevention system titled the “Safety Risk
Graded Control and Hidden Danger Inspection and Management”,
manage safety risks in strict accordance with documentation including
relevant system files, inspection forms and risk identification lists, which
has improved the safety risk management system, and strengthen our
safety risk prevention and control efforts by implementing the following
measures:

We identify and detect potential safety risks by issuing risk
assessment forms across all departments and ensure they are
addressed and mitigated in a timely manner;

The Safety and Environment Department performs daily
supervision and inspection to ensure adherence to our fire safety
responsibilities, both at different organizational levels and for
specific job roles. It also searches for safety risk vulnerabilities.
Should any safety concerns arise, the affected teams are
promptly informed and corrective actions are taken;

On the production side, we have established a safety
accountability system for team leaders, who are directly in
charge of routine safety checks. When potential hazards are
identified, the Group uses the LEC assessment method?* to
carry out risk level identification and adopt targeted solutions for
identified risks of different levels.

Strengthening Protective Measures

During the Reporting Period, we continued to promote the application
of safety protection facilities in the production process to strengthen
production safety, focusing on:

24

Phasing out grinding and polishing equipment that failed to
meet latest standards and continuously operating dust removal
systems with dust extraction features to minimize workshop
dust;

Using devices for handling oil mist and metal scraps to reduce
oil mist and metal scraps produced during operations, ensuring
employee health and safety;
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The LEC assessment method is a semi-quantitative safety assessment method for hazard sources in working
environments with potential dangers. It stands for L (Likelihood, the probability of an accident occurring), E
(Exposure, the frequency at which personnel are exposed to hazardous environments) and C (Consequence, the

potential consequences of an accident occurring).

LECFHEZRHAGBVERRMEEXRRETNERIRETFETE

MR 2FEF L L(Likelihood » 8 2 4 &9 A

BEME) « E(Exposure * AEZBRERIREFMNIBLIZEE) FIC(Consequence * —BE AL B AJgLEXNER) ©
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° Continuous application of waste disposal devices and safety
alarm systems in the polishing workshop to promptly handle and
report real-time situations;

o Continuous application of advanced oil mist collection and
processing devices to ensure efficient collection of oil mist to
improve the workshop environment;

. Installing safety alarm devices in corridors, and conducting
hands-on training covering all production department staff to
help understand the importance and operational procedures of
these devices to further enhance safety awareness in production.

Occupational Health Management

In strict compliance with the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, Kangji Medical
has developed an Occupational Disease Prevention and Management
System and obtained the ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety
System Certification. We continue to improve the occupational health
management system, identify potential occupational health risks, and
prevent and control occupational hazards to guard against occupational
diseases.

In order to effectively respond to occupational hazards in different
positions, we regularly provide employees with qualified occupational
protective equipment, such as goggles, masks, earplugs, etc., and
urge employees to correctly use and maintain the protective equipment
through education and supervision. In addition, we have equipped the
office area with a “caring medicine box” to provide employees with
common emergency medicines and items and equipped the workplace
with an Automated External Defibrillator (AED) emergency equipment to
enhance employees’ ability to respond to emergency health and safety
incidents.

We continuously organize occupational health examinations for our
employees in specialized roles and issue test results in the form of
reports. During the Reporting Period, we conducted evaluation of
the current situation of occupational disease hazards, systematically
identified occupational disease hazards in production processes,
public utilities and auxiliary facilities, as well as the implementation
of occupational health management organizations, and carried out
upgrading measures in respect of protective equipment to further
improve the system of prevention and control of occupational disease
hazards.
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Construction Safety Risks

Kangji Medical places a strong emphasis on the safety management of
external construction workers and continuously updates management
processes and management measures to strengthen the safety
protection of outsourced personnel during construction. During the
Reporting Period, we have continuously adopted and added the
following safety management measures:

o Strictly control high-risk operations during construction, such
as hot work and working at heights. All hazardous operations
must go through proper application and approval procedures
beforehand, and operators must hold valid qualification
certificates;

o Focus on assessing construction safety risks, requiring
construction units to publicly display major Class A risks, and
making major Class A risks an important performance indicator
for assessing the qualifications of construction units, supervisors
and building engineers;

o Our team leaders, the Engineering Department and contractors
conduct special training for projects with higher risks, provide
safety training for new workers, and conduct assessments. Only
those who pass the examination can take up the job;

o Third-party construction units are required to purchase personal
safety commercial insurance for all employees;

. Signing safety agreements with construction parties to clarify the
safety responsibilities of both parties and standardize health and
safety management;

o Carrying out inspections of construction sites from time to time
to identify potential safety hazards in a timely manner and take
measures to address them.
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Promoting Safety Culture

Kangji Medical adheres to the principle of safety-first development,
constantly striving to boost our employees’ capabilities in identifying
health and safety hazards and responding to emergencies. During
the Reporting Period, we have conducted 2 fire evacuation drills, 1
security and anti-riot drill and 34 Occupational Safety Management
Training sessions (with 2,079 participants and 5,924 training hours),
comprehensively enhancing employees’ health and safety awareness.

During the Reporting Period, we adopted a combined model of
centralized training and onboarding day training for new employees,
providing them with practical and theoretical knowledge before they
start their positions to ensure they are safe to take up the job. In
addition, we periodically shared safety and environmental protection
knowledge, safety and environmental short stories, warning cases and
policy interpretation on WeChat public account to consolidate the safety
knowledge of all staff.
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BI®E

Kangji Medical recognizes the pivotal role of talent as the propellant for REEZRMAST RLETHAAZEROE S -
our ongoing progress. We are committed to establish a comprehensive FHFIR IR IEEZTENAA R FETSEER - MU
talent planning and training system to improve the work skills and RSB T TEREMBES=E  BRETE -
professionalism of employees, stimulate their potentials, and lay a AXNEBENEINRRNEEE TR E LR -

solid foundation for the long-term development of the Group and our

employees.

During the Reporting Period, we conducted a total of 24,815 hours  AN¥R& A - 3 935 82 3% & JE 85 91 HL 524,815/
of training across various programs, with 7,315 participants trained B » 534 A X7,315 A+ A5 3124.64/) B -
in aggregate and an average of 24.64 hours of training per person, B RiE08.7% ° IHIERIMEAZ H» =T HIEES
achieving a coverage rate of 98.7%. The proportion of trained employees Ll & FH &N T ¢

and average training hours by gender and rank are set out below:

Proportion of trained employees by gender (%)

BRI B2 HYZ 3 B EL5I(%)

98.80%

2023

m Male

S

98.94%

2024

u Female

gog

Average training hours of
employees by gender (hours)

ZMR B D B ES TR IR

32.06

22.75

2023

= Male

St

(/J\ ﬂ%)

29.38

2024

= Female

oy

22.13

Proportion of trained employees by rank (%)

ERRE D HZIESLLH)(%)

100.00% 98.70% 100.00% 98.75%
85.71% 85.71%

2023 2024
H Senior m Middle ® Junior
management management  employees
ERERE PRERE —MRET

Average training hours of
employees by rank (hours)

BRRB D HES FIIE IR B (D)

35.22

2023 2024
u Senior = Middle = Junior
management management employees
BREEE PREBRE —RET
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Establishing Training System

Kangji Medical continued to implement its hierarchical employee training
system assessed the effectiveness and duration of training, and formed
a closed-loop mechanism for the implementation and feedback of
important training content to ensure the effectiveness of training. In
addition, taking into account the talent development sequence, we
have set up a curriculum system based on the dual-rank channel and
provided a corresponding series of courses for employees of different
ranks according to the rank sequence to help employees of different
ranks achieve steady development of personal and professional skills.
During the Reporting Period, we conducted various training programs
including empowerment training for middle and senior management,
centralized training for new employees, third phase of lean production
training and first phase of Yangfan reserve talents training, to help
employees understand and sort out work pain points in production,
quality, registration, procurement, marketing, publicity, etc., produce
specific measures and comprehensive implementation plans through
learning while practicing, and verify the validity in the actual work.

New Employee Training

We systematically constructed a new employee training system, through
the establishment of pre-position integration courses and rotational
learning mechanism, to help new employees quickly adapt to the job
requirements. After completing the first phase of centralized training,
these new employees are required to quickly familiarize themselves with
the production and R&D aspects of our products within their respective
departments. They need to complete relevant courses and pass an
exam to qualify for permanent positions. During the Reporting Period,
we organized a total of 4 centralized training programs for our new
employees, reaching over 100% of our new hires and accumulating a
total of 1,680 training hours, with 98.9% of the participants passing the
exam.
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Professional Skill Training

We continued to carry out professional skills training for different types
of employees, and promoted talent capacity building in a hierarchical
manner through digital learning platforms, expatriate training programs
and special programs for high-potential talents. During the Reporting
Period, we conducted a total of 182 specialized training sessions to
enhance different professional skills. Among them, we provided 334
courses covering production and management, product R&D, workplace
general capabilities, leadership, etc. to our employees through online
education and learning platform for their independent learning, with a
total of 1,280 participants and 2,711 hours of total learning time on the
online learning platform.

At the same time, we actively organized our employees to participate
in outbound training, with a total of 15 sessions, which included
improving production quality, enhancing legal compliance awareness
and strengthening risk management awareness. In addition, during the
Reporting Period, we added the “Reserve Force” special training for
high-potential employees to help them sort out their work pain points
and form solutions to accelerate the construction of a talent reserve
system.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI -HERERHRS

Launch of “Voyage Plan”

B[R MG &

In April 2024, the Group organized the opening ceremony of the Sailing Class of the Voyage Plan to formally launch
the Reserve Talent Program, which aims to accumulate sufficient talent for the future development of Kangji Medical
through the selection and cultivation of a batch of potential talents. The contents of the training courses mainly included
“Competency-based Behavioral Interviewing Methods”, “Technical Control Workshop Phase I” and “Technical Control
Workshop Phase II”. During the Reporting Period, we organized 3 offline in-house trainings with 64 participants.

2024F 4 SHABTEMFHENERIMEESX  EXRMBREEATEE  BREERNEE-—HRENIAS  REEER
ARNEREERHANDASNE - BIRIEARTEIZBE(ERBENNTREAS TR (REIENE —H) (REIE
BEZHE - ABREHA - RMLEBINE TR - 27164 A% -

Management Empowerment Training B B e 15 5

In order to further strengthen the management capability of middle  A#—F N8+ =& E IR N IS FH B KA -
and senior management and enhance organizational effectiveness, HFfIFE T(E T HBEHHEEIR) (DEKED
we conducted training on topics such as “Employee Incentive and £B)E X @I BE/)DEW  BEERSH
Motivation Management” and “Enterprise Operation Sandbox”, which R ZEZE B X - WFRIELER - AREH R - F
inspired participants to think and deepen their application through SEEIEEA%ER A st A 5 I K826/ -
group seminars and scenario simulations. During the Reporting Period, 23191 ARk -

the total training hours for middle and senior managers in the program

reached 826 hours, with 91 participants.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Kangji Medical is deeply committed to public welfare, actively giving
back to the community while realizing corporate value, and supporting
public services in environmental protection, healthcare and social
welfare. The Group encourages its employees to actively participate in
volunteer activities, continuously carrying out charitable activities such
as green public welfare, charitable blood donation and compassionate
outreach. By fulfilling our corporate social responsibilities, we aim to
contribute to a more cohesive and harmonious society.

Spreading the Spirit of Charity

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical donated a total of
approximately RMB1.745 million to Tonglu County Charity Federation,
five schools in Tonglu Economic Development Zone, Beijing Great
Physician Commonweal Foundation, and Guangxi Medical University
Education Development Foundation, which were dedicated to assistance
in medicine and assistance in education. In addition, the Group has
enthusiastically engaged in community welfare initiatives, fulfilling our
corporate social responsibilities and contributing to foster a harmonious
society.

Green Public Welfare Scenic Hike

R - HERER®RE

HEEE

BEEEBREAMAGER GEERCEXEENRR
BREELE PORR BE HERINEQ
BEX - AEERAEIEBRRGEREE 5
BHEsELE  BERND BOMESLEHE
B BOCELSRME RELSNERE -

BIE Q5 E
AREMAN REBFRAWNERZERLE RE
RERERAER ARABRAGZESE  EA

BEMABEREERESCSHABEMTIEET
AR HEARBES - ltsh AEEER
SEMBRADEY BOTCELSREE PIHE
B -

BREABRBITED

On the occasion of the 20th anniversary of Kangji Medical’s establishment, the Group organises a green public welfare
scenic hike for the 20th anniversary celebration, mobilizing Party members’ volunteers and employees from various
departments to clean up garbage on the Fuchun River Urban Greenway to contribute to the protection of the community
environment.

ERERREKU20BF 2R SEHARAR T208FEAGKEARRITEY HEREEEHEEMNEHMEIRIETEL
WA BBENE - RRELERBMMEER -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI -HERERHRS

Charitable Blood Donation

£ (8RR I ST B

Kangji Medical encourages employees to participate in public welfare activities, spreading the spirit of charity. During the
Reporting Period, in the spirit of volunteer service, Kangji Medical joined forces with the Tonglu Blood Station and the
Jiande Central Blood Bank to hold a charitable blood donation campaign. The event saw a turnout of over 120 employees,
encompassing the management and entry levels of the Group, who together contributed an approximately 31,160 milliliters
of blood in this charitable blood donation.

BEEBRIMET2HEAREY  FEAREL - AREHA - RUBEERBES  BEEBRBAMEMLY  BEDF
/Dml)iﬁﬁi?e,m BRIMES L1208 RKESEERENEE—SNETI2ET WAERERNES @ 2B M2 431,160
ZH -

Compassionate Outreach
®OBEER

Kangji Medical upholds the traditional Chinese virtues of “respecting, honoring, cherishing, and assisting the elderly”.
For three consecutive years, the Company has extended warmth to the “School Gate Grandpas”. This group consists of
retired veteran Party members who voluntarily devote themselves to community service. Since the group’s establishment
in September 2013, they have persistently escorted children after school at the gate of Fengchuan Primary School rain or
shine, in scorching heat or bitter cold, with unwavering dedication spanning over a decade. Affectionately dubbed by the
children as “kind, warm-hearted, and responsible grandpas”, their story was honored as a “Hangzhou City Moral Exemplar”
in 2024, recognizing their extraordinary commitment to safeguarding the younger generation.
BEBRBRUAGTERKIEZE - %ﬂ% B DEINERERE  EFE=FRIRPISRE X DRE - HAB RIS
H—AERRAERARNEREZEEBENK - B2013FOAMILIAN  BRHSXERII/NEMAEHEXNRERE &
wmelE TREE®ARE ?%E%ﬁéﬂif‘eﬁ@ﬁ PR ZFMHEARRD - 20 - BEENEGR - 2024F @ I8 FPHETE
RMMNTBERELE -
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Share Love on Children’s Day

R—EMBOED

Kangji Medical concerned about assisting students. On International Children’s Day, the Company donated children’s
books to five schools under the jurisdiction of the Tonglu Economic Development Zone Administrative Committee, marking
two consecutive years of delivering festive gifts to local children.

BEBERELEDEIE AR REHAMNELCEREREZSERAMERBRIZEE  EBMFREZFME
EAEREY -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place TG TR B AT Tel&E #%: +852 2846 9888
§* 979 King’s Road BERH ABREBEITIH Fax{§ H: +852 2868 4432
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong AN — 2712 ey.com

To the shareholders of Kangji Medical Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kangji Medical
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 185 to 296, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

B BT R

FAREREE
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Key audit matters (continued)

REELEE(R)

Key audit matter
BREEREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMNERNNEEBEEREE

Impairment of trade receivables

B 5B R E

As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying value of trade
receivables amounted to RMB271,949,000, after netting
off a loss allowance for impairment of RMB3,801,000,
representing 9.3% of the Group’s total assets.

2024 12A31H  EMBBREEBEEEBEARKE
271,949,000/ - EHRMA BN REFERARE
3,801,000 * 16 EEEEEMAEN3% -

The impairment of trade receivables is assessed based on
the expected credit loss model which requires significant
judgements and estimates from management. In assessing
the expected credit losses of the trade receivables,
management considered various factors such as the age of
the balance, existence of disputes, recent historical payment
patterns, any other available information concerning the
creditworthiness of counterparties and forward-looking
information. The assessment is highly judgmental.
BHoRKFIBBRENENHHREEERERAN G TEER
BEHERAE R - R HEZERYRENFEHREER
B EREZRTZERE @ flIESRKRER  FENFEE -
EHEBERNFRAR FEARXRZEFEAMRINEMEAMA
B RATE &R - ZENGE S E A -

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment of trade
receivables are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the
financial statements.

ERESRKFIERERN BESERBEEHSANTBHRERD
MizE2.4 ~ 3% 17 o

We evaluated the expected credit loss provision
methodology used by the Group. We also evaluated
management’s assessment on the estimates of customers’
current financial positions and the forward-looking
adjustments by reviewing the analyses of the ageing of the
receivables, testing on a sample basis, examining payments
received subsequent to year end and historical payment
patterns, reviewing correspondence related to any disputes
between the parties involved and market information about
the credit status of the counterparties, where available, and
evaluating the analyses of influence from macroeconomics
on the loss rates of the Group’s customers.

BMEE EXEMANEREEBEREE - -
A7 E BT R UGRIBR R DT - IR EER R F
REEBFBEREL MR BHEFES EFE
B ELEFAEERANTSER AR (EA) 77
HEBREYE ESBEERPRAENSN MEREH
IR B B RS RO B A BE M B BE Ak BT A0 RT (R HETT AT A o
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the Management Discussion and
Analysis of the Annual Report (but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the Chairman’s
Statement, the Report of the Directors, the Corporate Governance
Report and the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which are
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior
to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Chairman’s Statement, the Report of the Directors,
the Corporate Governance Report and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit
Committee.

B BT R
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Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

Notes

REVENUE KA 9
Cost of sales HERAK
Gross profit EH
Other income and gains R ONSY 6 5
Selling and distribution expenses HE REHAST
Administrative expenses THRAX
Research and development costs T R A
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) SEHEEMRERRCRE) FE

of financial assets, net
Other expenses H iR X
Share of losses of associates DR E R EEE
Finance costs B R AR 7
PROFIT BEFORE TAX A0 R B 6
Income tax expense e 10
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERFIE
Attributable to: AN AL M

Owners of the parent UNEIEZ- DN

Non-controlling interests R S
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit 2@k

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
that may be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on

translation of foreign operations

Net other comprehensive income/
(loss) that may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods

BB P e EAT 5 B 2 1R 2 I A
2EM S (BR)

BONEBHREESZE

REBHRRARERS)PERENEM
2ENE/(BR)FE

meBEm Rk HMEEKER

Year ended 31 December 2024
Bl Z2024F12H31H IFF)E

2024 2023
20245
RMB’000
AR¥T R

20234
RMB’000
ARETT

926,023
(184,824)

741,199
155,365
(69,842)
(100,269)
(127,554)
(1,064)
(6,807)

(2,257)

588,771

(136,476)

452,295

504,021
(51,726)

452,295

(2,951)

(2,951)

BEETERBREMRAR 2024FEHE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income

meBRaRkHEMEEKER

Year ended 31 December 2024
Bt E2024F 12431 H IF F/E

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBETT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRBRBAEME2E RS
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 7,850 (2,951)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREEWREE
FOR THE YEAR 579,127 449,344
Attributable to: AT ARG
Owners of the parent BAREAR A 589,288 501,070
Non-controlling interests FERER (10,161) (51,726)
579,127 449,344
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREEREEAEBLESRER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT
Basic N 12 RMB49.45 cents RMB43.08 cents
AR¥49.45% AR #43.087
Diluted B 12 RMB49.45 cents  RMB42.99 cents
AR #49.45% AR 42 999
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERSE 13
Prepayment for property, W BERSERMARE

plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a)
Financial assets at fair value UAAEESEAEEDTA

through profit or loss EHERNERERE 19
Goodwill S 23
Other intangible assets HpEVEE 15
Investments in associates REEARNEE 32
Deferred tax assets BERBEEE 24
Time deposits EHER 20
Total non-current assets FERBEELE
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 16
Trade receivables B 5 EWHIA 17
Prepayments, other receivables FENRIE - Kt ERRIE R A& &

and other assets 18
Financial assets at fair value NAREEFEAEEBHTAZHERS

through profit or loss BEREE 19
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBEEFED 20
Assets of a disposal group classified NEARELENLEMAREE

as held for sale 33
Total current assets MEBEERME
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables B 5 ENHIR 21
Other payables and accruals HipE A RERER 22
Lease liabilities HERE 14(6)
Deferred income RREWRA
Tax payable FERRIIE
Liabilities directly associated with the BEEGEEAEERBRNARE

assets classified as held for sale 33

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

nPEERR

RBEERE

EERBERATAE

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’000
ARET R

RMB’000
ARYBTTT
220,874

412
64,904

141,718
167,209
284,694

3,318

883,129

105,205
225,534

9,711

11,449
2,676,588

3,028,487

352,202

3,380,689

34,146
82,084
6,107
636
63,211

186,184

4,640
190,824

3,189,865

4,072,994
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR R

31 December 2024

2024F12H31H
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 14(b) 37,883
Deferred tax liabilities REREBEEE 24 91,265
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEERE 129,148
Net assets EEFE 3,943,846
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to owners of the NEHEA AELER
parent
Share capital [N 25 86
Reserves A 27 3,649,676
3,649,762
Non-controlling interests R R 294,084
Total equity EEEH 3,943,846

Mr. Zhong Ming Ms. Hu Yanyu
EIREE HEFLE
Director Chief Financial Officer
EE BHEMBEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2024
Bt F2024F 12431 H 1 F &

Attributable to owners of the parent

BLAREARE

Share held Shares
Share for share optionand  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share  premium Other award  Treasury Capital award surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling
capital  account” reseve’  amangement’  shares’  reserve’ reseve'  reserve’ reserve’ profits* Total interest

EbE )
RHEEN BRER E2kE
Br BoRER  RHRE R ERRfr ERER  2RER ; B RENE B FERER  ER4E
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMBO00  RMB'OO0  RMBO00  RMB'O0  RMB'000  RMB'000
AB#TR ARETR ARETR AB®Tr ARETn ARMTn ARETR ARBTR ARETn ARETn ARETr ARETz AREIn
(note 25) (note27)  (note27)  (note27) (note27)
(Hios) (ko) (Wdon)  (Waen)  (Wadon)

At1 January 2024 Rl 8 246228 - €] (2873 33301 36700 181,991 (162074) 1,100,356 3,649,762 294084 3943846

Proft for the year - - - - - - - - - G438 G814 (f0161)  6T1.217

Other comprehensive loss for the year:

Exchange oifferences related to S
forelgn operations - - - - - - - - 7,850 - 7,850 - 7,850

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - - - 7,850 581,438 589,208 (10161) 579,127

Shares repurchased (note 25(d)) it - - - - W) - - - - - W) - W)
Shares cancelled Bk ) (@3 - - By - - - - - - - -
Dividends declared BEl - (651,680) - - - - - - - (1,007,140)  (1,658,820) - (1,658,820
Other changes in shares of of associates £ - - (287 - - - - - - - (287 - (2876
Share-based payments (note 26)
- - - - - - 6,654 - - - 6,654 - 6,654

Transfer of share award reserve upon

the forfeiture of restricted share units El - - - - - - (11,530) - - 11,630 - - -
Exarcise of resticed share uints TRRAIERS

[note 251¢)) iRZ0) - 1817 - 1 - - ) - - - 108,707 - 108707
Deconsolcation of a subsidiary iy

[note 28) (h - - - - - - - - - - - (283923 (283,923
Disposal of a subsidiary Aol - - - - - - - (643) - - (643) - (643)
Transferto statutory surplus reserve ENEERRER - - - - - - - 4R - (748 - - -
At 31 December 2024 H04E12R3E 8 1900783 (22876) @ (2317 33301 6618 248800  (154204) 618732 2,626,895 - 262889
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2024

Bl 2202491231 H 1k F /&
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATERARN
Share held Shares
Share for share option and Statutory Exchange Non-
Share premium award Treasury Capital award suplus— fluctuation Retained controling Total
capitel account”  amangement’ shares” esernve’ resernve’ reserve’ reserve’ profts* Total interest equity
kb Ea%E BRER  iERs  EERD
k& RiEEE FRNRG  BRRE  ERRE REER i) B REAE FakEs  EaRE
RMB'000  RMBO00 RVB'OO0  AMBOO0  RMBOOO  RWBOO0  RMB'O0  RMBOOD  RMBO0  RWBO00  RMBOO0  RMB'O00
AREFTL  ARETR ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
[note 29) (note 27) [note 27) [note 27) (note 27)
(F3tes) (Wibr)  (hkr) (W) (Rsn)
At1 January 2023 102351 A1A 8 2481480 8] (5,499) B30 37,28 128314 (169,123 gor1e  3372,098 5810 3718808
Proft or the year nEE - - - - - - - - 504,021 504,021 (1726 452205
Other comprehensive loss for the EnEp2Eha
year:
Exchange diferences related to BNEBAEES 2R
foreign operations - - - - - - - (2.951) - 2.951) - 2,951)

Tota comprehensive ncomel(oss) for ~ ERZENE/(FE)

theyear . : ; . . . I 1A 1 N 7 Tk
Shares repurchased (note 25(a) BEERMH (H#5E) - - - (16,380) - - - - - (16,580 - (16,380)
Shares cancelled giHRh - (19,20 - 19,202 - - - - - - - -
Didend declred a5 - - : s - - - SRy pi6a TR
Share-based payments (note 26) RAIF3 (ke - - - - - 8,623 - - - 8,623 - 8623
Transfer of share option reserve HERERE

upon the forfiture of share i

options - - - - - (9,175) - - 9,175 - - -
Transferto statutory surplus ENTTRAGR

reserve - - - - - - 53,677 - (63,677) - - -
At 31 Decemboer 2023 2023F12A318 86 2462218 8] (2,873 33,301 36,700 181,991 (162,074) 1100366 3,649,762 204084 3,943,846

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB2,628,810,000 (2023: RMB3,649,676,000)
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
* EHREMBKART  ZERERDES OHFEHARK2,628,810,0007T (20234 : A R#3,649,676,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax:
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Share of losses of associates
Bank interest income
Investment income from financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Fair value gains on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Losses/(gains) on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Foreign exchange differences, net
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of trade receivables, net
Recognition of deferred income
Lease modification
Gain on deconsolidation
of a subsidiary
Gain on investment in an associate
Share-based payment expense

(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Decrease in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets
Increase in trade payables
Increase in other payables
and accruals

Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating
activities

Notes

BETHFERERE

FERTAE -

BRTHEEELRAE

A& R AR 7
DR E QA EE 32
ﬁﬁMQWA 5
UAREBEFEEEZEFAEH 6
BaNeREENREKRA
NAREEFEAHEHFALH 5
BRNeREENARBEKR

HEME BELEEEENESR 6
(W z$)

EH=8FE

M- BERSRETE 13

FREEENE 14(a)

BREESH 15

BHRWREBRETFE 17

HBRIELHRA 23

HEB®R

A G —MMB ez ke 28

R—EE A RRE 2 W

AR HAERNNRESX

FEUEgMm),m

B 5 W RIBE L M

BANFA - A EIRTARE B EER

9\

B 5 R IRE
H{th fe (I 50R R FEIR IR B S0

REEEMRE
B ALE
EERNGIEG ﬁ

ReRPREREREFRE

AN iR

EEERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12831 HIFFE

2024 2023
PUPZES
RMB’000
AR®T R

2023%
RMB’000
ARYBTTT

588,771
2,257

(91,832)

(58)
(5,560)

(48)
3,095
21,918
10,777
259
1,064

(636)
(304)

8,623

538,326

194
(74,224)

7,098
13,394

7,767

492,555
22,647
(92,492)

422,710
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A iR
MEEERER
Year ended 31 December 2024
#E2024F12H31 A IFF/Z

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Purchases of items of intangible
assets

Purchases of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Proceeds from sales of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Prepayment of leasehold lands

Interest received

Withdrawal/(placement) of time
deposits with original maturity of
over three months

Advance consideration for disposal of
a subsidiary

Additional investments in associates

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing
activities

CASH FLOWS USED IN
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Shares repurchased

Principal portion of lease payments

Dividend paid

Net cash flows used in financing
activities

REZHHFE/(FARERE

BEVE BELERERRB

HEME  BERREREMEHEA

BEEBVEERRE

BEURABEFELEEZHFAEY
BEmegEiE

HEARABEAESAEEHHF AL
BREMEBEENMSIA

HE BN HA

BB

R HARR H2 3B = B At E B SURER
(FA)

HE-—RBRARNRNRE

REE R AR EIMTE
BUEAH —RE R

REERBARE/ (MR REREFE

REEZBRALLRE
[EYAEl )

ENFAEHS
EfRS

BETHMARESREFH
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28

29(b)

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000
ARET R

RMB’000
ARETT

(86,821)
650
(241)
(29,194)
29,238

(854)
31,386

(335,860)

(391,696)

(16,580)
(10,603)
(216,349)

(243,532)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

Time deposits with original maturity of
over three months when acquired

Cash and cash equivalents attributable
to a disposal group classified as
held for sale

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement of
cash flows

RERREEENHL RE
FNRERREEFEY

EXEHNTEIE

FREERASEEN

RERBESENEHRIIN

SAMBRARAMANRERREE
(8

BENRTARBE=EANEHRER

NERFBIEHENREAGNBERER
REeEEYD

BARERERAMENRE LRSS
B

20

33

AN ==

GERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12831 H 1F FJZ

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000
ARET R

RMB’000
ARYBTTT

(212,518)
1,738,963

(6,048)

1,520,397

2,676,588

(1,453,055)

296,864

1,620,397
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 1.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 12 February 2020. The registered office
address of the Company is 71 Fort Street, PO Box 500, George
Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-1106, Cayman Islands.

The Company acts as an investment holding company of the
Group and also engaged in provision of investment consultation
services during the year. During the year, the Company’s
subsidiaries were principally involved in the design, development,
manufacture and sale of a comprehensive suite of minimally
invasive surgical instruments and accessories.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 29 June 2020 (“Listing”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Nominal value

of issued

Place and date of shares/
incorporation/registration registered
and place of business share capital

AR AR 3L AR 0 e B BRITRS/
RAMARERBE MR A EE

NAEEH

RRAE—FKR2020F2 128 EH =2 B
SEM B BR AT o AR F K B
EE Ik A71 Fort Street, PO Box 500,
George Town ' Grand Cayman, KY1-
1106, Caymanlslands °

ARARAEENIREER AT FRF
NRERHREBDARSE - RER - AR
AINME AR T EL2 B —BERAISINF
Misew M ECHFAORRAT - FREE - IERHE -

RRQ B B R20205FE6 A29H £ & B Bt
ARSGHMERAR ([BXAT]) ER ED
(TE®™]) -

EBEHEATNER

ARTEEHBAANFERIMT -

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to the Company
NG 3
REBAL Principal
Direct Indirect  activities

BEE B F2EH

Hangzhou Kangji Medical Instrument People’s Republic of China RMB
Co., Ltd. (“PRC”)/Mainland China 24 500,000,000
(“Hangzhou Kangji”) * August 2004

MMNREBREWMERAA hEARAME ((HE]),/ ARE
([RNEE]) Bl 41200448 F 24 B 500,000,0007T

Kangji Medical (Hong Kong) Hong Kong 21 December 2015 United States
Limited (‘Kangji Hong Kong”) dollars (‘US$”)

168,023,027.57

REBE (BE)BRAA 520154 12A21A 168,023,027.57
((REEE]) Fr([£5x])

*

The entity is a limited liability enterprise established
under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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= 100  Manufacturing
distribution
and research
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development

SIS

100 - Wholesale
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* ZEBRRBRBEHRBEDEEKIZD
BEREERA -

ERAIIARBMBARTIREERRE

FEAFENFEALBERAEBFEE
MRK—FONRF - BEERG  RHE
HEBARNFEEEHFERBNILE °



2.1

Notes to Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, which have been measured at fair value. Disposal groups
held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts
and fair values less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1

PR R RE

HZEBBRRDRBEL G2 (E
BEHEALAE) BHN(EEYBREE
AN(KEBHBRESHERN D) (B
BCEBUBHREEA) (FEGERD
(KEESFEA]) ki) REB(R
AHEAD M RBERERE - REUBHIREK
THRRESLRAEORE AR EE
AEREEPTAEHEENEREER
I REEREENARARBEE - #F1E
HEMHEARNAEREEERERIAEE
W ER AR ORIEE IR - FIBERAMH
2.4 - ZEFBEHRRAARE ([ AR
20 BaEEAN HEEBEHHES
REROTT -

REAREE

RAEMBRERDERARRREKNB AR (5
BAIAER]) B E2024F12A318 L F
ERHPBRE -MEBAGIEHEARAEE
FHEERFNER(RELEBEER) - &
AEBEBBLRREHRAREEME
BrA#ERnEAKRIAREZAAZER -
WEBHEHERAHREHSNED (AR
FTAREBEBEFGHENUTEREH R WA
EBHBFRER) L EZE LR - BIE
1By ldE -

R—RERT  AEHEEREREIHET SR
RIEFIHE - WARREA LPRIREHRAK
S ERFBOUER - BRSBTS
HEGHAEHREHROBEIREZEE —
EBAEERBN B :

(@) HEEHSHEMREETEAD
BHIRHE

(b) Hi B WL HEENERN K&

() AEENERERBERRE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2

Notes to Financial Statements

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
HKAS 1 (the “2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS
16, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

PR R RE

B BRNESBRKE

AEECRANFENMBRRERRAT
FIRERT B R RS LG F LR

(BREMBMEE ERHELOMNHEERE
AI) 51658

1EET A
(CEBGHER) HBEESBEAEREH
ERETAC IR FE B ([20205 &
)
(CEBGHEANE WERVIEMESIER
1SRAEET AR BB & ([20224F &
H D)

(BEBEFENE HEFHEZH
TR RCE BTG
WELERDFETHR
ZHIEN

RIETEBVBHRELER G ERMEE
RN

(@) (BERFBHmEER) F165REFT
RETREDFARARGFEER
HEXZELENEERBREER
MRE  UHERETHRAEAL
EREITANEREEREERD
BaeB ARAEEYES R
TMREEBRER(EEMBRSE
Q) E165% 2 AR E A IR
Lb =30 B 7 AT B A B N R 6 1R
HOZ5 MZEEITATEY
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(o)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to
apply these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability:
Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-

and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards
- Volume 11

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

& Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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PR R EE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required
to classify all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes
and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed
as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting
period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for
public use which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards.
Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of
the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the application of
HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and
introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial
assets with non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits
(or other component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and can only be
restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either
all the amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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PR R EE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards -
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs I1G1, IG14 and 1G20B
of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the
purpose of simplification or achieving consistency
with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the
concepts and terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate
all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of
HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS
9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or
loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix
A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example
of various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents
of the investor, which removes the inconsistency with
the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of
the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s investments in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition results and other comprehensive income of an
associate is included in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its unlisted investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.
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PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and a disposal
group classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

The intangible assets related to in-process development
of endoscopic surgical instruments control system that are
not ready for use and the Group is continuing research and
development work, it is subject to an annual impairment test
based on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the intangible asset is related to.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(if) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
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PR R EE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful
lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings

Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

5 to 20 years
3 to 5 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Patents

Purchased patents are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 7 to 18 years.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 3 to 5 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Office premises

50 years
2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sale of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.
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PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment
only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required
to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statements of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 180 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
accruals and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
country in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
the year and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods is transferred to the customers at an amount

that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods is
one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on acceptance of the products.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods to the
customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option plan and a restricted
share unit plan for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost
of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note 26 to
the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of the reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.
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PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair value
of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it
is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding share options and restricted
share units (“RSUs”) is reflected as additional share dilution in
the computation of earnings per share.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the note 11 to the financial
statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in the
consolidated financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the non-PRC established
subsidiaries are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing
at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company
and non-PRC established subsidiaries which arise throughout the
year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make significant judgements and estimates that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deconsolidation of Hangzhou Weijing Medical Robot
Co., Ltd. (“Weijing Medical”)

On 20 March 2024, the shareholders of Weijing Medical
approved certain amendments to the articles of association
and the change in board composition of Weijing Medical. As
a result, the Group ceased to be able to appoint a majority of
members on the board of directors of Weijing Medical. Upon
the amendments becoming effective, the Group has lost the
power over Weijing Medical to direct the relevant activities, ie
the activities that significantly affect Weijing Medical’s returns,
through its existing rights over Weijing Medical’s board meetings
as well as shareholders’meetings. However, the Group still
have significant influence over Weijing Medical. Therefore, the
directors of the Company believe the Group has lost control
over Weijing Medical and derecognized it as a subsidiary from
the date the Group lost control. The Group’s retained interests
in Weijing Medical was accounted for as an investment in an
associate in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
since then.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on aging for groupings
of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the distribution sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R RE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REIWER
For management purposes, the Group is not organised into RBERERE AEREVEREBEEME DA
business units based on their products and only has one ¥BEMA MEEE —RBAETHRELED
reportable operating segment. Management monitors the results H-EREERERAEELE DA NEE
of the Group’s operating segment as a whole for the purpose g UESRERDEIELRR A RET
of making decisions about resource allocation and performance R -
assessment.
Geographic information hEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) IEBEF WA
2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Mainland China AR B A 909,711 840,066
Other Hi 98,899 85,957
Total revenue FERL N 1,008,610 926,023
The revenue information is based on the locations of the WABRTEREEMNERH -
customers.
(b) Non-current assets (b) FREEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Mainland China o A 703,829 737,831
Other EAfb 232 262
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 704,061 738,093

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of assets and excludes financial instruments
and deferred tax assets.

Information about a major customer
Revenue from continuing operations of approximately

RMB152,371,000 (2023: RMB123,194,000) was derived from
sales by the medical instruments segment to a single customer.

AEFRRBDEEBERTDEREH
EEMBUEAMNBREMIA
NIRRT BEE °

FE-—SXEEFMNESR
KEEFERMD AR E R P HENSE

LB AL A ARE152,371,0007T (2023
£ AR#123,194,0007T) °
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

WA - B A R WK S

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAR DT
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Revenue from contracts with customers RKERFPELHHIA 1,008,610 926,023
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHKA
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) 7 WA ZER
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Type of goods EmER
Sale of medical instruments 5 BB A B 1,008,610 926,023
Geographical markets i & T 35
Mainland China AR A 909,711 840,066
Other Hit 98,899 85,957
Total @t 1,008,610 926,023
Timing of revenue recognition WA RRRE
Goods transferred at a point in time RE RS E R
ME & 1,008,610 926,023
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Notes to Financial Statements

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
The following table shows the amounts in the current
reporting period of revenue recognised that was included

in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period:

PR R RE

5. WA - HEt AR W (&)

REEFENHWA ()

(a)

Revenue recognised that was included in FARGSHYEHNEE
contract liabilities at the beginning of the B ERRBUA -

reporting period:

Sale of medical instruments $H & B BRI

(b) Performance obligation

Information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Sale of medical instruments

The performance obligation, which is part of a contract
that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
is satisfied upon acceptance of the goods and payment
is generally due within one month, extending up to two to
six months for certain customers.

(b)

A7 RAEH ()

TREATRARSE BRHERIL R K
SHOHAAGNAENRASE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETT

1,664 740

FHRASEBERANEEMER B
(N

HE B

BROEE(REEMHRS —FX
BEENEHN—HD) EEXEY
HET NEER—EARE
H ETEPRZALEEMEN
@A -
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hitlh AR Wz (&)
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEHHWA (&)
(b) Performance obligation (continued) (b) BREMF

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Other income Hibwg A

Government grants* BT #e8 B

Bank interest income |ITH BHA

Investment income from financial assets AR A BEEH
at fair value through profit or loss HE8H A

Others Hh

Total other income bW A B

Gains I &5

Gain on deconsolidation of a —EH B R AR IEEE AR
subsidiary (note 28) 7 Uk = (BT 7E28)

Fair value gains on financial assets at fair AR A BETE B EE 8t
value through profit or loss AEHBENEREEDN

AR EEKE

Gains on disposal of items of property, HEME - BEKREEHB
plant and equipment U

Total gains P&

Total other income and gains Ha A R s 2%

The government grants mainly represent
subsidies received from the local governments
for the purposes of compensation for expenses
or for the purposes of giving immediate
financial support to the Group. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to these grants.
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ERAEERNECHENER
m

2024 2023
20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBETT

52,650 57,444
85,367 91,832
6,762 58
4,889 423
149,668 149,757
27,253 -
5,243 5,560
- 48
32,496 5,608
182,164 155,365

BB E E {5 K

FESHBRHESRRX
AN ER AR A K B B B SE
FrEymis) - EmEZSH
Bh 75 B B0 R 2 B f6R 1 K
BEONEM -



PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Notes to Financial Statements

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

PR R RE

B A R

REBOBAFBEDEMB,(GEA) AT
BEFRFL

Notes
B
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKAE
Depreciation of property, WE - BERERETE 13
plant and equipment*
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {FFAEEEHE 14(a)
Amortisation of intangible assets™ 7 & &= # §i 15
Impairment of trade receivables, net & 5 & I 3t 78 35 {8 /% 58 17
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRZE ] ZH FE
realisable valug****
Lease payments not included inthe AT AR EE B EMHE 14(c)
measurement of lease liabilities =ENEN
Auditor’s remuneration 1% ELED B
Research and development costs it 8 AR
Government grants BT 68 B 5
Bank interest income RITF B A 5
Investment income from financial NRAREBEETEBEZTHE 5
assets at fair value through AEHEENEREED
profit or loss FEWRA
Foreign exchange losses FE 5 &5 18
Losses/(gains) on disposal of items of &% « MiE K& X&EHEE
property, plant and equipment HEE (k)
Fair value gains on financial assets at JA A 7 BETE B H &85t 5
fair value through profit or loss AEHEZNEMEEN
N EERZE
Gain on deconsolidation of a —EHE R AR RS AR 5

subsidiary

Employee benefit expense*
(excluding directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration (note 8)):
Wages and salaries
Pension scheme contributions
Staff welfare expenses
Share-based payment expense

ko

Total

A Ui 28

EERAAI(TRIEES
RATBRASNEE)
(MI5E8)

TERED

FREY N o K

BIRFAMAX

ARG BER AN

T

2024 2023
20244
RMB’000
AR® TR

20234
RMB’000
ARETT

182,223
21,918

10,777
259
1,064
2,601

737

2,750
127,554
(57,444)
(91,832)
(58)

3,095
(48)

(5,560)

121,604
10,315
14,613

7,220

153,752
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR R EE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting): (continued)

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and employee benefit expense are included in
“Cost of sales”, “Selling and distribution expenses”,
“Administrative expenses” and “Research and
development costs” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and in “Inventories” on the face of the
consolidated statement of financial position.

**

The amortisation of intangible assets is included
in “Administrative expenses” and “Research and
development costs” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used
by the Group as the employer to reduce the existing
level of contributions.

e The write-down of inventories to net realisable value
is included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

7.  FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

BATAE (&)

AEBOBAFB LR GEA) KT
BEFEEH: (8)

* ME BERRBHENARESR
BHNREXEFRARaREMBEE
WaERPEATHERAR] [
EREERX [TBRAXIR
[HBERAIARESA T BRI
KPEHAIEFE] -

r BERVEEBHEGABREREM
EERERPIAATTERAS] R
[ A] -

BECD R R AT R AR KE (1F
REE) BRBUR IR FOKE

o BEREAETERFENAGA
AR AR E MR [HE
AP -

Bt 75 RS
B A S AT -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT

Interest on lease liabilities HEAGBHNE
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B RS HR R Y

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EERRSITRAESHH

BBE(ETHRA RBEBCRAEH) F
383(1) (@) * (b) * () R(MMEN (AT (HE
EEFFER B 2B FREER
BERTBRAEBHFHEZRET :

Fees

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions
Share-based payment expense

Subtotal

Total

e
RS

#e R REYER
RIK S H B

BB 78 28 o0 4 BRBD 2
I

&5t

Mr. ZHONG Ming served as the chairman of the board and the

chief executive officer of the Company.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

during the year were as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
306 306

3,629 7,344

88 249

1,346 1,408
5,063 8,996
5,369 9,302

BREEETARFNEETRLREEATE

(a)

Mr. JIANG Feng
Mr. GUO Jian
Mr. CHEN Weibo

Total

=R E
BELE
BRETK B4

et

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2023: Nil).

BAFHTES
FANRBLIERTEE A8
LM
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARET T
102 102
102 102
102 102
306 306
FRWERENTFELIERNTES

MEMEME (20234F : Z) -
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PR R EE

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

Executive directors and non-executive directors

8.

e

EENRESTHRAEHMN (B)

(b)

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
inkind

¥ra o 2ZHR
BUEHN

contributions

BITEERFUTES

Share-
based
payment
expense

DN §rips)

Pension
scheme

RikE
at B

2l
NEAEES At

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®Tn AR%Tr ARETr AR%ET:R
2024 20245
Executive directors: WITEE:
Mr. ZHONG Ming ERLE - 1,388 35 - 1,423
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang HERY LT - 1,185 35 - 1,220
Mr. YIN Zixin FEERE - 1,056 18 1,346 2,420
Subtotal Nt - 3,629 88 1,346 5,063
Non-executive director:  FFHITES :
Ms. CAl Li Bzt - - - - -
Total m@ar - 3,629 88 1,346 5,063
2023 2023%F
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. ZHONG Ming FREE = 1,185 47 - 1,232
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang BE#®¥ &t = 981 44 - 1,025
Ms. Frances Fang Frances Fang CHONANEC
CHOVANEC* (FR¥%) &£ - 4,369 140 292 4,801
Mr. YIN Zixin FEEEE - 809 18 1,111 1,938
Subtotal NG = 7,344 249 1,403 8,996
Non-executive director:  FFHTI = :
Ms. CAI Li Rzt - - - - -
Total @it - 7,344 249 1,403 8,996
* Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC ceased to be Frances Fang CHOVANEC

an executive director of the Company on 15

September 2023.
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Notes to Financial Statements

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
(continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

On 6 May 2020, one director was granted underlying
shares under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan (the “Option
Plan”) and one director was granted restricted share
units under the restricted share unit plan (the “RSU
Plan”), in respect of their services rendered to the
Group, further details of which are set out in note 26 to
the financial statements. The fair values of such shares
determined as at the date of grant or modification, which
were recognised to profit or loss over the vesting period,
were included in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one
director (2023: two), details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining four (2023: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

PR R RE

8. EBERERSTRAEFM(E)
(b) BEEERFHTES (H)

RERN BEFHEFERRSIT
BN B 3 3R B ER ] H BN
Rk -

R2020F5A6H  EMAEH
PRt RS —REERES
RARBERBARETS (BR
B8 BRAERD AR —F
BERREXBHIMRMOEME ([
PRI R D EE (5T B 1) R X IR
R EM - EAFBEHRHTBER
RHTE26 - ZFERMOREHRE
HAMAEEN A ARBE (KRS
BHRERETRER) EHA L
EEHFMER-

9. IHEBSFMES

FRAZERRFTHEEBRFE1LESE (2023
F28) HEFEMFB IR £ XK F
8o FN BT 44 (20234 : 3%) Zk = ¥
iEE (WIFARBEERSTSITRAE)

e
Hagy e B RN

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions
Share-based payment expense

Total RE

HRBE R EWR A

VARS A7 70 E= R O 3R B 32

BFBFEBWT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBTIT
6,147 3,660
123 96
3,791 4,287
10,061 8,043
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PR R EE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

9.

hEEFHES (&)

MR T RENIFEERIFRHTR
ANEWREHFMEE ASNAT :

Number of employees

& 8 A 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00017% 7T
%2,500,0007 7T

2,500,00017%8 7T
%3,000,0007% 7T

3,000,001 T &

3,500,000/% 7T

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

Total F

During the year and in prior years, RSUs were granted to
three non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees (2023: three) in respect of their services to the
Group, further details of which are included in note 26 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such RSUs, which has
been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included
in the consolidated financial statements for the current year
is included in the above non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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Notes to Financial Statements

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the
Company is not subject to any income tax in this jurisdiction.

Pursuant to the relevant tax law of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. The
first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Singapore, Singapore
profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17% (2023: 17%)
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Singapore during
the year. No provision for Singapore profits tax has been made
for the year ended 31 December 2024 as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Singapore during the
year (2023: Nil).

The provision for current income tax in Mainland China is based
on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profits of certain
PRC subsidiaries of the Group as determined in accordance
with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law which was approved
and became effective on 1 January 2008, except for certain
subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China which are granted
tax concessions and are taxed at preferential tax rates.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and the
respective regulations, preferential tax treatment is available to
Hangzhou Kangji, since it was recognised as a High and New
Technology Enterprise and was entitled to a preferential tax
rate of 156% (2023: 15%) during the year. Certain subsidiaries
operating in Mainland China were identified as a Small and Micro
Enterprise and was entitled to a preferential tax rate of 5% (2023:
5%) during the year.

10.

PR R RE

EREERRASIRAAEE
B AT EMERIEEER KT

4
m A
\\\\
5
\
i

BREFRSHESOHRAKER  NRFEZ
REBEEREFTHMEMMSH

RIBEAFNITHENEBI L 55
BRITRFAREBEENGERBRF
IR T E16.5% (20234 - 16.5%) 1E H &
& - 3% M B2 7 A & 2,000,000 7T (2023
4 : 2,000,000 7T ) FE =% B F 7 $28.25%
(20234 : 8.25%) FL REFL - SR T FEREL
FE3216.5% (20234 : 16.5% ) Tt REFL -

o

AR AR T N3 A9 28 B Re SR AR - 5 hn ik RIS B
Thoh & MR FT N3 E 4 60 51 FE AR B I
RRLEA7%(20234F : 17%) tEH % - A
RAREBNE F2024E12A31B ILEE
WERFT I EE TR ERRAE - M
4 SRR AN RS TR L B (20234 - #8) -

B b B B P A AR B A T IR B 102008
FIATRHEEN (P EARAMBE D
ERBHAMRAKEETHEMNE AR
B FE AR Bt F B 42 25 % B A TE B R AT R 0 I
AEE R EAMEE TH B R ERG
BEBLIREEH ZHBRI -

RIB(REARLMBEDEFSHE) &A
AR MNEEATEZSIHWERGFE
AAENREASTEMEE  WEFR
Z515% (20234 : 15%) KB ER K o £
PEAEENE THBRAW®RE AN
% EERNZHL5%(2023%F : 5%) By
BEME -
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10.

INCOME TAX (continued) 10.

The income tax expense of the Group is analysed as follows:

Fri&®i (&)

AEBNFAEREISTWT

B - E At

Current tax — Mainland China

Charge for the year F AN

Current tax — Hong Kong BNERBIIE — B
Deferred tax (note 24) EFET IR (P E24)
Total tax charge for the year FARBERZBE

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory tax rate in Mainland China to the tax expense
at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
90,112 114,799
207 114
23,237 21,563
113,556 136,476

155 P PP B P 30 T A5 2 % S A IR B AT A
MRERY B ERERAENRIBARX

Profit before tax

758 i A8

12 B A E
B E26%5T E H) B A
B EENERR X

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% in
Mainland China

Preferential tax rates enacted by local
authority

Additional deductible allowance for research #ff 2% 5 7 &9 %8 91 A] +0 5 18 &
and development expenses

Tax losses not recognised

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes I~ ] #1557 B 2

Effect of withholding tax at 5% and 10% on Bt 7~ 5% B fF BT B A 71 &9
the distributable profits of the Group’s PRC 8] 2 ik F ;B £ 5% K.

REERE TR E B

subsidiaries 10%TEMNF A &
Effect of tax rate differences in other HEMmrlrEEmEmu =X
jurisdictions ZEENTE

Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate XN B BB H Rt 8
BB IE R X
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ETHHEAT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
684,833 588,771
171,208 147,193
(63,051) (61,491)
(13,409) (25,076)
7,386 36,246
3,865 2,535
24,608 48,526
(17,051) (11,457)
113,556 136,476




11.

12.

Notes to Financial Statements

DIVIDENDS

On 27 May 2024, the final dividend of RMB41 cents per ordinary
share and a special dividend of RMB99 cents per ordinary share,
amounting to a total of approximately RMB1,692,326,000 were
approved by the Company’s shareholders at the annual general
meeting and were fully paid on 18 July 2024.

The proposed final dividend of RMB24 cents per ordinary share
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent of RMB581,438,000 (2023: RMB504,021,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,175,750,040 (2023: 1,170,0183,655) in issue during the year, as
adjusted to reflect the shares held for share award arrangement
and shares repurchased during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2024 does not assume the exercise of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares arising from RSUs granted by the
Company because the exercise price of these RSUs was higher
than the average market price for shares for the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares arising from RSUs granted by the Company.

11.

12.

PR R RE

RS

R2024F5827H KRR B ERE B
ARBEAD RIS ST @R AR
997 + HEEH AR %1,692,326,0007T 2
RBRRBFEFRS EEARABREMLAELD
R2024%F7 A18H BEUK T ©

HZE2024F12A31B L FEEZREDN
KEBRE TR LB ARE24D BEAR
AR BN B AMRERFT RS LHE -

BRAAEBERIEEAEGS
2R

BREABFCEDBREFAIARLR
BB AEAE R E A R #581,438,0007T
(2023%F : A R#504,021,0007T) & FE R
B8 77 % 3B A% hn#E 39 #01,175,750,040
f% (20234 : 1,170,013,6550%) st & ' B
1 B 8 B LA I BR R 1A B 5 42 B 22 Bk AT AR
B RFTERG -

HZ2024F12A3HIEFENBRES
BROAETEBREARARTHZRH
B ENEENMEEEETE LT BRENT
F REANRZEXRAIRMDECHITEE
BRERARDEFHTE -

BREFEANSCEDNRET AR L ERKE
BAEEEHZE2023F12A318 IEFEF|
TETE o T E R AT R I AR N TS #
ABFRNBTENLBREE (BRFAES
REAEF)  WEREZAARAREHT
RERHDEMEENTEBEEELBR
BRETEEDEERTH L BRMNEF
HEGTE -
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BRAREBEREEAEGSE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BRER (%)
PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are BEREAREERFOTETIER
based on:
2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Earnings a7
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders FR T E &R E K K
of the parent, used in the basic and diluted ~ #& & F| M & A 7
earnings per share calculation LTBAREEE AL AE 581,438 504,021
Number of shares
g 2 4=
2024 2023
202445 2023%F
Shares &5
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FR &t & &% & 2 & 7
outstanding during the year used in the ZFRNETEINEBR
basic earnings per share calculation hniEFH & 1,175,750,040 1,170,013,655

Effect of dilution — weighted average number %58 52 2 — [8 52 [R | B {5 & i1
of ordinary shares arising from RSUs EAER T ERINE TS

Total @5t
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2,387,909

1,175,750,040

1,172,401,564
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. V¥ BERRE

Plant and Leasehold Furniture Motor  Construction

buildings  improvements Machinery and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
BERET HENELHB W BANKE 3 ERIE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARET ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

31 December 2024%F

2024 128318
At 1 January R2024%

2024: 1R18

Cost A

Accumulated Ritihe
depreciation

Net carrying amount fR B % (&

At 1 January 1202451 A1
2024, net of =R )
accumulated N
depreciation

Additions NE

Transfers L3

Disposal HE

Deconsolidation of a LA 4 4t —f
subsidiary NG|
(note 28) (Mizkos)

Exchange ERAR
realignment

Depreciation RERHRTE
provided during ~~ (ff£t6)
the year (note 6)

At 31 December  12024F127

2024, net of 318 MKE
accumulated FHE
depreciation

At 31 December  R2024F128
2024: 318 :
Cost KA
Accumulated RitHhE
depreciation

Net carrying amount fRE % (&

=

=y
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. ¥% - BERRME (R

(continued)
Plant and Leasehold Furniture Motor  Construction
buildings  improvements Machinery and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
BEREF HENERE BE  GBUNEEB B ERIRE o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
31 December 2023
2023 12A31H
At 1 January 1R2023F
2023: 1R1A8 :
Cost KA 58,848 7,453 74,168 20,751 15,500 52,501 229,221
Accumulated 2itinE
depreciation (19,308) (1,130) (21,856) (10,127) (7,780) - (60,201)
Net carrying BEFE
amount 39,540 6,323 52,312 10,624 7,720 52,501 169,020
At 1 January 20235
2023, net of 1818 Mk
accumulated 2itinE
depreciation 39,540 6,323 52,312 10,624 7,720 52,501 169,020
Additions NE - 2,141 8,085 3,348 1,312 66,495 81,381
Transfers Y% 15,825 - 165 - = (15,990) =
Disposal & - - (49) (487) (66) - (602)
Exchange I
realignment - - - 3 - - 3
Assets included ~ FI AF fEH EH)
inthe disposal I EARI B E
group held for ~ (B§£33)
sale (note 33) (347) - - (74) - (6,589) (7,010)
Depreciation RERFRIE
provided during
the year (4,409) (2,152) (8,037 (4,440) (2,880) - (21,918)
At 31 December 12023512431
2023, net of =R -S)
accumulated e
depreciation 50,609 6,312 52,476 8,974 6,086 96,417 220,874
At 31 December  122023%
2023: 12R318 :
Cost AR 74,265 9,594 82,217 22,930 15,479 96,417 300,902
Accumulated Rt
depreciation (23,656) (3,282) (29,741) (13,956) (9,393) - (80,028)
Net carrying REFE
amount 50,609 6,312 52,476 8,974 6,086 96,417 220,874
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LEASES 14. #HE
The Group as a lessee AEBEERAERAA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of office AEERECERFERNSERQISHME
premises used in its operations. Lump sum payments were BEHREHEAN - T —F—RUERTEHAM
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the government HRUARBTESHERAOFMNHEEL
with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will o W BT EREZE T AR GK
be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office SESNRE -BRGHANEERTAS
premises generally have lease terms between 24 and 60 months. 24Z60E AMEE - — M E * A&
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing TERAEEIIEEMEEAEESE -
the leased assets outside the Group.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHELE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets FRASBEGFRAEEENEREE
and the movements during the year are as follows: MmEgHERMOT :
Leasehold land Office premises Total
AE L N 15 P Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
As at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 818 53,348 46,223 99,571
Additions NE 854 4,186 5,040
Depreciation wER X (H3E6)
charge (note 6) (1,155) (9,622) (10,777)
Assets included in the FIAFELED
disposal group held for HEHRREE
sale (note 33) (P 3£33) (28,469) (172) (28,641)
Lease modification HEBN - (295) (295)
Exchange realignment ME W A - 6 6

As at 31 December 2023 202312 831H

and 1 January 2024 &2024%F1 /818 24,578 40,326 64,904
Additions NE 287 1,084 1,371
Depreciation &R (FEE6)

charge (note 6) (577) (4,406) (4,983)
Deconsolidation of a BUHA ff— BB

subsidiary (note 28) ~ ) (MfsE28) - (34,542) (34,542)
Lease modification HEEN - 722 722
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B = (2) (2)
As at 31 December 2024 72024912 831H 24,288 3,182 27,470
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14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

14.

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

HE (E)
A EE{ERERA ()

(b)

Carrying amount at 1 January
New leases
Lease modification
Liabilities included in the disposal
group held for sale (note 33)
Deconsolidation of
a subsidiary (note 28)
Accretion of interest recognised
during the year (note 7)
Exchange realignment
Payments

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

MABTENEREE
wHE
MEEK
FIAFIEHENEE
45 & & (M 3E33)
BUEA G —
N ENGIR )
FRHER
B E (HE7)
& XA
(NN

M12A31BMEEE
DA

BIEAE
SERNEAEE o

Non-current portion of lease liabilities is further analysed

as follows:

HERE

RERBEE &R EEME
IHREAT -

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
43,990 49,019
1,084 4,186

866 (599)

= 277)

(38,048) =
636 2,257

(3) 7

(5,010) (10,603)
3,515 43,990
3,214 6,107

301 37,883

Repayable within:
1to 2 years
2 to 5 years

Total

RATRREAAEE
12246
2E5%F

e

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 36 to the financial statements.
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HEBENENSBEIS E—FH
AT -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARET T
301 8,887

= 28,996

301 37,883

HEAGEMIHA S ITENER
=M 36 Y 5E -
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAEEA (F)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) RHAEERm PEANSEUT :

leases are as follows:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT R ARETT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBENFE 636 2,257
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEMNITER X 4,983 10,777
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHEEAENMAX
(included in administrative expenses and (FEATTERBE S LA M 88
selling and distribution expenses) (note 6) & &2 #4572 ) (Fff756) 2,272 737
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIB = R AREE 7,891 13,771
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) HEB T HEBERYBHREN
29(c) to the financial statements. iH29(c) P # FE -
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15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. HtEREE

Software Patent IPR&D Total
B4 B5R ETHHOHR et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR¥Tn AR¥Tx AR®BTx

31 December 2024 2024F12831H
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of 202491 A1 B AR -

accumulated amortisation Bk Rt
Additions NE
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary BUHEHF— M

(note 28) BT/ 2 A (BT E28)

Amortisation provided during the year 7 4 A it 18

(note 6) ) 5 (M EE6)
At 31 December 2024 M2024F12A31H
At 31 December 2024: 202412 A318 :

Cost %N

Accumulated amortisation ESE 3

Net carrying amount EEFE
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of A2023F1 A1 B KR A » Mk

accumulated amortisation BET#H 64 1,368 283,280 284,712
Additions RE 241 - - 241
Amortisation provided during the year 7 & Rt 12 8 35 (K 5E6)

(note 6) (66) (193) - (259)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H 239 1,175 283,280 284,694
At 31 December 2023: R2023F12H318 :

Cost AR 1,108 1,534 283,280 285,922

Accumulated amortisation ESE § (869) (359) = (1,228)

Net carrying amount REFE 239 1,175 283,280 284,694
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4

INVENTORIES 16. ®E&
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Raw materials R 41,173 56,641
Work in progress T2 14,586 12,053
Finished goods K & 52,460 36,511
Total REr 108,219 105,205
TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. ESEWFIE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Trade receivables Z 5 WA 275,750 229,614
Impairment BE (8,801) (4,080)
Net carrying amount R FE 271,949 225,534

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEEHEZFNEFKAETEAEE -ZEH
credit. The credit period is generally one month, extending up —MA— @A HETEFALERZZ —E /N
to two to six months for certain customers. The Group seeks A o REBH N ESEIE R Uk O /9 fE U R 1E - I
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and SRETEETHEZROEH c R LR
overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. NASBENEZEZERZESNAEZTIENES -
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade A FEEERRSEERHNER A&
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,  If £ i & 5 & Uk 7108 45 64 15 A (T A1 3 S S R
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group ~ EREA{Z Bt - EFERFBEBAEE -
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancement over its

trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-

bearing.
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

B2 BRWFEIR (8)

REHR - &5 EUKOR (kR E1E &
B REZAHESNREITAT

Within 3 months 3EAR

3 to 6 months 3%6{E A
6 to 12 months 62 121& A
1to 2 years 1524
Over 2 years 2F Pk
Total @z

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
208,292 184,728
38,720 26,414
21,768 12,207
3,169 2,144

= 41

271,949 225,534

g S RWFIEREBREENEBIE RN
T

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARETTT

At beginning of year F 1) 4,080 3,100

Impairment losses, net (note 6) BB E R E R (M 5E6) (279) 1,064

Impairment included in the disposal group held TIAFELER L&A - (84)
for sale B E (B 5E33)

At end of year FR 3,801 4,080

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on ageing for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value
of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix based
on the invoice date:

As at 31 December 2024

St 75 3 3= MY =

17. ESZEWFIE (E)

LA L5 8 PR 2 SR BB R 1 B
@ 5 EUCHAR S R A B D O EE AR
CEETE

72024512831 H

Gross carrying Expected credit Expected

amount loss rate credit loss

REAE RBAHEFEEBEXR FHEEER

RMB’000 % RMB’000

AR¥T T % AR TR

Less than 1 year 1FER 270,887 0.79 2,107
1 to 2 years 1226 3,512 9.77 343
2 to 3 years 2E3F 1,351 100.00 1,351
Total BEt 275,750 3,801

As at 31 December 2023

M2023%F12H31H

Gross carrying  Expected credit Expected

amount loss rate credit loss

REARE HBHEEEEX BHEEERE

RMB’000 % RMB’000

ARETT % AR¥ET T

Less than 1 year 1F R 225,195 0.82 1,845
1to 2 years 1226 3,544 39.49 1,400
2 to 3 years 2E3F 522 92.24 482
Over 3 years 3FEMN E 353 100.00 353
Total et 229,614 4,080
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18. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 18. FA{I™IE - HttEWRIER

OTHER ASSETS Hth&EE
2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETT
Prepayments TETFRIE 700 2,070
Other receivables H b JE YR IE 1,331 3,727
Prepaid expenses AR X 1,963 3,914
Contribution receivable* FE Y & 96,419 =
Total FEE 100,413 9,711
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to LB MEENESRMEEMT Y&
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and RFTE R @ BA R B e Sk Y FE W SR TB B 7 -
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss R2024% 22023512 A318 » B & E
allowance was assessed to be minimal. WAL E B o
* In May 2024, a director, certain key management * M2024F58  —EF - EHT
personnel and an employee exercised a total AREBEABER —REBKR
of 16,860,000 shares at the subscription price EEEBRARY6.45TITHEL H
of RMB6.45 per share, resulting in a total cash 16,860,000 & 7 - IR S KB
consideration of RMB108,707,000. The cash B AR108,707,0007T - R &
consideration is required to be fully settled no later REETERITEBRHABAER
than the fifth anniversary of the exercised date. As HEH - P2024F12A318 © &k

at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance is EEEHR A/ ARY6,419,0007T °

RMB96,419,000.

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. UAAREBEFTEEHZH
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AEHHEZNEMEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Current mE
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELMEE  BRARE 115,706 11,449
BEit 2
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. UAAREBEFEAEHEH
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) AEHEZNEREE (&)
The current unlisted investments represented certain financial MENE L TIRERIEHEERITETNSG
products issued by commercial banks. They were classified FTemER EWOEAUAREBERE
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their BEEHFTAEHEZNEREE AA
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and HEARESRETRZAS A B -
interest.
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETTT
Non-current ERE
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value SEETRERE A
R EBE=E
Shenzhen Edge Medical Co., Ltd. YT RS 8% B R B
&7 B BR A A 144,071 139,369
Wuxi Qingsong Medical and Health Industry I ENERRRE
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) EREERLE
(ERER) 2,187 2,349
Total 146,258 141,718
The above investments were classified as financial asset at fair TR EWDEAANAABEG=EAHE
value through profit or loss as it was mandatorily designated as B A AEHERNEeRMEE  DHRAEE
such. I HERE ©
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. BeRBREEEY
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHEH 825,490 893,171
Time deposits T BiTF 3K 352,141 1,783,417
Subtotal et 1,177,631 2,676,588
Less: Vo
Non-current time deposits JEBNEAE HATE K (50,832) =
Cash and cash equivalents BeERAEEEY 1,126,799 2,676,588
Denominated in RMB A RGHE 634,793 1,533,309
Denominated in US$ AETTEHE 478,744 1,135,716
Denominated in HK$ AP TTEHE 9,973 6,677
Denominated in other currencies LAE fth & ¥+ E 3,289 886
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEY 1,126,799 2,676,588
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20.

21.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

20.

21.

ReERBAEEEY (&)

ARBIEERABASEMESE - AW -
RI% B A CONE B IR R 01D R (B E -
EERNEERRET) AEEHELES
EXERRMEXBORITEARE LR
REMLEE -

FARLRETERIERANELIHA
KB HEALENNEREER T
HE RO BRE TR - LRE S0 E
BRAEH B - BABBIERREER
7 LY E 43 40 3080 MO R 4T -

BZENRE

RBEHR  BFRNFAREFZA BN
SR MTINT

Within 3 months AR

3 to 6 months 3%6{# A

6 to 12 months 6E=1218 A
Over 12 months BiE121E A
Total 5T

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on 30 to 45 day terms.
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2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARMET T
35,534 27,130
1,579 1,617

903 3,708

3,126 1,791
41,142 34,146

B RNFIBTE R - BEIRIOKRELSK
MHEIRGEH -
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Notes to Financial Statements

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Contract liabilities EHBE

Payroll payables ERTE

Other payables H & 1~ kI8

Taxes other than income tax FriS f LA B B 18

Accrued expenses FEFTF X

Advance consideration for disposal of  H& — KK B A FIHIE
a subsidiary B

Total @t

Notes:

(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Short-term advances B & F YR i 52 B
received from customers B
Sale of goods AmmiEE

St 75 3 3= MY =

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable
on demand.

22, HittfENRIERERIEH
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR® TR ARETT
(@) 5,524 2,142
22,882 23,683
(b) 37,766 25,428
24,537 20,792
9,611 10,039
(c) 50,000 -
150,320 82,084
B 7E -
(@) EHNBENFBOT
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
PIPZE S PYZES NS 20236 12 H31H 202341 H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET R ARBEFTT ARET T
5,524 2,142 846
(b) HEMENKEBEAGE R EXK
BiE -
(c) R2023FE 12288 » MM FEE

On 28 December 2023, Hangzhou Kangji entered
into the equity transfer agreement to dispose of its
entire equity interest in Hangzhou Kangji Qipu Medical
Instrument Co., Ltd. (“Qipu”), to an independent
third party for an aggregate consideration of RMB366
million. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
purchaser has paid Hangzhou Kangji a non-refundable
sum of RMB50 million as part of the consideration
pursuant to the terms of the equity transfer agreement
for this disposal.

RIVIREEE G  ARBILE
=7 & &Hangzhou Kangji Qipu
Medical Instrument Co., Ltd.*
(IQipul) By 2 EBAZHE - MARE R
ARHKEB66H BT © BLE2024%F
12A31BIEFE - EHERER
REEGROGARAMNEESX
RHAAEENSBEARK0EE
T ERZIELENEDKE -

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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23. GOODWILL 23. BHE
RMB’000
AR¥ TR
Cost and net carrying amount as at 1 January 2023, 31 20234118 ~ 2023F12H31H 167,209
December 2023 and 1 January 2024 §&2024F1 R1B KA R ERE
FE
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (note 28) BUHA fF— MM B2 A (M 7E28) (167,209)
Cost and net carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 2024F12 A31 A WAL A K& S
BREFE
On 20 March 2024, Weijing Medical was derecognised as a M20245F3H20R - R EE K ILBRA R
subsidiary of the Group. Therefore, the goodwill allocated to REBMAOMBAR - At - DEEMIEE
Weijing Medical cash-generating unit is derecognised at the date BEREGELBUNEERAEEIHEA O
the Group deconsolidated Weijing Medical. Further details are WREEBEREHRLERER E—FTHEBIRN

included in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements

St 75 3 3= MY =

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the
year are as follows:

24,

IEFER R

BERBEBEMEERFANEHNT

Deferred tax liabilities EEHES S
2024 20244
Depreciation Fair value
allowance adjustments
in excess of arising from
related  Withholding acquisition of  Right-of use
depreciation taxes a subsidiary assets
BRE-A
WEAR
BERHNE RELRN
WERBE BAK AAEERE GKREEE Hit @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%TR AR¥TR AR%Tn ARETR ARET:
At 1 January 2024 1202451818 2,969 22,276 66,020 10,423 - 101,688
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary BHAH—RNBAA

(note 28) (H&k28) - - (66,020) (9,830) - (75,850)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) RERBHNG/GIA)

to profit or loss during the year MEERE (FiH10)

(note 10) (488) 24,608 o (146) 125 24,099
Settlement during the year EREE - (21,000) - - - (21,000)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 2024F12A31 A H)

December 2024 ERFBEEEESE 2,481 25,884 - 447 125 28,937

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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24. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 24, EFERIE ()
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) ELEBBEE S (&)
2023 20234
Depreciation Fair value
allowance adjustments
in excess of arising from
related  Withholding acquisition of  Right-of use
depreciation taxes  a subsidiary assets Total
B
NG|
BREBINE FEER
WTERHE BB AnBERE ity Feh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETT AREFR ARETR
At 31 December 2022 1202212 31 3,455 - 66,020 - 69,475
Effect of adoption of amendments to FRBBSHENE125R
HKAS 12 BiAz% 8 = - - 11,429 11,429
At 1 January 2023 (restated) 120231 1A (B E5) 3,455 - 66,020 11,429 80,904
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to profitor ~ RERBEME/(GIA)
loss during the year (note 10) HEIEH A (Fi310) (486) 22,276 - (1,006) 20,784
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 2023512 A31 B MEE
December 2023 REaGER 2,969 22,276 66,020 10,423 101,688
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24. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

2024

At 1 January 2024

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to
profit or loss during the year
(note 10)

Gross deferred tax assets at
31 December 2024

R2024F1A1H
BAAH-EHBAF
RERBRTA/
(k) mELHE
(FizE10)

R2024512 831880
ERERAZELE

Notes to Financial Statements

St 75 3 3= MY =

24, EIEBIE (&)
EEREBEEE
2024 %

Fair Value
adjustments
arising from
financial
Share-based Impairment  Impairment assets at fair
payment Lease of trade of Deferred  value through
expense liabilities  receivables inventories income profit or loss
NAREE

HREHSE

TARHER

WEREE

HEHAER EAEUAA FELH
BEXEX  HEAR AE  RERE  BERA  AAEEAR it
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR  AR®TR ARMTR

1,737 10,496 500 890 % B 194
- (9,830) - - - - (9,830)
137 (170) ) 988 95) % 862
1474 49 478 1478 - a7 4773

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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24. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 24, EFERIE (E)
Deferred tax assets (continued) EEBEBEEE (&)
2023 20234
Fair Value
adjustments
arising from
financial
assets at
Share-hased Impaiment  Impaiment fair value
payment Lease of trade of  Accrued  Deferred  through profit
expense liabiities  receivables inventories  expenses income orloss Total
WAL EE
WD BER EARNGE
HEFEX  RERE WE  FREE  EREX  ERMA AnEERE b
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETn ARETT ARETn ARETn  ARETn ARETR
At 31 December 2022 R2022E12A318 1,397 - 283 500 695 191 - 3,066
Effect of adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 FagReTENE8ET
VA% - 14 - - - - - 14
At January 2023 restated) Ro003E1A1R (E3) 137 11478 2% 500 69 191 T
Deferred tax included in the disposal groupheld ~~ SIAR R EME EARIET
for sale #E = 8] @) = - - - (24)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profit or loss RERBRTA/ (H) ER
during the year (note 10) HE(HiH0) 340 (979) 238 390 (695) 9) 2 (779)
(Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2028 7202812731 BAEIEH &
BELE 1,187 10,496 500 890 - 9 2 13,741

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report




Notes to Financial Statements

24. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

St 75 3 3= MY =

24, EFERHIR ()

REHRME  BTEERBAEERAED
EREMBMRRARPHEE - LR
BRGNS W AEBIRLERIBER DN :

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

RERB B HA AR H
ERREERIBEE

FE
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the Réra BB kR RSP
consolidated statement of financial position BRNELERIEA &
P
Net deferred tax liabilities BEHIAAEFR

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB2,787,000 (2023: RMB189,392,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The
applicable rate is 5% for the Group.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately is
nil (2023: RMB4,695,000). In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in
the foreseeable future due to the Group’s business development
in Mainland China.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

4,326 3,318
(28,490) (91,265)
(24,164) (87,947)

AREBEFPEAMELKEEEIE
AR ®2,787,0007C (20234 : AR¥
189,392,0007T ) #1E — 2 L & A 2| B LA K
SHIERRFAAE o

BIETRIRE EY B % TR EmMERER
REARZEBRELEREEHEE-REHEN
MELE - BERRENKA S A F ARE
ARB A EEHBIIAEE

Eit - NREBAHZERH B AMK LN
Wi B A R Bt B20085F1 AR RELEN A
MAT D KB BB ARTAHNT - AEEKE
P K 735% °

RERELEFHBEE BN BERHBHE A
REHENEREZBAXNARBE T
(20234 : AR%4,695,000T) - EER
B BARAEEERRANESEE
Z S W B A R E ] 7B R A R SR AN K AT B8R
AR o

ARBABRRNEETEELMSH

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE 267_



Notes to Financial Statements

ot 75 3 3= MY =

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. B
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Authorised: EE
5,000,000,000 (20283: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000/%
ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each (20234 : 5,000,000,0004% )
§[2£0.00001 2 7T #9 & if ik
Uss$ EV 50,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE:
1,208,804,000 (2023: 1,216,792,000) 1,208,804,000%
ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each (20234 : 1,216,792,0004% )
H[%0.000013 7T #) % 8 ik
Us$ Y 12,088 12,168
RMB AR 84,950 85,511

A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share
capital, share premium, share held for share award arrangement

and treasury shares is as follows:

At1 January 2023 R2023%181H
Shares repurchased EEERA
Shares cancelled ERE:NT)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

120235120318 k202451318

ARTBBETRA - BIARME - A1 18

Dividends declared BERRA
Exercise of share awards EEED)
Shares repurchased BEERA
Shares cancelled B RN

At 31 December 2024 120245123318

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

B s ARG kEFR G Z Bt n
T
Share
Share held for
Number of Share premium  share award Treasury
shares in issue capital account  arrangement shares
& RRORBRH
k€] Ka  RGEEE  BEORG ER R
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARBTR  AR%TR  AR%Tn  ARET:R
1,219,313,000 86 2,481,480 (3) (5,495)
(@ - - - = (16,580)
Gl (2,521,000) - (19,202) - 19,202
1,216,792,000 86 2,462,278 (3) (2,873)
) - - (651,680) - -
(©) = - 133,917 1 -
(¢ - - - = (43,177)
1] (7,988,000) (1) (43,732) - 43,733
1,208,804,000 85 1,900,783 @ (2,317)
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Notes to Financial Statements

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(@)

The Company purchased 2,261,000 of its shares on
the Stock Exchange at a total cash consideration
of HK$18,867,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB16,580,000), of which 1,780,500 shares with an
amount equivalent to approximately RMB13,708,000
were cancelled during the year ended 31 December
20283. The remaining of 480,500 shares were cancelled
on 31 January 2024.

On 27 May 2024, the final dividend of RMB41 cents per
ordinary share and a special dividend of RMB99 cents
per ordinary share, amounting to a total of approximately
RMB1,700,749,000 were approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the annual general meeting. The special
dividend was paid partly out of the Company’s share
premium account of RMB651,680,000.

During the year, a total of 16,860,000 shares under
the restricted share unit plan were exercised at the
subscription price of RMB6.45 per share, resulting in the
addition of ordinary shares in issue of 16,860,000 shares
for a total cash consideration of RMB108,707,000. An
amount of RMB25,211,000 was transferred from the
share award reserve to share premium upon the exercise
of restricted share units.

The Company purchased 7,907,500 of its shares on
the Stock Exchange at a total cash consideration
of HK$47,341,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB43,177,000), of which 7,507,500 shares with an
amount equivalent to approximately RMB40,861,000
were cancelled during the year ended 31 December
2024. The remaining 400,000 shares are not yet
cancelled.

(a)

St 75 3 3= MY =

25. BA(48)

AR AR AT E H2,261,000
Reh&fn - 4838 £ K18 518,867,000
7 70 (8 R 49 A R #16,580,000
7o) - H#1,780,5008 B 1) (B E
R AR¥13,708,0007T) ERE
ZE2023F12A31H I FEEH -
# T480,5000% f% 15 B 720245 1
A31H T -

MR2024F5827H » REIR B H&
TEBRAREMD  BRKES
B E AR AR - BEH A
R #4,700,749,0007T & & 2 7 I&
RRABRRBAFRS L& - 55
BEBDPEARRRBDHEEERA
R #651,680,0007T K+ °

FR-ZREBDEMTETH
4 16,860,000/ % 15 B ETE
REEAERARKS6.455T
It 5 18 B 3% 17 X 38 1% 16,860,000
BEH RREEREABARE
108,707,0007T ° A X [R il i 15 &
L ETE% - AR25,211,0007T
B BRG R FEERERMDEE -

7N 2 B 7 B 22 P B B H 7,907,500
BER% 1 - #IR & A {8 5B47,341,000
BT (FHER K AR 43,177,000
JT) © E 7,507,500 /% 17 (A&
R4 A R#40,861,0007T) B R &
Z2024F12A31H I FEEH °
# T 400,0000% B% 17 1% A 5 84 e
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26.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 6 May 2020, the Company approved and adopted the RSU
Plan and the Option Plan to attract and retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide
additional incentives to selected directors, senior management
and employees and to promote the success of the Company’s
business by granting these individuals RSUs and share options.

The RSU Plan and Option Plan shall be subject to the
administration of the board of directors of the Company (the
“Administrator”) whose decision shall be final and binding on
all parties. The board may by resolution authorise a committee
comprising any three directors of the Company to exercise any
or all of its powers in the administration of the RSU Plan and
Option Plan.

The participants of the RSU Plan and Option Plan (the
“Participants”) are the employees, directors of the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries as selected by the Administrator at
its discretion.

The maximum number of underlying shares of the RSU Plan is
the number of ordinary shares held by the ESOP BVI. The overall
limit on the number of underlying shares to be granted under the
RSU Plan is expected to be 26,810,000 shares with a par value
of US$0.00001 each, which have been reserved by ESOP BVI.
On 25 May 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved
the increase of limit on the number of shares to be granted under
the RSU Plan from 26,810,000 shares to 46,810,000 Shares.

The maximum number of underlying shares that may be granted
and sold under the Option Plan is 4,120,000 with a par value
of US$0.00001 each. The number of shares that are subject
to options outstanding under the Option Plan at any time shall
not exceed the aggregate number of shares that then remain
available for issuance under the Option Plan.

The RSU Plan and Option Plan will expire on, and no RSU and
option may be granted pursuant to the RSU Plan and Option
Plan after, the sixth anniversary of the date that the RSU Plan
and Option Plan are adopted and approved by the shareholders
of the Company. In addition, the term of any RSU and option
granted under the RSU Plan and Option Plan shall not exceed
six years. All the granted but unvested RSUs and unexercised
options shall expire on the sixth anniversary of the grant date.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

26.

AR 40 B E 1 AR

20209F5 H6H » RN AHLAE K IR SR i
B fp Azt 8l R BB AR HE AT &) - B ERS
RRBETEEBMANREBAL  FEBMA
BEEE SREEEREERTXRE
Betn BAL R BB - RRE A LIRMERS
B IA R AR HE AR R RIS R TSR T o

ZERBIBR D EMAE MBS RAR
AEFe ((BEBE)EE EFSHRT
BRAREAHEDAEBORS -EE®
AERREREERALARAEE=2E=E
MRNZEERTEELEERZRGIMRMDE
Azt &) R AT Sl Tk 25D -

BB B E KBRS 2 RE
(2EEF|) RERERNBEENARA
R/SZEERMMERARIES - EF -

PR FI B D BALET M ABRARR 1D 2 = &K
B RBESOP BVIHFEMEBEBRHE - BIE
SR I BAL A B T R H AR RS
B 42 0R B TE 5T 48 B & AR M {0.00001
3% 7T #926,810,000/% + & 2 FHESOP BVI
REE - R2022F5 8250 » AR B AR H #t
ERBEIRAIRGECMTE G TED
7 R% {2 28 B PR % F26,810,000/% 1 i1 &
46,810,000/% i 17 °

AR B AR R AT B 1 & & /Y AR B AR
B2 &= 8 E AS KR EE0.00001E T HY
4,120,0000% A& 19 o 7 (T {a] B 1% B AR 4 51
EE T RITEBRIERTS RHRHEE T
SHRBERBEBREAS THBTHR
DL -

B i B £ B8 2 At 1 e B AR T 81 S TR %
EE B EA R RRRRA LI 2 AR
NEFBRER  WERTNFREZ RGO
BRI RBREFIREIREIKNE
7 J B BOHE = Uboh - IRIR SR I A D AL
=t 8 K B RcrE A 813K H /0 ] 52 PR Il A 1
B NERERREASBBAF AED
BB R 5 B A X IR I AR 00 B AL R RAT (R
B R AR I B BV SR REW -
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

RSUs granted under the RSU Plan shall only be vested at such
time and upon such terms and conditions as determined by the
RSU Plan and/or subject to the approval of the Administrator.
Options granted under the Option Plan shall only be exercisable
at such time and upon such terms and conditions as may be
determined by the option agreement. Exercisable options within
the same grant may be exercised in whole or in part. However,
it shall not be exercisable with respect to fractional shares and
the Administrator may require that, by the terms of the option
agreement, a partial exercise must be with respect to a minimum
number of shares.

Pursuant to the terms of the RSU Plan, no right to vote or receive
dividends or any other rights as a shareholder shall exist with
respect to the RSUs, notwithstanding the vesting of the RSUs.
The shares underlying the Option Plan shall rank pari passu in all
respects with the other fully paid shares in issue.

On 6 May 2020, 4,120,000 options under the Option Plan and
a total of 21,190,000 underlying shares under the RSU Plan
were granted to an executive director and six management
team members, respectively. Pursuant to the RSU Plan, RSUs
were fully vested upon Listing. Pursuant to the share option
agreement, options granted will be vested according to the
following vesting schedule: 580,000 shares upon Listing;
1,180,000 shares on the first anniversary of the vesting
commencement date; 1,180,000 shares on the second
anniversary of the vesting commencement date; and 1,180,000
shares on the third anniversary of the vesting commencement
date.

On 26 March 2021, a total of 5,620,000 underlying shares under
the RSU Plan were granted to a management team member
and 56 employees. Pursuant to the RSU Plan, RSUs will be
vested according to the following vesting schedule: 1,124,000
shares on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement
date; 1,124,000 shares on the second anniversary of the vesting
commencement date; 1,124,000 shares on the third anniversary
of the vesting commencement date; 1,124,000 shares on
the fourth anniversary of the vesting commencement date;
and 1,124,000 shares on the fifth anniversary of the vesting
commencement date.

26.
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AR 42 2 B0 84 R (&)

RAR X IR BB 0 B AL 5t B3 A SR il B
DEMERRBEIZR GO ELTEREZ
B 11l A% 17 28 17 1 3 R & ISk B B A Mt
B B P A R IR S (R M TT R B - IRIBFE
P #E 5 B X B i P 12 T AE R AR W
5 AR TE 0 B [ DA e R R AR T AT
PR — 3 T R EY AT 17 (68 B8 AR T 2 B8P 2 8B
DITE - A - EASHREHERN TIAT
- BEREANER  REBREGZ

R WARRERDBBETHEIITRE -

BEXRFABRMDEMFERE  REXR
B 1 B8 AL AT B O 6K - IR IR BE
B R 3 3 o R IR 8, 2 4 ) = A T L
ARAER - AR BB EMSE
FTHEAEBEEITHHMRRNEERSFH

fiL °

R2020F5A6H  BREFEET
4,120,00015 B8 A% 42 LA & 2 PR ) A% 15 B8 L
T EIE T4 #£21,190,0008% #8 A H 5 5
B2 TEE R NBEEEKKE -
RIE RGBS - SZREIRGDE
NELITTRE2IEE - BEBRERZ
ERHNEREGZBATRBRHERE
B R 1% 5 B580,000/% B 17 : MR
BFHK BN EERTAFE1,180,000
G REERABHNE_EEFH
5% B 1,180,000 A2 10 : R R SF B4 B
HME = @B F B HE1,180,0000 /1% -

20213 A26H + X IR HI 8% D Bz 5+ 2
T 4 $£5,620,000 HHE R MHE XK T —
ZEEEKE R56EES - REZRH
B 10 BEAL AT 8] - PR HI AR 1 B AL #6488 LA
THRENHNEARE:  REBHABAHNE
&8 4 B 5B 1,124,000/ i 10« R 55 B
s B HME — @B F 3 EEB1,124,000
G REEBRBBBENE=EREFH
55 EB1,124,0000 510 : REE B %K B 2
7 2 P B & B 5% B 1,124,0008% I 15 :
FREBERBAENERAERSE A RE
1,124,000 B 15 -
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26.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

On 6 July 2024, a total of 1,000,000 underlying shares under
the RSU Plan were granted to a management team member.
Pursuant to the RSU Plan, the RSUs shall be 100% fully
vested upon granted. The RSU Plan will expire after the tenth
anniversary of the effective date.

The following RSUs were outstanding under the RSU Plan during
the year:

AR 43 B B0 8K (&)

R2024F7A6R - ZRHIRMEFFEIE
T4 1,000,000 HERHIBEF—ZE
BEKKE - RIEZRHIRMDEMTS -
PR B RS 19 B AL 8 R IR 18 100% 38 2 53
B ZREIBRMEMAEBEREXAET
BEERER-

AT BFERZRGIEMDETEET A
1T1E B 2 PR I A 1D BE AL -

RSUs
5 BR &I R 17 BB {u
Weighted
average
exercise price

Number
HE MEFHTEE
RMB per share

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

202312 H31H &

2024F1H1H
Granted during the year FAFKS
Forfeited during the year F AR
Exercised during the year FARITE

At 31 December 2024

The Group recognised the corresponding share-based payment
expenses of nil (2023: RMB292,000), RMB620,000 (2023:
RMB2,267,000) and RMB291,000 (2023: nil) during the year for
the options granted on 6 May 2020, the RSUs granted on 26
March 2021, and the RSUs granted on 6 July 2024, respectively.

On 24 January 2021, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of the RSUs granted on 6 May 2020
from 29 January 2021 to 29 January 2022. The incremental fair
value resulting from the extension at the modification date was
RMB1,413,000, which were recognised immediately in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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202412 A31H

ERAR% T

26,810,000 6.990
1,000,000 8.216
(7,425,000) 7.527
(16,860,000) 6.448
3,525,000 8.803

AN &£ @R F R B FR2020F5 A6 8 1%
HE B AR RE - N2021 326 BHB T
MR A% 1D B AL R 202457 A6E BHE M Z
PR 5 B% 19 B L 2 B FERAB R A IR 1 B EE Al
K~ 3B 2 = (20234 : A R#292,000
JT) + AR %620,0007T (20234F : AR
2,267,0007T) & A K #291,0007T (2023
FF) o
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

On 12 January 2022, the Administrator determined to extend the
share purchase date of the RSUs granted on 6 May 2020 from
29 January 2022 to 29 January 2023 and the share purchase
date of all the RSUs granted on 26 March 2021 from “within
three months after each vesting date” to “within nine months
after each vesting date”. The incremental fair values resulting
from the extension at the modification date were RMB4,146,000
and RMB869,000, respectively, which were recognised
immediately in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2022.

On 26 December 2022, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of 1,124,000 shares of the RSUs
granted on 26 March 2021 from “within nine months after each
vesting date” to “within twenty-one months after each vesting
date”. The incremental fair value resulting from the extension at
the modification date was RMB1,048,000, which was recognised
immediately in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2022.

On 17 January 2023, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of the RSUs granted on 6 May 2020
from 29 January 2023 to 29 January 2024. The incremental fair
values resulting from the extension at the modification date were
RMB5,709,000, which was recognised immediately in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2023.

On 21 December 2023, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of 1,124,000 shares of the first tranche
of the RSUs granted on 26 March 2021 from “within twenty-one
months after each vesting date” to “within thirty-three months
after each vesting date”, and extend the share purchase date
of 1,124,000 shares of the second tranche of the RSUs from
“within nine months after each vesting date” to “within twenty-
one months after each vesting date”. The incremental fair
value resulting from the extension at the modification date was
RMB355,000, which was recognised immediately in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

On 26 January 2024, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of the RSUs granted on 6 May 2020
from 29 January 2024 to 29 January 2025. The incremental fair
value resulting from the extension at the modification date was
RMB5,506,000, which was recognised immediately in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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26.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

On 17 May 2024, a total of 16,860,000 shares under the RSUs
plan were exercised at the subscription price of RMB6.45 per
share, resulting in the purchase of 16,860,000 shares for a total
cash consideration of RMB108,707,000.

On 20 December 2024, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of 505,000 shares of the first tranche
of the RSUs granted on 26 March 2021 from “within thirty-three
months after each vesting date” to “within forty-five months
after each vesting date”, and extend the share purchase date of
505,000 shares of the second tranche of the RSUs from “within
twenty-one months after each vesting date” to “within thirty-
three months after each vesting date”, and extend the share
purchase date of 505,000 shares of the third tranche of the
RSUs from “within nine months after each vesting date” to “within
twenty-one months after each vesting date”. The incremental fair
value resulting from the extension at the modification date was
RMB237,000, which was recognised immediately in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The fair values of the RSUs were estimated as at the date of
modification using a binomial option-pricing model, based on fair
value of the underlying ordinary shares. The following table lists
the key inputs to the models used:

26.
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R2024F58178  RIE PR HI A% (7 B
=+ &) - £ 5H16,860,0000% 52 R Hi| §& 17 28 i
BERARKCISTHRBEETE 5
N #E38 & R E AR ¥108,707,0007T °

MR2024F12 208 @ B E E R TE 152021
F3A26H T F 15 —#505,0000% 5 R
BHEBEMHERBBREBEAR=T=
BARIEERZE(FZBARO+RABEAR] -
% — #1t505,0008% 5 R I B 1D Bz A [ 53
BER-_t+—REARICERE(FEBR
=+=@ AR F=#5050008% %
BHENHZEEEAEARIERR
[(FEAR-_+—EAR] - REHAHRA
W HA TG AN A A BB A R 237,000
2 RE £20245F12A318 |FF [ B B £

XR BB EL R A BEBETINMESR A H
REABETERNAAEEER ZBAH
REBREMMG S TRIIHZER
FAMmERBAE:

Expected volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Early exercise multiple

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. The fair value measurement
has incorporated the effect of expected dividend by adjusting the
fair value of underlying ordinary shares.
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2024 2023
20245 20234
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27. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the paid-up capital of
the subsidiaries comprising the Group prior to the incorporation
of the Company. Details of the movements in the capital reserve
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share option and award reserve

The Group’s share option and award reserve represents the
share-based compensation reserve, details of the movements
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises are
required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined
in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards,
to their respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves
reach 50% of their respective registered capital. Subject to
certain restrictions set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part
of the statutory surplus reserves may be converted to increase
share capital, provided that the remaining balance after the
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange

differences arising from the translation of financial statements of
the entities of which the functional currency is not RMB.

27.

St 75 3 3= MY =

it 8

AEEREFBAFENRBEBNE
BHEMBFHRROESEREHRTIIR -

EXREE

A 0 E A B IR A2 R AR S A48
RAEENHBATNEMEA « EAR
EDHHBURNGARARLEDE -

FBIR R 3R B e

74 55 B 4 B B 4 T SR D 5 8 B DA B B 2
BEBEES  HEDHEERRNGA RS
2H% -

EERBEE

REFBEPE(REDE) AEEE THE AR
RABLE  ARRBARSTE & EL
BENBRBEANENI0RSEEEE B
EERBFEE EEFHAEZHEZOEM
EARH50% - ERBECABE) AEE TR
HERIRT - B0 E B E A EIE KR
A HERRIFERENMCRHB N BB
BAOREMEARN25% °

BERKE A

RN B AN SR E R (LI
BEWMIWIFARE) MBRERAELNERL
E8 e

BEETRRARAR 2024FEHE 275



Notes to Financial Statements

ot 75 3 3= MY =

28. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 28. BUHGHt—EKEAFE

On 20 March 2024, the shareholders of Weijing Medical R2024F3A20H ' BMIEEBEREE # &
approved certain amendments to the articles of association HE iﬂrﬁﬁiﬁkaﬁiﬁi BlETEIRESS
and the change in board composition of Weijing Medical. Upon ERER - EFTERE  AEBRXEEHKE
the amendments becoming effective, the Group lost control *@Faﬂ I MERBEETBEALSE
of Weijing Medical and thus Weijing Medical ceased to be EzHMBAR Bt  REERKERBERZ

a subsidiary of the Group. As a result, the Group’s retained MRBEZBERAEENGEVBRE
interests in Weijing Medical was accounted for as an investment FABRSIER —MEEE QR RINRE -

in an associate in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group since then.

A summary of the effects of the deconsolidation of a subsidiary #H 202441 2ﬂ 1R ILEME - BUE A Of
during the year ended 31 December 2024 was as follows: —RNBRARMFERRMT :
2024
202445
RMB’000
AR
Share of net assets: ERATFEE -
Property, plant and equipment Y- HERZRE 14,576
Right-of-use assets ERAREE 34,5642
Intangible assets mEEE 284,632
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 8,829
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TEATSRIE - H b FEUGRIE R H A
BE 191,082
Inventories 55 16,533
Trade payables B S e RIA (5,000)
Other payables and accruals H b fEA RIERTEIRIBE (4,321)
Lease liabilities HEBR®E (38,048)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEEE (66,020)
Goodwill on acquisition AR 167,209
Non-controlling interests JEVE R = (283,923)
320,091
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary BUHG $f— BB 2 Al A s 27,253
Fair value of the Group’s investment AEERENAREE 347,344*
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of BUEAH—MMBRARMNES KR
the deconsolidation of a subsidiary SEEYRLFRE (8,829)
y The amount is the fair value of the Group’s retained 2 e ALRNSERBYEXEHE
interest in Weijing Medical as at the date of Bl 173 BN T {5 51 O ME 45 B8 B X HUB
deconsolidation, as estimated with the assistance of FaARBHRBEESNAAE
an independent professional valuer. B -
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

Notes to Financial Statements
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29. HKEHLRERME

(a)

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB1,084,000
(2023: RMB4,186,000) and RMB1,084,000 (20283:
RMB4,186,000), respectively, in respect of lease

arrangements for office premises.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities:

2024

(b)

TEHFRRERS

FR AEBEBASHAEER
EHERAREEERTEERESR
BRIFERESRAEDF ABARE
1,084,0007C (20234 : AR
4,186,0007T) & A R #1,084,000
JC (20234 : AR#4,186,0007T) °

METHELENEESE

2024%

Lease liabilities

HEEE

RMB’000

AR¥T R

At 1 January 2024 M202461 /18 43,990

Changes from financing cash flows MERESREZ (5,010)

New leases FHEE 1,084

Lease modification HE BN 866

Interest expense FERX 636

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (note 28) BUHA 6 — BB A A (M 7E28) (38,048)

Exchange realignment TE &A% (3)

At 31 December 2024 R2024%F12 A31H JL18

2023

20234

Lease liabilities

HEBE

RMB’000

ARET T

At 1 January 2023 #R2023%F1 A1H 49,019

Changes from financing cash flows MERSHEZ (10,603)

New leases e 4,186

Lease modification HEEHR (599)
Liabilities included in the disposal group held for FIAFREHEMHEHR B E

sale (note 33) (Bt 5£33) (277)

Interest expense FMERXZ 2,257

Exchange realignment [ 5 =& 7

At 31 December 2023 H2023%12A31H 43,990

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 29. REHREREBKRMTE (B)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c)  Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESRHLE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FEHeRERAMEMNEERS
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MO REEAT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Within operating activities RIEETEE A 2,272 737
Within financing activities N OEEA 5,010 10,603
Total st 7,282 11,340
30. COMMITMENTS 30. EBE

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

AEBNREARNALOAENT :

Buildings 1g=F
Plant and machinery Hes K 5% 1
Total @z
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BBAIXS

AEBTZHBAINFEBNAT

Details of the Group’s principal related party are as follows:

Name Relationship
£ BE

Hangzhou Kangyin Investment Ltd. (“Kangyin Investment”)
MMNEREEEEERAR ((ERRE])

An entity controlled by a director
EEZHINER

Weijing Medical An associate

MRS R R = WNG|

(@) The Group had the following transactions with related (@) REBRBREHNERBY B
parties during the reporting period: SWT

(i)

(if)

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
a subsidiary of the Group entered into an
lease agreement to rent office premises from
Kangyin Investment for a period of three years
commencing from 1 January 2023, with an
annual rental fee of RMB1,200,000 for the first
year, RMB1,320,000 for the second year and
RMB1,452,000 for the third year.

During the year, the Group sold medical
instruments to Weijing Medical of RMB114,000.
The sales to the associate were made according
to the published prices and conditions offered to
the major customers of the Group.

(i)

(if)

BEETRRARAT 20245 EHE 279

H £2023%F12831H I F
B ALEEBE—HHEBERT
R TE W - B20235F1
A1BRAH=FHRFERE
BHRANREDE  F—
FH$ A ARE1,200,000
TR _FHEAARE
1,320,0007C * F=F M &
A ANR¥1,452,0007T °

FRN - AEB R MG S
BHEBERMARY
114,0007T ° [ 5 & A &) 8
ENRBERNAEEXER
FRHEND AMHESRIE
LT o
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BEWMAERS (&)
(continued)
(b) As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had (b) RBEHR AEEBHEBEH 2
outstanding balances with its related parties, as follows: MBI RENEHROT -
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20245 20234
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETT
Contribution receivable from*: RENURTEIER 23,150 -
FEY &
A director —REE 68,206 =
Key management personnel FTEEBAEB 91,356 -
& The contribution receivable was related to * R HEREY —2EERET

FTEEEABTERNDELENRE
WHIEHREE A 415,980,000
B REEAEERARK6.45T

receivables arising from the exercise of shares
by a director and certain key management

personnel, in a total of 15,980,000 shares AHRTEAEM@BLRER
at the subscription price of RMB6.45 per AR #103,033,0007C - B4 Y&
share, resulting in a total cash consideration BIAERITEBRHERAELRH
of RMB103,033,000 at the exercise date. 1o M2024612A31H © K&
The cash consideration is required to be fully 4 ##27391,356,0007T °

settled no later than the fifth anniversary of the
exercised date. As at 31 December 2024, the
outstanding balance is RMB91,356,000.
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31.

32.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.

Notes to Financial Statements

(continued)

(©

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

St 75 3 3= MY =

BAME S X5 (&)

(c) AEBTEEBRASHNHDH

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBETT
11,843 12,962
246 397

5,509 5,996
17,598 19,355

Short-term employee benefits EERHER
Pension scheme contributions RINEETEIH R
Share-based payment expense LARR 0 A A /Y
Db
Total compensation paid to key SHFEEERBAEN
management personnel Has

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

FHREZERRSTBRAEHEM
FHIFEN BB MAR M EES -

32 REEQATRNKRE

2024
20245

RMB’000
AR®TR

Share of net assets EiEEEFE
Goodwill on acquisition g i
Total 4=t

239,509
138,288

377,797

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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32. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 32 REEQATINIKRE (&)

Particulars of the material associate are as follows:

EEWEAAFENT :

Place of Percentage of
Particulars of incorporation/ ownership interest
issued registration attributable to  Principal
Name shares held and business the Group activities
AEEEMNS
e T B A EER
=x: RBFHE R e it B Botk TEEKR
Weijing Medical Ordinary share PRC/Mainland 41.99% Research and
China development of
medical instruments
e 5 B8 LA DR 41.99% EEBM AR

On 20 March 2024, the Group lost control of Weijing Medical
and accounted it as an investment in an associate using the
equity method. The Group’s shareholding in the associate was
subsequently changed. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s
shareholding in the associate was 41.99%. Further details are
included in note 28 to the financial statements.

The Group’s shareholding in the above associate comprise
completely equity shares held through a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Weijing Medical adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements:

32.
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REERTNKRE (&)

TERIPAEREENVBENRE - O3
EMEFBRRERFHFARLBEEMB
BERPWREEYE

Current assets

Non-current assets, excluding goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition of the associate
Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Net assets, excluding goodwill

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the
associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership

Group’s share of net assets of the associate,
excluding goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition

Carrying amount of the investment

Revenue
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information

2024
20244
RMB’000
AR®B T
MENEE 140,921
IERBDEE (TEREBE) 617,075
W E AR EENEE 138,288
BB E (104,396)
EREBARE (95,572)
EEFE 696,316
BEFE(TEERSE) 558,028
NEBPRB L QB2 YR -
NEEE FT A R LB 41.99%
AEBEERBENNEEFE(TRERSE)
229,135
WEEENEE 138,288
REREAE 367,423
WA -

FABBERE2EMX LR (67,381)

TRFBAREEEFIL A ERNEE R A

of the Group’s associate that is not individually material: ) BF 75 A KL
2024
20245
RMB’000
ARETR
Share of the associate’s loss for the year FEAGEEE AR FNEE (798)
Share of the associate’s total comprehensive il N R G
income (798)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEEREERARRENREEARE
investment in the associate 10,374

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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33. ADISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED ASHELD  33.
FOR SALE

DERBFEHENLEAR

On 28 December 2023, Hangzhou Kangji entered into the
equity transfer agreement to dispose of its entire equity interest
in Qipu, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hangzhou Kangji, to
an independent third party for an aggregate consideration of
RMB366 million. Qipu is principally engaged in distribution,
research and development of medical instruments. As at 31
December 2023, Qipu was classified as a disposal group held for

R2023F12H28H - MM BEEET LR #
EENE WABYEZAHENNER
M2 EHE R FQpul &I E - BRE
BAREKIEETL QpuEEREER
BRI E 2 8H R A& - 72023 12H318 -
Qpuit DI AFELEN L EHER - B &
Qipui§ 20255 £ ©

284

sale. The disposal of Qipu is due to be completed in 2025.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Qipu classified as
held for sale as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

MR2024F12A31H © Qipuli D B B 1E
HPENEERBENETEEANDMT

2024 2023
202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment M - WERE&E 8,080 7,010
Right-of-use assets PRAEEE 28,469 28,641
Deferred tax assets BEHIBEE - 24
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE - 10,771
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERRIE - HMERGRIAE
assets MEMEE 8,736 8,892
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 295,274 296,864
Assets classified as held for sale DERBIELENEE 340,559 352,202
Liabilities* EE
Other payables and accruals HE B RFARIER - (2,510)
Income taxes payable JERFTISHL (5,362) (1,853)
Lease liabilities HEBE = (277)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets BAOERIFIEHENEE
classified as held for sale BEEMEBNEE (5,362) (4,640)
Net assets directly associated with the mEARNEEAEER
disposal group BEFE 335,197 347,562

*

The amounts disclosed as at 31 December 2023

are after some inter-company eliminations of

RMB5,920,000.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
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34. RERBESHNEMIA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEHR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
2024 20244

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Time deposits
Trade receivables
Financial assets included
in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Total

Financial liabilities

BekReEEY
EHER

& 5 WA

T AR FROR -

B W R IR R Eo A
BENTREE
UNonBEABAEZS
FFAEHEREN
SREE

Bt

Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost
RAnEESE

BHSE A RS A
EHBEEN I AR /Y

SREE tWMEE et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T T AR T AR T

- 1,126,799 1,126,799

- 50,832 50,832

- 271,949 271,949

- 97,750 97,750

261,964 - 261,964

261,964 1,547,330 1,809,294

cHREE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

BB

I AR Y
EREE
RMB’000

AR T

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in other payables and

accruals

Total

B 5 N FR

5t

EAEMENFIELAERERNSME(E

41,142

97,377

138,519

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. BEHEASHNEHMIA (F)

(continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEHR SEIeITANKEAER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T (#88)
(continued)
2023 20234
Financial assets ctREE
Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
KAREETNE
BEZFHTA bi7g: 3N
EHBEEN HI| AR Y
ETREE TREE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT ARETT ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY - 2,676,588 2,676,588
Trade receivables B 5 W KIE - 225,534 225,534
Financial assets included FTATER I -
in prepayments, other i FE UG R H At & B
receivables and other assets HI & @& E - 3,727 3,727
Financial assets at fair value WAREBEFEEEZSH:T
through profit or loss AEHBEENeREE 153,167 = 153,167
Total =t 153,167 2,905,849 3,059,016
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
TR SH P AN
HI| R HY
TRBEE
RMB’000
ARET T
Trade payables Z 5N R 34,146
Financial liabilities included in other payables and AFAEMEMNRIERERBENSBRAERE
accruals 35,467
Total S 69,613
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35.

Notes to Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade payables
and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The Group invests in unlisted wealth management products
issued by banks in Mainland China. The Group has estimated the
fair value of these unlisted investments by using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on the market interest rates of
instruments with similar terms and risks.

The fair values of non-current unlisted equity investments have
been estimated using a market-based valuation technique based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The valuation requires the senior management
to determine comparable public companies (peers) based
on industry, size, leverage and strategy, and to calculate an
appropriate price multiple, such as price to book value (“P/B”)
multiple, for each comparable company identified. The multiple
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable
company by a book value measure.

35.
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ERMTANAAEERAR
BEER

ERELTAERRR RekAELEE
Y BHRWFHIA - st ATRNRIE - Kl
UREREGEENECREE BHE
MRERF AR ENFIERERER
MERBEENAREBELELREEABRE
H IEZRANZETANIHRMEE -

TREERABNAABERABET A
BRIRS (RAFBREERIN) P
TEARBHNEZBAR - A TIHERRR
RARfEET AR EE

AEERENRTBEAMRITETHIELT
BHMES AKESREBEEABLUERR
BB TAMNTSHE - RAFRESR
HEERGHZEHFLTRENAAEE-

FRBIFLTRBEBRENRIABEIIE
RERTIHEMNGHERMN (ARARA
BRMBERIFEIFHER) mE
BH-GEFESREEERETE B
B RENRRREEIELR ETAA
(A%) wHREHAIHEATELRAFR
EEEMNEBREE UmERX((WERE])
BE - ZEHDHRABLRAR ML EE
BERA-BEREEREEMNGSESD -
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3bB. TRMIANAIABEREAR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) EEER (&)
Below is a summary of significant unobservable input to the AT ABR2024F12A31A &Rt T A
valuation of financial instrument together with a quantitative BERNEATAHRGABEBNREARZL
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024: BRI
Significant Sensitivity of fair value
unobservable input Rate  to the input
EXTABRGAE gE WAENAAEESEMY
Unlisted equity investment Discount for lack of marketability 12% 5% (2023:5%) decrease/increase in DLOM would result
(“DLOM”) (2023:14%) in increase/decrease in fair value by RMB8,140,000
(2023:RMB8,103,000)
FETRERE iz @A ([DLOM]) 12%  DLOMTEE,/ EF5%(2023%F : 5%) S EH AR EEZ M,/
(20235 : 14%) 4 ANE#8,140,0007T (20234  AE#8,103,0007T)
Fair value hierarchy AREEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREILIAEESRTIENAREBENE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: &4
Assets measured at fair value: BAABEIATENEE
As at 31 December 2024 72024%F12H31H

Fair value measurement using
MEERAUT ARG E
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable Unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EATRE EXFTRE

ERTAEE BAE HAE
(F-%) (F=H) (F=8) At
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AEBTR ARETR ARETT

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss WRAEEEREEHHTALY
EENEREE - 115,706 146,258 261,964

As at 31 December 2023 K2023F12H31H

Fair value measurement using

ABERBNTFHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable Unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXTEHE EXTAEE

ERMHRE PN BAE
(E-8) (E=8) (£=8) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss WALBEHEREEHI AL S

HHERHEE - 11449 141,718 153,167
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35.

36.

Notes to Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during
the year are as follows:

35.
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ERMTANAAEERAR
BEER(E)

REAFEE RABEHEEE-QAENE
R

Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss

At 1 January

Transfer from level 2

Total gains recognised in profit or loss

BEAOBRERE
®1A1R
S R
R 2 R R A U

At 31 December ®12A31H

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 for both financial
assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, there were transfers into Level 3
for financial assets and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
financial liabilities.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

36.

MR f B B B BB AY

2024 2023
20244 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARET T
141,718 133,937

= 2,500

4,540 5,281
146,258 141,718

M2024%F k20235 12A31H - A&EE W
BEEMNAAABEFENZHE(E -

RER ¢RHEERCHABHERLES —
BHRE_FAAREBEETEZEER (2023
FoaE) o

RER ¢RHEELCHAERES AR
S =4 B E2023F12A318 It
B eREEBAZ=H cRBETE
EASEHE = -

TREREEBERBER

AEENIZ2eRMTAGEREMNAESS
BY ZEeMTANTIZANERAE
EOXBRE AREREEREEBME
EEENZHEMESMEERAR  flW
BHREFIARE RN A

AEBSRTEEANTIZRARAIER
w2 EEEBRERDUERR - EEEEHN
YREBEESEEBEARNBEE - Blam
T
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. EREMEEBZERIEK (&)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk SN B
Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in SNSRI R IEE N TE R EmEKIB KR
foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates B E R o ARBEEAREBELEEBHIAN
between RMB and other currencies in which the Group conducts HEHmEB o ANEXRHAEeE8RE
business may affect the Group’s financial condition and results B BRI REESEE  AEBE KA
of operations. The Group seeks to limit its exposure to foreign iR B K PR R D OB 5 5E ~T 2R BR il P R
currency risk by minimising its net foreign currency position. S HY NS R B
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the REBZE2023F K2024F12 A31HILFE -
Group purchased certain financial products (structured products AEEBAEMSRBERITNETEE
linked to exchange rates, in particular) issued by other financial ER(CERHAEXRHAMNEEEER)
institutions with the aim of hedging against potential depreciation NEHRETHARBNEERE -
of US$ against RMB.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of THREANRSMENR  IEEMESR
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in foreign BAg XEEBAMNBRANEBRES
currency exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, INEERSIBAI R F BRI GURE ©
of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s equity.
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in rate of in profit (decrease)
foreign currency before tax in equity*
HEEE B A0 7 IR
LH/(FH#) #m/ (D) ®gm/ (Hd)*
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AREFR ARETFR
Year ended 31 December 2024 BZ2024512831ALEE
If the RMB weakens against the US$ WARBRZETREA 5 24,766 5,482
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ WARBERETLHEA (5) (24,766) (5,482)
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ WARBEBTRE 5 498 457
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ WARELETHA (5) (498) (457)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BZ2023F12A31HILEE
If the RMB weakens against the US$ WARERETRA 5 35,223 5,312
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ MARBERETARE (5) (35,223) (5,312)
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ WARERBTRE 5 333 306
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ fWARERBTIE (5) (333) (306)
* Excluding retained profits * BIERE T HE
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Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all
traders who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

As at 31 December 2024

36.
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TR RRERE R ERIE (8)

FERR

AEBEERERUARGEERINE=T71
FEERRS AKBRRREMERIZE
ERRINRSGBARIERRIREF -
o AEE e EERRRFIES S A
AEENERRARETERX -

REBRBRRFEER
TRERENFAEEEERENEELR
kEREERR (Z2RBHEHNSEL
BIEEMASEREFNTHBERALE
) ARB12AEMFERBDHE -

M eRReMEENKREAE -
72024512831 H

Lifetime ECLs
ERFENRNEEER

Simplified

Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£ZRA £ZRA it h % -
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT N KRBT KRBT

- - 275,750 275,750

- - - 97,750

- - - 1,126,512
= - - 50,832

12-month ECLs
1288
RORERR
Stage 1
%-KR
RMB’000
ARET T
Trade receivables® BARNEE -
Financial assets included in prepayments, STARFUE kR
other receivables and other assets REMEENSRHEE
- Normal** ~-EE" 97,750
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEEEN
- Not yet past due ~HABH 1,126,512
Time deposits TR 50,832
Totd 3t 1,275,094

- - 275,750 1,550,844
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

TR EREREREREE (&)

FERERR (&)

REBMBRFEER (&)

#H2023F12A31H

12-month ECLs
12f8A Lifetime ECLs
BHEEER BAFEERBEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B8 SRR K8 Blent @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT
Trade receivables® BARNEE - - - 29,614 229,614
Financial assets included in prepayments, AR AEYE
other receivables and other assets REBEENSHEAE
- Normal** -EB" 3721 - - - 3721
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBELZEN
- Not yet past due -HABH 2,676,588 - - = 2,676,588
Tota 3t 2680315 - - 29614 2.909.929

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 17 to the
financial statements

- The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to

credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 17
to the financial statements.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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36.

Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the Group
to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations

in cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

36.
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TR RRERE R ERIE (8)

TE M E R

AEBERREFREERRESZEYRAE
SEEEERERRZKT  UREER
HEGRBLIBRERENSDZE -

AEESBRABNBSHRREORER
MREINOZHBERDLT

31 December 2024

2024128318
Less than 3t012 1105
On demand 3 months months years Total
REX SRR 3%12f3A 125§ st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT R ARBT R
Trade payables EULLEY 5,608 35,534 - - 41,142
Lease liabilties HERR - 1,880 1,402 250 3,532
Financial liabilities included in SARMERTERERERN
other payables and accruals cHAE 97,377 - - - 97,317
Total @ 102,985 37,414 1,402 250 142,051
31 December 2023
20235124314
Less than 31012 1106
On demand 3 months months years Total
BEX SRS A 321208 A 1855 @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARBTT
Trade payables BHRTHE 7,016 27,130 = = 34,146
Lease liablties HERR - 4,987 5,412 4510 51,909
Financial liabilities included in SARMERFERERERN
other payables and accruals SRAR 35,467 = = = 35,467
Total @it 42,483 32,117 5,412 41,610 121,522
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure, which includes equity
attributable to owners of the parent, and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt
divided by total assets. Debt includes trade payables, other
payables and accruals and lease liabilities. The gearing ratios as
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

36.

TR EREREREREE (&)

ExEH

AEBEAEENTIEZEARRREAEE
MBSEEZR N RESRRENERL X
AR E E I BORBE&R A

AEERBEERRELCREAEEENR
SRBREERABREAEE (BETQ
RIEA ANERHER) - BREBHNARER
RE AEESAEABRBRENRE
MRREEEARBETHR - AEEER
BRETAINP M ERER - H F2024
F12A31H &2023F12A31H It F & -
ERAEEMBZ BRI RELIELS -

AEEEREARBLE (AERAEE
RE ERET AGEEEESZENFAE -
Hte IR RAREBAREEAS -
RBERRNERGBLRMNAT :

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

n20245 220234

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Trade payables B S IEMNRIEA 41,142 34,146
Other payables and accruals H i fE S I R TEIRIBH 150,320 82,084
Lease liabilities HEaE 3,515 43,990
Debt B 194,977 160,220
Total assets EEMBE 2,918,290 4,263,818
Gearing ratio BEARGELX 6.7% 3.8%
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. ERAT BRI EK
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RABRREBRRNF BRI RERDAT
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBDEE
Investments in subsidiaries RERKBRA 7,889,709
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 7,889,709
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Due from subsidiaries FE W BT /B8 A R FIE 383,027
Financial assets at fair value through profit or M AR BETE B EE8 A =
loss EHBEENEREE
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 1,614,324
Total current assets RBEEBE 1,997,351
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEBEE
Due to a subsidiary e — A B A R RIE 1,136
Other payables and accruals HAtb T B R TEIZIE B =
Total current liabilities mEN B BETE 1,136
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEEEE 1,996,215
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEABER TS AR 9,885,924
Net assets BEFE 9,885,924
EQUITY Eam
Share capital f& A 86
Reserves (note) i (Bt =) 9,885,838
Total equity W EEE 9,885,924
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

37. ALXBHBMRE (K)

GEX

KAREEMEZLT

Share option
and award
reserves
BRER
%BRE EZRBGEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve

Retained
profits Total

Treasury Share
shares premium

RtaE
RMB’000
ARBTR

Capital
reserves

BRfiR
RMB’000
N R

RENE At
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR ARETR

EERS
RMB’000
N

At 1 January 2023

Profit for the year

QOther comprehensive income
for the year:

Exchange differences

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Shares repurchased

Shares cancelled

Dividend declared

Transfer of share option reserve upon
the forfeiture of share options

Share-based payments

At 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2024

Profit for the year

Qther comprehensive income
for the year:

Exchange differences

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Shares repurchased

Shares cancelled

Dividend declared

Exercise of share awards

Share-based payments

At 31 December 2024

R2023F1A1A
EmiE
FhERZENG

EXER
EREEUELE

EEORG
BEERN
EERRE
RERERENE
ERERERE
WAt AR A3

R2023512431R

202451 B1R
ERFE
FREMRENS

EXZR
FRRENEEE
k)
EEHRA
BEEERE
e

R BRRH I

120244128318

38. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2025.
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“AGM”
(RRBFEARE]

“Audit Committee”
[BEZREESE

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[E5g]

“CG Code”
[{EERFAD]

“China”, “PRC”, “mainland China”

(B E A

“Company”

[ARAF ]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[4% AR A 3R

“Director(s)”

[E=]

“ESG”
[ESG]

“ESOP BVI”
[ESOP BVI|

“Global Offering”
[2IREE |

“Group”

[

Definition

B

the annual general meeting of the Company

ARARRRBERE

the audit committee of the Board
EFEREREES

the board of directors of the Company

ARAEEE

Corporate Governance Code applicable during the Reporting Period
HEPHRNERN(REERTAD

People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report
and for geographical reference only and except where the context requires
otherwise, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

REARANE  BRXBESEMEN BEAFRRERMEL2ERS - T8
EEE RPIRAH

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited (& B B £ % B R A 7)), a company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on
February 12, 2020, and, except where the context otherwise requires, all of
its subsidiaries

REEFTERBR AT - R2020F2 128 RIEFEH S EEFMK LA
RARE R(BRXESBREN E2HBHELRF

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to Mr. Zhong, Ms. Shentu, Fortune Spring ZM B
Limited and Fortune Spring YG B Limited

AB(ETRADE FZANEE  ERXESEEPIN - EELE BHE
#Z & + Fortune Spring ZM B Limited & Fortune Spring YG B Limited

the directors of the Company, including all executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors

ARAREE BEMEATES FRTEZRBIYFNTES

environmental, social and governance
RIE -HEgREAR

Fortune Spring KangdJi 1 Limited
Fortune Spring KangdJi 1 Limited

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Company

ARBBEBLAHAEEREREE

the Company and all of its subsidiaries or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before the Company became the holding company
of its present subsidiaries, the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or
their predecessors (as the case may be)

ARABIREFMEMBAGR WX EME RARGAKAEREHRE QA
WIER AR Z AR AR - BISEZEWEB AR A A & 28 (RIERME) &L
) TS
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Definition

B

“Hangzhou Kangji”

[ R &
“HKD” or “HK$”

[Tl i
“HKFRS”

[(EBMBHREERD] &
“Hong Kong”

[&#] i
“IPO”

[BEXAFAEE] |

“Kangji Hong Kong”

[FEEE] i
“Listing”

[ £ b
“Listing Date”

[ETHEE] i<
“Listing Rules”

KEMmHAD] i
“Main Board”

[ER] i<
“MISIA”

[MISIA ] i
“Model Code”

[T ) it

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

Hangzhou Kangji Medical Instrument Ltd. (fi M EEE R ERM AR 2 7)), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on August 24, 2004
MMNEEBERMAER AT —RMN2004F8A24BEPBK LK BRE T
NG|

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BREEEERET

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(BB B IREER)

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B F B RTTH R

initial public offering
BRAMEE

Kangji Medical (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company established under the laws of Hong Kong

FEBR(BEB)ERAR  REFBERKL  BRARANEZENEBAR

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on June
29, 2020
A& 7220205F6 H29 H Bk AX AT E 1R 77

June 29, 2020, being the date on which dealings in Shares first commenced
on the Main Board
202067290 - BMRMHBERNERMABEEZHE B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

(BEBARIMERIARES EWARDE TR ERT L)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Main Board excludes the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange

HERXMEENZES RGN (TREPETS) - BN XGEM © I A
HWATEE - REERRM  FRTEEH R IGEM

minimally invasive surgical instruments and accessories

R A SNEE 3 fiy 28 4 K IS 1

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(ETARRDHIERCIFME LM BT AZERHTES X HMIZESFR



“OBGYN”
[ 4@ E R

“ODM”
[ODM]

“Option(s)”
[ AR

“Pre-IPO Share Option Plan”

=P AUNGE: SR IF 3¢ 3l

“Prospectus”
[HBRER]

“R&D”
[ #7f 3 |

“Reporting Period”
[ & H )

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
AR

“RSU(s)”
[ 5% FR il A £ B84z |

“RSU Plan”
[ 5208 il B £ B fr &t 8

“SFO”
[FEZ KRB %)

“Share(s)”
A&7 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]

“Stock Exchange™
[ Bk 22 Ff7 |

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[FE2KRR]

Definition

B

obstetrics and gynecology

ER RS

original design manufacture
Rt piE

the option(s) to purchase Shares under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
BB E IR AR 3% E AT B AR ST 8188 B IR 10 BB AR

the employees’ share incentive plan of the Company as adopted on May 6,
2020
$2020%F5 A6 B :RA B A R RIE 8 IR ) B 5+ 8l

the Company’s prospectus dated June 16, 2020
ARRAFAHA20206F6 H16AMBRERZ

research and development
o N B

the year from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024
B2024F1 A1 B E2024F12A318 L FE

the lawful currency of the PRC

FEEEEE®

restricted share units
BRIl A% 1 B AL

the restricted share unit plan of the Company as adopted on May 6, 2020
N A B 720204F5 A6 B 2R A #) IR i A% 1 B Az 5t &

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEREPIESTIECE F RBEGRD) - BTBER] - MRSAEM T BN

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company of US$0.00001 each
AR FRAH F AR EE0.000013E 7T &) E i ik

holder(s) of the Share(s)

L SUESE= PN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited

ERBMERIMBRAE REBRXZRGEEMARARNEZENE LA

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BERCETRRDE T 5% 68 E

BEESERAERAT 2024FERE
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Definition

B

“U.S.” or “United States”

[ZEE &
“USD” or “US$”

E¥ i
“VBP(s)”

[&E#] it

“Weijing Medical”

[ e A5 B8 75 i

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction
ENREZE - HE+  BHRIHAEZEENMEHRE

US dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.

XBEVEEE®BET

volume-based procurement
SREERE

Hangzhou Weijing Medical Robot Co., Ltd. (/1 M 45 & 23 A B R A7),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on December 28, 2021
MMNEREEFERBAETRAT - —HKR2021F12A28AEHFBERTHER
BEERATA



IKANGJIIRE

BEETERERA A
Kangji Medical Holdings Limited
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